
 

1001 East Ninth Street, Building B, Reno, NV  89512 
Telephone:  775.328.2416 – Fax:  775.328.3752 

www.washoecounty.us/health/ 

Members Thursday, November 18, 2021 
Oscar Delgado, Chair  1:00 p.m. 
Robert Lucey, Vice Chair  
Michael D. Brown  Washoe County Commission Chambers, Building A 
Kristopher Dahir 1001 East Ninth Street 
Dr. Reka Danko Reno, NV 
Dr. John Novak  or via zoom at https://zoom.us/j/97650445987 
Dr. John Klacking Phone: 1-669-900-6833 - Meeting ID:  976 5044 5987 
 (please be sure to keep your devices on mute and do not place the meeting on hold) 

**Per AB 253 [NRS 241.020] any public wishing to attend and  
participate at a physical location may do so at the  

Washoe County Commission Chambers 1001 E. 9th Street, Reno Nevada 89512** 
1:00 p.m. 
1. Roll Call and Determination of Quorum. 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
3. Introductions, Meeting Outcomes, Discussion Flow, Ground Rules, History of Strategic 

Plan Development, and Recap Core Purpose and Strategic Direction.  
Presented by: Chair Delgado and Kevin Dick and facilitated by Erica Olsen with OnStrategy 

4. Strategic Planning Priorities and Goals Presentation and Discussion: Topics presented 
under this agenda item will include: 

• The Health District Mission Statement, Values Statement and Vision  
Presented by: Erica Olsen with OnStrategy 

• Community Health Trends   
Presented by: Heather Kerwin 

• Public Health Trends 
Presented by: Kevin Dick 

• The Health District Strategic Priorities and Goals for the next 18 months including: 
o  Priority #1 Healthy Lives  

Presented by: Lisa Lottritz and Kevin Dick 
o  Priority #2 Healthy Environment   

Presented by: Francisco Vega and Erin Dixon 
o  Priority #3 Local Culture of Health  

Presented by: Scott Oxarart, Nancy Diao and Joelle Gutman Dodson 

 
 

 
Washoe County District Board of Health Meeting  

Notice and Agenda 
FY22-24 STRATEGIC PLANNING MEETING 

**This meeting will  be streamed live in Commission Chambers**  

https://zoom.us/j/97650445987


November 18, 2021 Washoe County District Board of Health – Strategic Planning Meeting Agenda   Page 2 of 3 

o Priority #4 Impactful Partnerships
Presented by: Francisco Vega, Lisa Lottritz, Nancy Diao, Kevin Dick

o Priority #5 Organizational Capacity
Presented by: Kevin Dick

o Priority #6 Financial Stability
Presented by: Kevin Dick

5. Strategic Planning Financial Presentation and Discussion: The purpose of the Strategic
Planning Retreat is to discuss the strategic priorities and goals of the Washoe County
Health District. The Strategic Plan will influence the finances of the Health District.
Topics presented under this agenda item will include:

• The Health District Current Financial Position and Trends
Presented by:  Anna Heenan

• Strategic Plan Budget Implications
Presented by:  Anna Heenan and Joelle Gutman-Dodson

6. Board discussion and possible direction regarding Strategic Priorities, and Goals and
FY23 Budget: The board will discuss and possibly provide direction to staff regarding
development of final drafts of the Strategic Plan and/or Budget for approval at a future
meeting of the Board. (FOR POSSIBLE ACTION)
Topics of discussion under this agenda item will include:
Staff Representative: Kevin Dick and facilitated by Erica Olsen with OnStrategy

• Are priorities and goals as presented in items 4 and 5 above appropriate or is there
Board direction for adjustments

• Identify areas most critical for investment by the Health District
7. Board Comment.

District Board of Health Member’s announcements, reports and updates, request for
information or topics for future agendas.  (No discussion among Board Members will take
place on the item)

8. Public Comment.
Action may not be taken on any matter raised during this public comment period until the matter
is specifically listed on an agenda as an action item.
Members of the public wishing to attend via zoom can provide public comment by logging into
the ZOOM meeting via link above. All public comment is limited to three minutes per person.
NOTE: The zoom option will require a computer with audio and video capabilities.

ADJOURNMENT.  (FOR POSSIBLE ACTION) 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Possible Changes to Agenda Order and Timing:  Items on the agenda may be taken out of order, combined with other items, 
withdrawn from the agenda, moved to the agenda of another later meeting; moved to or from the Consent section, or they may be 
voted on in a block.  Items with a specific time designation will not be heard prior to the stated time, but may be heard later.  Items 
listed in the Consent section of the agenda are voted on as a block and will not be read or considered separately unless withdrawn 
from the Consent agenda. 

Special Accommodations: The District Board of Health Meetings are accessible to the disabled.  Disabled members of the public 
who require special accommodations or assistance at the meeting are requested to notify Administrative Health Services in writing at 
the Washoe County Health District, 1001 E. 9th Street, Building B, Reno, NV 89512, or by calling 775.328.2416, 24 hours prior to 
the meeting. 

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE 



 
November 18, 2021 Washoe County District Board of Health – Strategic Planning Meeting Agenda   Page 3 of 3 

 

Public Comment: During the “Public Comment” items, anyone may speak pertaining to any matter either on or off the agenda, to 
include items to be heard on consent, by filling out a “Request to Speak” form and/or submit comments for the record to the Recording 
Secretary.  For the remainder of the agenda, public comment will only be heard during items that are marked FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION. All public comment should be addressed to the Board of Health and not an individual member.  The Board asks that your 
comments are expressed in a courteous manner. Any public comment for hearing items will be heard before action is taken on the 
item and must be about the specific item being considered by the Board.  Public comment and presentations for individual agenda 
items are limited as follows: fifteen minutes each for staff and applicant presentations, five minutes for a speaker representing a group, 
and three minutes for individual speakers unless extended by questions from the Board or by action of the Chair. Reasonable efforts 
will be made to hear all public comment during the meeting.  

All public comment is limited to three minutes per person. Unused time may not be reserved by the speaker nor allocated to another 
speaker.  
Members of the public that wish to attend via zoom may make public comment by submitting an email comment to 
svaldespin@washoecounty.gov before the scheduled meeting, which includes the name of the commenter and the agenda item 
number for which the comment is submitted. 

Response to Public Comment: The Board of Health can deliberate or take action only if a matter has been listed on an agenda 
properly posted prior to the meeting.  During the public comment period, speakers may address matters listed or not listed on the 
published agenda.  The Open Meeting Law does not expressly prohibit responses to public comments by the Board of Health.  
However, responses from the Board members to unlisted public comment topics could become deliberation on a matter without 
notice to the public.  On the advice of legal counsel and to ensure the public has notice of all matters the Board of Health will 
consider, Board members may choose not to respond to public comments, except to correct factual inaccuracies, ask for Health 
District staff action or to ask that a matter be listed on a future agenda.  The Board of Health may do this either during the public 
comment item or during the following item: “Board Comments – District Board of Health Member’s announcements, reports and 
updates, request for information or topics for future agendas.  (No discussion among Board Members will take place on the item)”  

Posting of Agenda; Location of Website:  
Pursuant to NRS 241.020, Notice of this meeting was posted at the following locations: 
Washoe County Health District, 1001 E. 9th St., Reno, NV  
Reno City Hall, 1 E. 1st St., Reno, NV 
Sparks City Hall, 431 Prater Way, Sparks, NV 
Washoe County Administration Building, 1001 E. 9th St, Reno, NV 
Downtown Reno Library, 301 S. Center St., Reno, NV 
Washoe County Health District Website https://www.washoecounty.gov/health  
State of Nevada Website: https://notice.nv.gov 
How to Get Copies of Agenda and Support Materials: Supporting materials are available to the public at the Washoe County 
Health District located at 1001 E. 9th Street, in Reno, Nevada.  Ms. Susy Valdespin, Administrative Secretary to the District Board of 
Health is the person designated by the Washoe County District Board of Health to respond to requests for supporting materials.  Ms. 
Valdespin is located at the Washoe County Health District and may be reached by telephone at (775) 328-2415 or by email at 
svaldespin@washoecounty.gov.  Supporting materials are also available at the Washoe County Health District Website 
https://www.washoecounty.gov/health  pursuant to the requirements of NRS 241.020. 

mailto:svaldespin@washoecounty.gov
https://www.washoecounty.gov/health
https://notice.nv.gov/
mailto:svaldespin@washoecounty.gov
https://www.washoecounty.gov/health


FY22-24 Strategic Plan Refresh

November 18, 2021

Agenda Item 3

2

Opening Remarks

Councilman Oscar Delgado – District Board 
of Health Chair

Kevin Dick – District Health Officer

3

Retreat Outcomes

• Update on emerging issues & community trends

• Refresh the FY22-24 Strategic Plan based on community 
trends and emerging issues

• DBOH input on overall strategic direction and FY23 Budget 
Direction (including one-time projects and ongoing 
investments)

4

Discussion Flow
5 mins

Chair + DHO + Erica
Welcome & Setting the Stage

30 min

EPHP + DHO
Community Health Trends & Public Health Trends

90 mins

WCHD Leadership Team

Refresh the WCHD Strategic Priorities
• #1: Healthy Lives

• #2: Healthy Environment
• #3: Culture of Health

• #4: Impactful Partnerships
• #5: Organizational Capacity

• #6: Financial Stability

20 mins

Group Discussion

FY23 Budget
• #6: Financial Position, Trends and Budget Implications

20 mins

Group Discussion

Strategic Direction
• Input from DBOH on contents of Strategic Plan and 

budget development

5

How We Planned This Cycle

1. Refresh, not an overhaul.

2. Built from the "middle" out.

3. Gathered Board direction as critical inputs.

4. Integrated strategic plan, Division work plans 
and workforce development plan.

5. Setup for periodic scorecard reporting as part 
of performance management system.

6

1 2

3 4

5 6



Ground Rules

• Refining not creating

• Contributions from all are encouraged, while listening for 
Board direction is paramount

• Share the mic

• Stick with the topic

• Focus on the critical few

7

Agenda Item 4

8

Community Health Trends

Community Health Trends
• Needs identified in prior community health assessments 

have not shifted in the post-pandemic landscape

• Global pandemic has 
magnified systemic issues which already existed

• In the U.S., the pandemic proved the nation's inability to 
prevent detrimental health outcomes among the most 
marginalized populations

10

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

11

2018-2020 Community Health Improvement Plan &
2019 Nevada Department of Public and Behavioral Health 

Needs Assessment

12

1. Housing

2. Behavioral health

3. Nutrition/physical activity

1. Behavioral health

2. Housing/poverty

3. Access to healthcare

4. Preventive behaviors

(nutrition/physical activity)

5. Education

7 8

9 10

11 12



13

Primary Prevention is Key
Improve Physical Activity, Nutrition, Reduce Tobacco and Alcohol Use

14

Vaccination as means to prevent infectious diseases, is BEST. 
Easier to promote vaccine and provide for free than it is to 

change health outcomes linked to poor nutrition, lack of physical 
activity, tobacco, and alcohol consumption.

Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic
• Nearly all systems, organizations, or global entities impacted or disrupted by the 

pandemic
• Financial impacts in the United States

– Prior to the pandemic, >50% of personal bankruptcy due to medical costs
– Medical costs due to long-COVID or hospitalization

• Health systems and staff are disproportionately impacted
– Prior to the pandemic, burnout was occurring at alarming rates of 35%–

54% among nurses and physicians1

– April 2021 - survey >25,000 public health professionals 53% reported at least 
one mental health condition past two weeks, PTSD (36.8%), depression 
(32%), anxiety (30%), or suicidal ideation (8.4%)2

• Data impacted across most health conditions, because the staff who measure 
data in public health are statisticians and epidemiologists – redirected towards 
the COVID-19 efforts nationwide and locally

1 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). Taking action against clinician burnout: A systems approach to professional well-being. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25521
2 Bryant-Genevier J, Rao CY, Lopes-Cardozo B, et al. Symptoms of Depression, Anxiety, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, and Suicidal Ideation Among State, Tribal, Local, and Territorial Public Health Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic —
United States, March–April 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70:947–952. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7026e1

15

How to Rebuild Public Health Systems

• Constant improvement to increase proportion of 
the population with basic needs being met

• Rebuild infrastructure and systems by incorporating 
"Health in all Policies"

• Evaluate systems and address gaps in a manner that 
promotes health equity

16

Health Equity

The focus of health equity is to reduce or remove barriers to access 
the foundational elements necessary for achieving the highest 
possible health outcomes including affordable housing, healthy food, 
quality education, and a safe, healthy environment.1,2,3

1 The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Health Equity. Accessed August 2021 https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/healthequity/index.htm
2 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Achieving Health Equity. Accessed August 2021 https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/features/achieving-health-equity.html
3 American Public Health Association. Health Equity. Accessed August 2021 https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/health-equity

17

Public Health Trends

13 14

15 16

17 18

https://doi.org/10.17226/25521
http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7026e1
https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/healthequity/index.htm
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/features/achieving-health-equity.html
https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/health-equity


Public Health Trends

1. Increased public health challenges include climate change 
disasters, pandemics and increasing population health 
challenges.

19

“The nation remains vulnerable to myriad threats, including from 
another dangerous infectious disease, a widespread natural 
disaster, or a potential bioterrorist attack, each of which could 
impact almost every sector of the economy, disrupt social 
connections, and have significant long-lasting health impacts.”
Bipartisan Policy Center - Positioning America’s Public Health 
System for the Next Pandemic, June 2021

Public Health Trends

2. Increasing demands for data requested by policymakers and 
the public

20

“These data integrity challenges affected the ability of local 
officials to make decisions about re-openings, demonstrating the 
need for interoperable platforms for public health and reaffirming 
the urgency of ongoing collaborations to create a “data 
superhighway” for public health. Importantly, these deficiencies 
are not due to a lack of will among local and state health 
departments, but to a dearth of resources to support building 
such systems.” National Academy of Medicine – COVID-19 Impact 
Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs, April 7, 
2021

Public Health Trends

3. Disparate health outcomes resulting from income levels, 
education status and neighborhood

21

“COVID-19 magnified America’s underlying racial and 
socioeconomic inequities in population health. The disparities are 
especially stark for Blacks, Latinx, American Indian/Alaska Natives, 
and Native Hawaiians and Pacific Islanders who have experienced 
substantially higher rates of COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, 
and mortality compared to white Americans.” National Academy 
of Medicine – COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned 
and Compelling Needs, April 7, 2021

Public Health Trends

4. Needed transformation in public health funding

22

“First, funding levels have historically been inadequate to support 
the delivery of the Essential public health services, let alone 
prepare for emergency situations. Second, many funding streams 
for public health are “categorical”, or restricted to specific priority 
areas (e.g., HIV, tobacco control), which leaves little flexibility for 
spending to support core foundational capabilities or to support 
surge needs in times of crisis.” National Academy of Medicine –
COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling 
Needs, April 7, 2021

Public Health Trends

5. Insufficient workforce to meet basic public health needs.

23

“State and local governmental public health departments need an 
80% increase in their workforce to provide a minimum set of 
public health services to the nation.”
de Beaumont Foundation and Public Health National Center for 
Innovation – Staffing Up, Workforce Levels Needed to Provide 
Basic Public Health Services for All Americans, October 2021

Strategic Themes

Organizational & Workforce Capacity

*

Communications

*

Technology

*

Health Equity

24

19 20

21 22

23 24



Refresh the WCHD 
Strategic Priorities

Strategic Priorities
1. Healthy Lives: Improve the health of our community by empowering individuals 

to live healthier lives.

2. Healthy Environment: Create a healthier environment that allows people to 
safely enjoy everything Washoe County has to offer.

3. Local Culture of Health: Lead a transformation in our community’s awareness, 
understanding, and appreciation of health resulting in direct action.

4. Impactful Partnerships: Extend our impact by leveraging partnerships to make 
meaningful progress on health issues.

5. Organizational Capacity: Strengthen our workforce and increase operational 
capacity to support a growing population.

6. Financial Stability: Enable the Health District to make long-term commitments in 
areas that will positively impact the community’s health by growing reliable 
sources of income.

26

Priority Flow

• Strategic Priority – Areas of strategic focus across the 
District.

• Community Indicators – Show our current status as 
a community on key health indicators. WCHD 
can influence but not fully control.

• Goals – What we want to accomplish.

• Initiatives – How we will do it. Examples of the work.

• Performance Outcomes – Examples of outcomes WCHD 
has ability to move. Become part of a scorecard.

27

Priority One

Healthy Lives 

Improve the health of our community by 
empowering individuals to live healthier 

lives.

28

Community Indicators

29

Community Indicators Result Current

% of overweight adolescents 13.70% 2019

% of obese adolescents 11.90% 2019

% of overweight adults 35.40% 2020

% of obese adults 29.30% 2020

% of adults who are current smokers 15.93% 2020

% of youth who currently smoke cigarettes 4.50% 2019

Teen ages 15-19 years old birth rates per 100,000 15.4 2020

% of newly reported hepatitis C cases with confirmatory test results 82% 2020

Child immunization rates (children 19-35 months receiving childhood vaccination 
series)

67.9% 2020

% of adults ages 18-64 with health insurance 82.70% 2020

% of Washoe County residents with a usual primary care provider 71.19% 2020

% of e-cigarette use among youth 28.30% 2019

Percentage of population defined as food insecure 11.00% 2019

COVID cases per 100,000 225.9 10/7/21

% of population ages 12 and over fully vaccinated for COVID 63.82% 10/7/21

Healthy Lives

District Goal 1.1: Promote healthy behaviors to reduce chronic disease.

• Proactively prevent disease utilizing effective health education strategies.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continued state funding to focus on vaping prevention

• Providing breastfeeding support to WIC clients

30

25 26

27 28

29 30



Healthy Lives
District Goal 1.2: Promote preventive health services that are proven to 
improve health outcomes in the community.

• Act as a safety net by providing accessible health services when/where community 
members otherwise may not have access.

• Reduce the spread of disease through proactive surveillance, monitoring and 
intervention.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Increased outreach to provide (non-COVID) immunizations in the community

• Re-engaging with community partners to provide off-site sexual health testing

• Flexible clinic access through same day and walk-in appointments

• Monitoring and investigation of 70+ communicable diseases

31

Healthy Lives

District Goal 1.3: Improve access to health care so people of all means 
receive the health care services they need.

• Assist clients with access to health insurance.

• Build a bridge between communities, clients and services with community health 
workers.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Regularly scheduled health insurance navigation assistance

• Three new Community Health Workers to build bridges between CCHS services 
and underserviced communities and neighborhoods (CDC Health Disparity grant)

32

Healthy Lives
District Goal 1.4: Prevent and reduce the spread of COVID-19 in Washoe 
County.

• Reduce the spread of COVID-19 through proactive surveillance, monitoring and 
intervention.

• Increase COVID-19 vaccination capacity across Washoe County including among high 
risk and underserved populations.

• Increase confidence in vaccines among targeted racial and ethnic groups and individuals 
with disabilities through outreach and access to accurate information.

• Provide the public with accurate, actionable and timely information about COVID-19.

• Maintain infrastructure and organizational capacity necessary to respond to the COVID 
pandemic.

• Maintain a consistent level of customer service to the community.

33

Healthy Lives
District Goal 1.4: Prevent and reduce the spread of COVID-19 in Washoe 
County.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue COVID disease investigation

• Support community vaccine providers

• Increase outreach and advertising to Hispanic community

• Continue dashboards, media briefings and social media strategies

• Maintain a core team to manage response as long as is needed

• Focus on a timely response to community members to book appointments, receive 
results, get access to information, obtain immunization records

34

Healthy Lives Performance Outcomes
Examples for scorecard...

% of population reached with vaping prevention messages

% rate of breastfeeding among WIC clients

# of immunizations delivered

# of sexual health education/outreach activities

% increase in access to sexual health services

% of communicable disease cases investigated on time by disease

% of clients completing TB treatment

Regular updates of COVID dashboard

# of COVID outreach events/activities to underserved communities

# of COVID media stories

35

Priority One

Healthy Lives

Questions or comments on this priority?

36

31 32

33 34

35 36



Priority Two

Healthy Environments 

Create a healthier environment that allows 
people to safely enjoy everything Washoe 

County has to offer.

37

Community Indicators

38

Community Indicators Result Current

NAAQS for Ozone 0.072 ppm 2020

NAAQS for PM2.5 39 ug/m3 2020

Washoe County total municipal solid waste 247,453 2019

Washoe County recycling rates 33% 2019

Reduce the duration of GI outbreaks in schools. 17 days 2020

Healthy Environments
District Goal 2.1: Protect people from negative environmental impacts.

• Monitor ambient air to assess attainment status of the ozone and PM2.5 NAAQS. 
(Monitoring)

• Evaluate effectiveness of regulations and programs governing ozone precursor and PM2.5 
emissions. (Planning)

• Reduce Ozone Precursor Emissions from the Transportation Sector. (Planning)

• Evaluate Permitting of Ozone and PM2.5 Stationary Sources. (Permitting)

• Inspect sources of ozone and PM2.5 emissions to determine compliance with state, county 
and federal regulations. (Compliance)

39

Healthy Environments
District Goal 2.1: Protect people from negative environmental impacts.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Capture and report accurate air quality data

• Increase outreach to stakeholders/more community meetings

• Review existing regulations for effectiveness

• Pilot a repair and replace program for older vehicles

• Complete an emissions inventory of stationary sources

40

Healthy Environments
District Goal 2.1: Protect people from negative environmental impacts.

• Assure waste is disposed of properly.

• Reduce negative environmental health impacts associated with land development.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue collaboration with KTMB

• Improve technology and processes for handling waste complaints

• Improve technology and processes for development reviews

• Update SOPs and create minimum training standards for inspectors

41

Healthy Environments
District Goal 2.2: Keep people safe where they live, work and play.

• Improve safety of residents through education, inspections and enforcement.

• Reduce the spread of vector-borne disease.

• Review building plans in advance to assure new facilities meet health standards.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue successful risk-based food inspection program 

– Risk-based inspection schedules

– Outreach and education

– Staff training and evaluation

• Provide arial mosquito (larvicide) treatments

• Adapt institution inspections to incorporate more risk-based features 

• Implement a new injury prevention health education program

• Increase plan review efficiencies to ensure 95% of plans meet jurisdictional deadlines

– Technology

42

37 38

39 40

41 42



Healthy Environments Performance 
Outcomes

Examples for scorecard...

Air quality data capture rate

# of stakeholder outreach activities

# of regulations assessed and improved

% of plan reviews that meet jurisdiction timeframes

% and total number of various inspections completed

# of arial mosquito treatments

% of residents reached with mosquito treatment communication

% of animal bites promptly investigated

43

Priority Two

Healthy Environment

Questions or comments on this priority?

44

Priority Three

Local Culture of Health

Lead a transformation in our community's 
awareness, understanding and appreciation 

of health resulting in direct action.

45

Local Culture of Health
District Goal 3.1: Ensure community access to actionable public health 
information via website, media and social media.

• Update public-facing digital presence on website and social media.

• Position the Health District to be the trusted, reputable source of public health 
information for our community.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Increased social media presence – new staff member and social media contractor 
(CDC Health Disparity grant)

• Continued progress on website refresh

• Branding project to position WCHD and distinct from WC

• Increased Hispanic outreach events and communications (CDC grant)

46

Local Culture of Health
District Goal 3.2: Inform the community of important community health trends by capturing 
and communicating health data.

• Increase data integrity and data standardization.

• Consistently share timely public health data and trends with the community.

• Produce original public health research that advances public health knowledge.

• Build the capacity of the health district to process data.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Create and improve standardized platforms to capture disease spread

• Produce timely reports of disease trends to be made available to the public

• Conduct original research and expand research datasets

• Share accessible public health data 

• Create and strengthen a statistics unit

47

Local Culture of Health

District Goal 3.3: Drive better health outcomes in Washoe County through 
improved public health systems and policies.

• Advocate for state and local policies that positively impact public health.

• Build, support and participate in coalitions to advance improved public health 
policies.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Identify priorities and share with DBOH

• Participate in public health coalitions working toward improved systems and 
policies.

• Continue focus on smoke-free policies

48

43 44

45 46

47 48



Local Culture of Health 
Performance Outcomes

Examples for scorecard...

# of likes and follows on social media

# of visits to targeted web pages

# of outreach events/activities targeted at Hispanic community

% of birth and death certificates turned around within 96 hours

# of peer-reviewed articles published

# of accessible public health data reports released

# of legislative successes where WCHD actively participated

# of new smoke free policies

49

Priority Three

Local Culture of Health

Questions or comments on this priority?

50

Priority Four

Impactful Partnerships

Extend our impact by leveraging partnerships to 
make meaningful progress on health issues

51

Community Indicators

52

Community Indicators Result Current

% of high school students who attempt suicide 9.90% 2019

% of high school students who ever took a prescription pain medicine without a 
doctor's prescription or differently than prescribed

17.60% 2019

% of high school students who currently drink alcohol (past 30 days) 26.70% 2019

Prevalence of diabetes 6.70% 2020

Coronary heart disease mortality rate (per 100,000)
awaiting latest 

data

Cancer mortality rate
awaiting latest 

data

Medical emergency 911 calls received per 100,000 population 14,352 2020

Opioid-related deaths in Washoe County per 100,000 population
awaiting latest 

data

Rate of death due to suicide among persons aged 65 years and older per 100,000
awaiting latest 

data

Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.1: Reduce risk and improve health outcomes for children in 
Washoe County.

• Lend support in childcare and educational settings to reduce outbreaks.

• Provide quality and timely air quality data for students and WCSD staff.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Provide GI outbreak prevention, tools, data, and support to schools and day cares.

• Install air quality sensors in schools in historically underserved neighborhoods

53

Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.2: Support and promote behavioral health.

• Improve outcomes for residents who are experiencing a behavioral health crisis.

• Reduce isolation for seniors who are experiencing loneliness.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Facilitate a community-wide behavioral health crisis response system 
improvement planning process.

• Continue to work with community partners to implement the Robert Wood 
Johnson BUILD grant targeting isolated seniors.

54

49 50

51 52

53 54



Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.3: Empower families and organizations to improve physical 
activity and nutrition.

• Increase community participation in physical activity and nutrition programs.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Increase the number of 5210 Washoe sites

• Work with corner stores to offer more nutritious food.

• Partner with UNR to continue the Wolf Pack Coaches Challenge in 40 school 
classrooms.

55

Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.4: Enhance the regional emergency medical services system.

• Provide EMS oversight to enhance system performance.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue partnership with EMS providers to improve EMS response through the 
EMS Joint Advisory Committee with regular reporting to the Emergency Medical 
Services Advisory Board

• Continue to provide oversight of the REMSA franchise agreement

56

Impactful Partnerships
District Goal 4.5: Engage the community in public health improvement.

• Engage the community in assessing community health needs.

• Engage the community in planning for community health improvement with a 
focus on disparate health outcomes.

• Facilitate community engagement in public health improvement initiatives 
designed to improve health outcomes and/or reduce health disparities.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Produce the next Community Health Needs Assessment Process by Spring 2022

• Produce the next Community Health Improvement Plan by Summer 2022

• Build a community organizing program including a Community Advisory Board and 
neighborhood-based initiatives (CDC Health Disparities grant)

57

Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.6: Improve the ability of the community to respond to health 
emergencies.

• Improve public health emergency preparedness.

• Improve hospital emergency preparedness.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue to maintain and update emergency response plans, and facilitate 
exercises

• Train IHCC members on the use of WebEOC

58

Impactful Partnerships

District Goal 4.7: Partner with academia to advance public health goals.

• Maintain Academic Health Department with the University of Nevada, Reno.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Maintain AHD Joint Advisory Committee with UNR

• Participate in UNR graduate advisory committees

• Increase research capabilities through shared resources

• Increase internship opportunities for students in all public health disciplines

• Increase collaboration on publication opportunities

• Initiate a joint course on real-world public health applications

59

Impactful Partnerships 
Performance Outcomes

Examples for scorecard...

Duration of GI outbreaks in educational settings

# of air quality sensors placed in schools

# of participants in food and nutrition initiatives

# of partners participating in the CHNA and CHIP

# of individuals who provide input to the CHNA and CHIP

% increase in participation in emergency preparedness activities

# of academic-public health collaborations with UNR

60

55 56

57 58

59 60



Priority Four

Impactful Partnerships

Questions, comments on this priority?

61

Priority Five

Organizational Capacity

Strengthen our workforce and increase 
operational capacity to support a growing 

population.

62

Community Indicators

63

Community Indicators Result Current

Washoe County population 480,965 2021

Washoe County annual % population growth 1.13% 2020 to 2021

Staff per 100,000 population 36.54 FY2022

Organizational Capacity
District Goal 5.1: Attract and retain a talented public health workforce to meet 
the needs of Washoe County.

• Create a positive and productive work environment.

• Focus on building staff expertise.

• Maintain and build staff resiliency.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Implement consistent flex, hybrid and remote work policies

• Increase opportunities for training, professional development, mentoring and coaching

• Improve internal communications

• Provide opportunities to work across Divisions

• Provide access to wellness and mental health resources

64

Organizational Capacity

District Goal 5.2: Meet and exceed national public health best practice 
standards.

• Maintain National Public Health Accreditation.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Complete, update or maintain PHAB requirements including Strategic Plan, 
Workforce Development, Performance Management System, CHNA, CHIP, Quality 
Improvement Projects, Branding Strategy and Emergency Operations Plan

65

Organizational Capacity
District Goal 5.3: Invest in expanded Health District capacity and targeted services to meet 
the needs of a growing and diverse community.

• Increase workforce capacity.

• Increase organizational capacity to address health equity and reduce disparate health outcomes.

• Recruit, retain and train a workforce that meets the diverse needs of our community.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Assess employee workload and identify needed investments to maintain/increase capacity

• Review span of control and make space for professional development, project management and 
cross divisional work

• Complete a health equity-based organizational assessment and identify targeted strategies to 
reduce health disparities. (CDC Health Disparity grant)

• Solve for facility capacity issues through remote/hybrid work, shared offices, hoteling and seeking 
additional space.

66

61 62

63 64

65 66



Organizational Capacity

District Goal 5.4: Maximize and expand facilities to meet the needs of staff 
and clients.

• Maximize existing facilities to address shortage of workstations.

• Identify opportunities for facility expansion.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Solve for current facility capacity issues through remote/hybrid work policies, 
shared offices and hoteling

• Seek opportunities to expand facilities through ARPA or other sources

67

Organizational Capacity
District Goal 5.5: Leverage technology to improve services, increase 
effectiveness and efficiency, and provide access to higher quality data.

• Increase access to self-service platforms and systems.

• Improve data tracking and information sharing.

• Assure technology needs are addressed by a health district technology resource or 
County Technology Services.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Accela, ACA, Patagonia enhancements

• .Gov Phase II

• Vonage phone rollout

• Granicus for DBOH meetings

• Work to improve tech support

68

Organizational Capacity 
Performance Outcomes

Examples for scorecard...

% of employee departures (minus retirements)

% of employees who recommend WCHD as a good place to work

% of employees who report feeling competent on core competencies

# of staff participating in professional development opportunities

# of staff participating in leadership development opportunities

Maintaining accreditation

% increase of facility capacity available

69

Priority Five

Organizational Capacity

Questions or comments on this priority?

70

Priority Six

Financial Stability

Enable the Health District to make long-term 
commitments in areas that will positively impact 

the community's health by growing reliable 
sources of income.

71

Community Indicators

72

Community Indicators Result Current

% state funding support 1.70% FY2021

Budget per capita $53.97 FY2022

67 68

69 70

71 72



Financial Stability
District Goal 6.1: Update the WCHDs financial model to align with the needs of 
the community.

• Increase dedicated public health funding support to Washoe County.

• Capture grant and federal relief resources to meet public health goals.

• Maximize revenue generated from cost recovery.

• Provide the DBOH the information necessary to provide financial oversight.

Highlighted Initiatives...

• Continue to advocate for increased, reliable source of public health funding

• Review capacity to apply for and manage growing level of grant and recovery funds

• Focus on appropriate cost recovery through fees and insurance reimbursement

• Be good stewards of resources, reporting to DBOH and following board policy

73

Priority Six

Financial Stability

Questions or comments on this priority and 
the financial information provided?

74

Agenda Item 5

75

Current Financial Position

76

• FY21 ended with a $15.3 million fund balance, 47.3% of expenditures

➢ $10.6 million was required to open FY22

➢ $1.1 million needed for augmentation to the restricted funds (Tire and Pollution 

Control funds) and prior year encumbrances

Current Financial Position

77

• FY22 Estimated Year End

➢ Revenues of $40.8 million are trending up $1.3 million or 3.3% over 

FY21

✓Grant funding of $22.0 million up $1.5 million or 7.2%

✓ Licenses & permits of $4.0 million are up $178,279 or 4.7%

✓Charges for Services of $2.5 million are slightly down by $14,442 or 

0.6%

✓Other revenues sources of $2.8 million are down $345,027 or 

10.9%

✓County General Funds stays flat at $9.5 million

Current Financial Position

78

• FY22 Estimated Year End

➢ Expenditures of $40.5 million are trending up $8.2 million or 25.3% compared 

to FY21

✓ Salaries & Benefits of $22.2 million up $2.9 million or 14.9% due to COLAs, 

insurance increase and additional staff for the COVID-19 response

✓ Professional Services and contracted help of $11.6 million up $5.1 million 

or 79.2% mainly due to the additional support required for the COVID-19 

response

✓ County central service billings of $1.7 million up $143,415 or 9.3%

✓ Other expenditures of $5.0 million have a slight increase of $23,735 or 

0.5% over FY21

73 74

75 76

77 78



Current Financial Position

79

• FY 23 – projected to have $1.2 million available for one-time and 
ongoing expenditures for above the base requests

FY23 Budget Discussion
• Continue to fund the current programs

• Proposed ongoing investment beginning in FY23 - $1.2 million

➢ Span of control issues for Supervisors projected to require additional staff – both supervisors 

and support staff positions, estimated at $400,000

➢ Positions to address workload and population growth to provide required services and allow 

capacity for workforce development, estimated at $425,000

➢ Reclassifications for staff working outside their current classification, estimated at $75,000

➢ Additional on-going costs required for operating, maintaining, and reserves for replacement 

for the vehicles going into our fleet, estimated at $50,000

➢ Additional one-time expenditures for fleet purchases, workforce development, data analytics, 

and computer set up for additional positions, estimated at $250,000

80

FY23 Budget
Discussion and Direction

• Additional above base expenditures of $300,000 beginning FY24 
and continuing through FY26 are projected to bring the fund 
balance down to 10.5% by FY26, addressing the current fund 
balance that exceeds the policy level of 10% – 17%

• In February, bring to the Board the FY23 budget for consideration 
and approval

81

ARPA update

Washoe County Manager's Office Approved Requests:

• $600,000 Lobby Remodel

• $490,000 Mobile Vaccination Clinic/Command Post*

• $300,000 TS Consultation for ACCELA*

• $150,000 PrEP/HIV/STD Funding

* Considered Urgent Projects

82

ARPA Update
WCHD priority needs submitted to the State

Infrastructure needs:
• Washoe County Health District Building
• TB Clinic

Other:
• Repair and Replace Pilot Program Funding
• Electric Vehicle Fleet
• Small Vector Drone 

83

Current Financial Position, Trends and  
Budget Implications

Questions or comments on this priority and 
the financial information provided?

84

79 80

81 82

83 84



Agenda Item 6

85

DBOH Strategic Plan and Budget 
Direction

86

WRAP UP

87

85 86

87



Vision Statement: To protect and enhance the well-being and quality of life for all in Washoe County

Values Statement: To protect and enhance the well-being and quality of life for all in Washoe County

Trustworthiness: appropriate allocation of resources, spend prudently, stewardship

Professionalism: ethics, education, accountability

Partner-Collaborate: be flexible, adapt, be accessible, be proactive, innovate and create

Strategic Direction: Leaders in a unified community making measurable improvements in the health of its people and environment.

2022 - 2024 DRAFT Strategic Plan 

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 1



District Goal: 1.1 Promote healthy behaviors to reduce chronic disease. 

Division Goal: 1.1.1 Proactively prevent disease utilizing effective health education strategies.

District Goal: 1.2 Promote preventive health services that are proven to improve health outcomes in the community. 

Division Goal: 1.2.2 Reduce the spread of disease through proactive surveillance, monitoring and intervention.

District Goal: 1.3 Improve access to health care so people of all means receive the health care services they need. 

Division Goal: 1.3.1 Assist clients with access to health insurance.

Division Goal: 1.3.2 Build a bridge between communities, clients and services with community health workers.

District Goal: 1.4 Prevent and reduce the spread of COVID-19 in Washoe County

Division Goal: 1.4.1 Reduce the spread of COVID-19 through proactive surveillance, monitoring and intervention.

Strategic Priority 1: HEALTHY LIVES: Improve the health of our community by empowering individuals to live healthier lives.

Division Goal: 1.4.2 Increase COVID-19 vaccination capacity across Washoe County including among high risk and underserved populations.

Division Goal: 1.2.1 Act as a safety net by providing accessible health services when/where community members otherwise may not have access.

Division Goal: 1.4.5 Maintain infrastructure and organizational capacity necessary to respond to the COVID pandemic.

Division Goal: 1.4.4 Provide the public with accurate, actionable and timely information about COVID-19

Division Goal: 1.4.3 Increase confidence in vaccines among targeted racial and ethnic groups and individuals with disabilities through outreach and access to accurate 

information.

Division Goal: 1.4.6 Maintain a consistent level of customer service to the community.

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 2



District Goal: 2.1 Protect people from negative environmental impacts.

Division Goal: 2.1.1 Monitor ambient air to assess attainment status of the ozone and PM2.5 NAAQS (Monitoring)

Division Goal: 2.1.3 Reduce Ozone Precursor Emissions from the Transportation Sector (Planning)

Division Goal: 2.1.4 Evaluate Permitting of Ozone and PM2.5 Stationary Sources (Permitting)

Division Goal: 2.1.5 Assure waste is disposed of properly.

Division Goal: 2.1.6 Reduce negative environmental health impacts associated with land development.

District Goal: 2.2 Keep people safe where they live, work and play.

Division Goal: 2.2.1 Improve safety of residents through education, inspections and enforcement.

Division Goal: 2.2.2 Reduce the spread of vector-borne disease.

Division Goal: 2.2.3 Review building plans in advance to assure new facilities meet health standards.

Strategic Priority 2: HEALTHY ENVIRONMENT: Create a healthier environment that allows people to safely enjoy everything 

Washoe County has to offer.

Division Goal: 2.1.2 Evaluate effectiveness of regulations and programs governing ozone precursor and PM2.5 emissions (Planning)

Division Goal: 2.1.5 Inspect sources of ozone and PM2.5 emissions to determine compliance with state, county and federal regulations (Compliance)

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 3



District Goal 3.1 Ensure community access to actionable public health information via website, media and social media

Division Goal 3.1.1: Update public-facing digital presence on website and social media

District Goal 3.2 Inform the community of important community health trends by capturing and communicating health data.

Division Goal 3.2.1: Increase data integrity and data standardization. 

Division Goal 3.2.2: Produce original public health research advances public health knowledge.

Division Goal 3.2.3: Regularly share timely public health data and trends with the community.

Division Goal 3.2.4: Build the capacity of the health district to process data.

District Goal 3.3: Drive better health outcomes in Washoe County through improved public health systems and policies.

Division Goal 3.3.1:  Advocate for state and local policies that positively impact public health.

Division Goal 3.3.2: Build, support and participate in coalitions to advance improved public health policies.

Strategic Priority 3: LOCAL CULTURE OF HEALTH: Lead a transformation in our community's awareness, understanding and 

appreciation of health resulting in direct action.

Division Goal: 3.1.2 Position the Health District to be the trusted, reputable source of public health information for our community.

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 4



District Goal: 4.1 Reduce risk and improve health outcomes for children in Washoe County

Division Goal: 4.1.1 Lend support in childcare and educational settings to reduce outbreaks 

Division Goal: 4.1.2 Provide quality and timely air quality data for students and WCSD staff

District Goal: 4.2 Support and promote behavioral health

Division Goal: 4.2.1 Improve outcomes for residents who are experiencing a behavioral health crisis.

Division Goal: 4.2.1 Reduce isolation for seniors who are experiencing loneliness.

District Goal: 4.3 Empower families and organizations to improve physical activity and nutrition.

Division Goal: 4.3.1 Increase community participation in physical activity and nutrition programs.

District Goal: 4.4 Enhance the regional emergency medical services system.

Division Goal: 4.4.1 Provide EMS oversight to enhance system performance.

District Goal: 4.5 Engage the community in public health improvement 

Division Goal: 4.5.1 Engage the community in assessing community health needs.

District Goal: 4.6 Improve the ability of the community to respond to health emergencies.

Division Goal 4.6.1: Improve public health emergency preparedness.

Division Goal 4.6.1: Improve hospital emergency preparedness.

District Goal: 4.7 Partner with academia to advance public health goals.

Division Goal 4.7.1: Maintain Academic Health Department with the University of Nevada, Reno

Strategic Priority 4: IMPACTFUL PARTNERSHIPS: Extend our impact by leveraging partnerships to make meaningful progress 

on health issues.

Division Goal: 4.5.2 Engage the community in planning for community health improvement with a focus on disparate health outcomes.

Division Goal 4.5.3: Facilitate community engagement in public health improvement initiatives designed to improve health outcomes and/or reduce health disparities.

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 5



District Goal: 5.1 Attract and retain a talented public health workforce to meet the needs of Washoe County.

Division Goal: 5.1.1 Create a positive and productive work environment.

Division Goal: 5.1.2 Focus on building staff expertise.

Division Goal: 5.1.3 Maintain and build staff resiliency.

Current 5.2 Meet and exceed national public health best practice standards. 

Division Goal: 5.2.1 Maintain National Public Health Accreditation

District Goal: 5.3 Invest in expanded Health District capacity and targeted services to meet the needs of a growing and diverse community.

Division Goal: 5.3.1 Increase workforce capacity.

Division Goal: 5.3.2 Increase organizational capacity to address health equity and reduce disparate health outcomes.

Division Goal: 5.3.3 Recruit, retain and train a workforce that meets the diverse needs of our community.

New 5.4 Maximize and expand facilities to meet the needs of staff and clients.

Division Goal: 5.4.1 Maximize existing facilities to address shortage of work stations.

Division Goal: 5.4.2 Identify opportunities for facility expansion

New 5.5 Leverage technology to improve services, increase effectiveness and efficiency, and provide access to higher quality data.

Division Goal: 5.5.1 Increase access to self-service platforms and systems.

Division Goal: 5.5.2 Improve data tracking and information sharing.

Strategic Priority 5: ORGANIZATIONAL CAPACITY: Strengthen our workforce and increase operational capacity to support a 

growing population.

Division Goal: 5.5.3 Assure technology needs are addressed by a health district technology resource or County Technology Services.

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 6



District Goal 6.1 Update the WCHDs financial model to align with the needs of the community.

Division Goal 6.1.1 Increase dedicated public health funding support to Washoe County.

Division Goal 6.1.2 Capture grant and federal relief resources to meet public health goals.

Division Goal 6.1.3 Maximize revenue generated from cost recovery.

Division Goal 6.1.4 Provide the DBOH the information necessary to provide financial oversight.

Key for Division Ownership

CCHS

AQM

EHS

EPHP

AHS

ODHO

ICS

Strategic Priority 6: FINANCIAL STABILITY: Enable the Health District to make long-term commitments in areas that will 

positively impact the community's health by growing reliable sources of income.

DRAFT 11/9/2021 Page 7



 

           

SUMMARY 

WCHD Division Retreats & Board Input 
September 24, 2021 

 

 
1 

 

WCHD INPUT SUMMARY 
BLUE = Board Input   Orange = Division Retreats 

PRIORITY #1 HEALTHY LIVES & PRIORITY #2 HEALTH ENVIRONMENT  

CHNA- really provides a framework for where we should focus.  

• Tough to look at things holistically - while still in a pandemic. CHNA - we did that, but needs to be updated 

Re-focus on public health - COVID overshadowed everything else we do 

• Covid is important, but also facing mental health issues, vaccinations are becoming politically charged - encourage 
all to take proper care for all public health 

• Re-establish ourselves in terms of who we are and what we mean to the community 

• There are segments of our community that are more impacted than others in terms of COVID. It would be 
interesting to see that in context of the other areas we focus on 

• Reel the scope back in to what public health is and push stuff back to the jurisdictions  

Work to be an agency that improves each groups/all groups that we serve.  

Sometimes we are a regulatory agency - apply force when needed - the goal is to assist those that we are trying to serve 
(like make restaurants a safer place, etc.) - do our regulatory duties quickly, efficiently, fairly and without bias. 

o Look at our staffing to ensure that our team matches the community that we serve 
o Focus on all departments of the organization 

Mobile van  

Available for vaccinations, clinics, etc. 
 

PRIORITY #3 LOCAL CULTURE OF HEALTH 

Establish a Community Repair Committee  (hospitals, nonprofits, etc.) 

How do we repair together? We have created a one-way communication, we are not hearing what people need. We are not 
stronger as a community because we went through this, we are more fractioned because of how things got handed down - 
pull people together relationally. 

Community to better understand how the HD works.  

One size does not fit all for external, public communication  

• Consider both centralized and decentralized approach to public and partner communication. 



 

           

SUMMARY 

WCHD Division Retreats & Board Input 
September 24, 2021 

 

 
2 

 

• Most divisions mentioned the issue of community lack of trust and a desire to be the trusted source for public 

information.  

• Consider which programs need dedicated social media outreach due to how clients consume information. 

• Everyone asked for more communications support.  

Lack of clear information, self-service and easily navigated website is impacting 

program effectiveness 

• Most divisions identified potential solutions for citizen self-service – if website was more usable. 

• Access to information is required to promote health equity and necessary to promote trust and transparency 

• Huge opportunity to promote the invaluable data and community leadership within the District – via forward 

facing, clear, easily accessed site(s) 

PRIORITY #4 PARTNERSHIPS  

No feedback in this area. 

PRIORITY #5 ORGANIZATIONAL CAPACITY  

Revisit the Board composition and improve the Board-DHO structure. 

Not structured very well, challenged the decision-making process and the governance of the Board. Board meetings need to 
be about policy and direction. 

Continue work with staff training, teamwork, make our team the best on the 

planet.  

Continue innovative, creative, and dynamic workforce development 

• Immediate need for technology training to self-serve solutions (Teams, virtual meetings, inventory mgmt., etc.) 

• Continue cross-training that was present in the past 12 months (opportunity to jump into positions outside of role) 

• Need to think about “pre-hiring” to strengthen retention 

• More mentoring – learning outside of “class” 

Make flexible work (, telecommuting full-time or hybrid, schedules) permanent 

• Policies requested to make flexible work that become more common during COVID permanent, fair, and 

districtwide 

• Make remote or hybrid work an option, with an understanding that managing performance will put pressure on 

supervisors to manage differently  

• Consider the idea of flexible time, not just remote work 

• More meeting rooms are needed to accommodate this possibility (plus there is a need for more spaces to meet)! 



 

           

SUMMARY 

WCHD Division Retreats & Board Input 
September 24, 2021 

 

 
3 

 

Implement less hierarchical and more flexible ways of working together 

• Formalize intra-divisional, cross-divisional (maybe cross-county) collaboration – staff loved it!! 

• Everyone loved the opportunity to work out of silos – all silos 

• Promote pulling perspectives and opinions from all levels of the organization – less hierarchical 

Address capacity where it is stretched - grants and technology deployment 

functions - as well as establish cross-divisional teams for activities across the 

District 

Specifically, opportunities are: 

• Grant writing and grant management 

• Technology implementation  and deployment, including Project Managers 

• Social media team 

• Fiscal team? 

• Health equity team? 

Lack of capacity at middle management is a roadblock 

• Several divisions communicated capacity challenges and quality of service being impacted because span of control 

by supervisors is too large 

• Difficult to implement professional training, cross-functional projects or project management without any cushion 

in bandwidth of managers. 

PRIORITY #6 FINANCIAL CAPACITY 

Keep more of a financial reserve  

Work more with County and Cities partners (had good reserve at beginning of pandemic) 
 
 

Employees want to learn more about the budget/budget process 
 
Understanding budget process by supervisors would help the fiscal team and organization overall manage budgets 

 

LEARNINGS FROM THE PANDEMIC  

Just Board Input 

Positives - Major shifts & heavy lifts: 



 

           

SUMMARY 

WCHD Division Retreats & Board Input 
September 24, 2021 

 

 
4 

 

• Stood up a lot of great efforts 

• Staff made huge strides - tests, vaccinations, etc. Great job. 

• Accreditation really helped us, better place to start learning from.  

• We, like everyone else, had no idea how to do a pandemic 

• Organizational changes ahead of time, did this in advance of the pandemic. BUT we were not ready for a 
pandemic. 

• A lot of great people in WCHD. People stepped up into places, did the job and an amazing job. 

• Very proud of what our Health District has done and is doing.  

• Could not have done it without the volunteers and the National Guard.  

• Took what we already had in preparedness - we had designed our own pods, etc. Learned how flexible we can be. 

• Our organization was as prepared as anyone could be for unforeseen circumstances 

• Able to respond immediately and efficiently, even with all the changing science/government reccommendation 

• Results - We have the highest vaccine rate in the state, but we could be a lot higher 

• Proud of our department throughout the process. 

Opportunities/Challenges: 

• Communication needs/gaps; learned that if people don't trust what you are saying, it's a challenge 

• Find a way to educatie and share - it's important 

• Learned how important it is that we work together - we tried, but it did not always happen 

• Hard with what was coming from the State and communicated from DHO 

• Learned how to do work virtually, and do our job differently, think outside the box and be creative 

• For many small businesses, especially Hispanic, there is not enough clarity around how to do business during the 
pandemic - we don't understand how to be compliant. 

• We could have looked at pandemic preparedness earlier, but we've been tackling many other health issues. 

• Other aspects of the health deparetmentwork did take a backseat; really could not have changed this 

• Emergencies need a different approach when they are long lasting - at some point it became the new normal and 
we need to put the systems in place that were set up to run the different areas of the community  

STOP DOINGS 

Just Division Retreat Input 

Our Work and Services 

• Build out the foundation before adding rooms. How are we best and efficiently delivering against our mandates?  

• Some mandates are unenforceable (weekly motels, animal enforcement – go to Code Enforcement) 

• Better due diligence on grant requirements and the actual benefit  

• Letting nonprofits provide services where they can and should  

Being More Efficient and Consistent 

• District Health Officer able to accept grant awards (capped?) instead of going to the Board  

• Do better planning to reduce program changes frequently  



 

           

SUMMARY 

WCHD Division Retreats & Board Input 
September 24, 2021 

 

 
5 

 

• Stop purchasing tech at the last minute  

• Clearer roles for multi-divisional projects  

• For PHAB requirements, review of after-action reviews/improvement plans by other divisions, not just PHP  

Where and How We Work 

• Signage in the lobby – do we need so many signs regarding the same thing? 

• Being notified if we are being bumped from meeting rooms  

• Do we have to keep records as physical files?  

• Stop viewing divisions in terms of financial contribution created  



Positioning 
America’s Public 

Health System for the 
Next Pandemic

June 2021



2

A U T H O R S Tom Daschle
Co-Chair  
Former Senate Majority Leader  
Co-Founder, BPC 

Bill Frist, M.D. 
Co-Chair  
Former Senate Majority Leader  
Senior Fellow, BPC

Gail Wilensky, Ph.D. 
Co-Chair  
Senior Fellow, Project Hope  
Former Administrator, Health Care  
Financing Administration (now CMS)

Sheila Burke 
Fellow, BPC  
Chair, Government Affairs and 
Public Policy, Baker Donelson 
Berman & Berkowitz

James Capretta 
Resident Fellow, Milton Friedman 
Chair, American Enterprise Institute

Dan Crippen, Ph.D.
Former Director, Congressional 
Budget Office 

Margaret Hamburg, M.D. 
Former Commissioner, Food 
and Drug Administration

Chris Jennings 
Fellow, BPC  
Former White House Health 
Care Advisor, Clinton and Obama 
Administrations 
Founder and President, 
Jennings Policy Strategies

Risa Lavizzo-Mourey, M.D. 
PIK Professor of Health Equity 
and Health Policy, University of 
Pennsylvania  
Former CEO and President Emerita,  
Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

William Roper, M.D. 
Professor, UNC Schools of Medicine 
and Public Health 
Former Director, Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention

Mark Smith, M.D. 
Clinical Professor of Medicine,  
University of California San 
Francisco  
Former Founding President and CEO,  
California Health Care Foundation

Leana Wen, M.D. 
Visiting Professor of Health 
Policy and Management, George 
Washington University  
Former Health Commissioner, 
City of Baltimore 



 3

H E A LT H  P R O J E C T
Under the leadership of former Senate Majority Leaders Tom Daschle and Bill Frist, M.D., the Bipartisan Policy Center’s Health 
Project develops bipartisan policy recommendations that will improve health care quality, lower costs, and enhance coverage and 
delivery. The project focuses on coverage and access to care, delivery system reform, cost containment, chronic and long-term care, 

and rural and behavioral health.

A C K N O W L E D G M E N T S
BPC would like to thank the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the CDC Foundation for their generous support. BPC 
acknowledges the contributions of William Raub, Ph.D. for his review of early drafts of the report and former BPC health project 

intern Mary Nguyen.

D I S C L A I M E R
The findings and recommendations expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views or opinions of BPC’s founders or its 
board of directors.

S TA F F Thomas Armooh
Project Assistant, Prevention Initiative

Tyler Barton, MPH 
Research Analyst, Prevention Initiative 

Anita Burgos, Ph.D.
Senior Policy Analyst, Health Project

Joann Donnellan 
Senior Advisor, Communications 

Lisa Harootunian, J.D. 
Senior Policy Analyst, Health Project 

Katherine Hayes, J.D. 
Director, Health Policy 

G. William Hoagland 
Senior Vice President 

Kathryn Horneffer
Intern, Prevention Initiative 

Dena McDonough, PA-C 
Associate Director, Health Project 

Brady Newell 
Project Coordinator, Health Project 

Anand Parekh, M.D. 
Chief Medical Advisor 

Eleni Salyers, MPH 
Research Analyst, Health Project 

Marilyn Serafini 
Director, Health Project 

Kevin Wu, MPP
Policy Analyst, Health Project

Bara Vaida 
BPC Consultant

Lisa M. Koonin, DrPH
BPC Consultant



4



 5

Table of Contents

6 E X ECUTIVE SU M MARY

1 2 I NTRO DUC TIO N

16  R ECO M M E N DATIO N S : 
I NTE RG OVE R N M E NTAL RO LE S AN D  
R E S PO N S I B I LITI E S

2 6 R ECO M M E N DATIO N S : 
DATA I N FR ASTRUC TU R E

3 8 R ECO M M E N DATIO N S :  
PU B LIC H E ALTH FI NAN C I N G

5 3 CO N C LU S IO N S

5 4 E N D N OTE S



6

The COVID-19 pandemic has made clear that the nation’s safety, health, and 
economic prosperity are dependent on a robust public health system. 

Federal public health agencies and state and local public health departments 
have long been severely underfunded. They have lacked the workforce and 
modern data systems to support surveillance, contact tracing, testing, guidance 
on mitigation measures, administration of vaccines, and clear communication 
that is needed to stop infectious diseases from spreading across the country. 
In the beginning of the current pandemic, the federal government did not 
provide effective testing kits or clear and timely guidance to states, localities, 
tribes, and territories on COVID-19 mitigation measures, resulting in a delayed 
and fragmented national response. In addition, many Americans have chronic 
underlying health conditions such as obesity and heart disease, leaving them 
more likely to develop severe illness from the virus that causes COVID-19. Public 
health agencies and departments lack the resources to support prevention 
programs that might have reduced the prevalence of these conditions. Further, 
there are long-standing racial and socioeconomic inequities with respect to 
health and health care access. 

Had these shortcomings not existed, the United States death toll might have 
been smaller. It is also true that if vaccine development had been delayed 
further, the death toll would have been higher. As of the end of May 2021, the 
U.S. has the highest mortality numbers in the world, with more than 592,000 
deaths from COVID-19.1 Communities of color disproportionately represent 
these deaths. Tens of thousands more Americans are living with the persistent 
and debilitating symptoms from COVID-19, including brain fog, headaches, and 
shortness of breath. 

Halfway into 2021, the United States is on better footing. There has been a 
whole-of-government response to the pandemic along with clearer federal 
guidance issued to public health departments. Congress has appropriated 
additional resources to the public health sector, which is engaged in a historic 
national vaccination effort. As of the end of May, more than half of adults 
received at least one dose of a COVID-19 vaccine and deaths are at the lowest 
level in 11 months. The economy is recovering, and Americans are expecting a 
return to a more normal life.

But even as the pandemic is easing, the United States must prepare for 
possible additional waves of disease from this pandemic, potentially caused 
by new virus variants, as well as plan for future public health emergencies. 

Executive Summary



 7

The nation remains vulnerable to myriad threats, including from another 
dangerous infectious disease, a widespread natural disaster, or a potential 
bioterrorist attack, each of which could impact almost every sector of the 
economy, disrupt social connections, and have significant long-lasting health 
impacts. Equipping the public health system with an adequate and prepared 
workforce, data systems, and medical countermeasures will enable the country 
to better withstand not only a pandemic, but any number of other public 
health emergencies.

Shoring up the system will take years of consistent effort by public health 
officials and policymakers. In the past 20 years, the nation has responded to 
every public health crisis with temporary funding measures that have not 
provided state and local public health departments with the people and the 
information technology tools needed to build enduring programs which address 
Americans’ poor health and adequately prepare for a future emergency. This 
moment must be different. There is heightened appreciation for the critical 
role of public health. A May 2021 survey from the Harvard Opinion Research 
Program and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation found that over 70% of 
adults “favor substantially increasing federal spending on improving the 
nation’s public health programs,” and the same proportion believe public health 
agency activities are very or extremely important to the nation’s health.2 

Since August 2020, the Bipartisan Policy Center’s Future of Health Care 
Initiative leaders have been developing and supporting recommendations to 
improve the resilience of the nation’s health care and public health systems 
to address the threat of COVID-19 and beyond. In January 2021, the Future of 
Health Care leaders released a report outlining high-priority immediate actions 
that the administration and Congress should take in combating COVID-19. 
In this report, the leaders have developed additional recommendations to 
ensure that the public health system, specifically, not only continues to 
respond to COVID-19, but that it is well-prepared to respond to and mitigate the 
consequences of a future pandemic.

Our recommendations focus on three areas: 1) creating clarity and 
accountability in federal leadership and operations during a pandemic; 2) 
improving public health information technology and data systems; and 3) 
committing the United States to more and consistent funding of public health 
to prepare for inevitable public health crises.

There are 10 overarching recommendations in this report:

1. Clarify and strengthen federal operational roles and responsibilities 
during a federal response to a pandemic.

To improve the nation’s federal response to emergency events such as 
a pandemic, the White House and Congress should clearly define roles, 
responsibilities, and authorities for all relevant governmental entities. Because 



8

only the White House has the authority to direct federal departments to work 
with one another and coordinate their efforts, the president should appoint a 
White House Deputy National Security Advisor for Pandemic and Biothreats 
Preparedness to provide leadership to prepare and respond to national public 
health emergencies and conduct joint pandemic planning efforts including 
exercises to refine roles and responsibilities. White House leadership and 
coordination of agency preparedness should be supplemented by congressional 
evaluations of roles and responsibilities to ensure federal entities have 
the necessary authorities and resources to execute emergency pandemic 
response efforts. 

2. Incentivize states to participate in a coordinated response to national 
public health threats. 

The patchwork of state responses to COVID-19 raises salient concerns about 
barriers to a coordinated national response during public health emergencies. 
States and localities have the flexibility to appropriately tailor public health 
activities to their community needs. However, it is still vital for states and 
localities to follow federal evidence-based guidelines for disease mitigation 
during a pandemic. Congress and the executive branch should create incentives 
to encourage states and localities to follow these guidelines and best practices. 
These incentives could involve additional financial resources beyond core 
funding, such as providing supplemental public health funds, to enhance a 
state’s pandemic response.

3. Establish a National Board on Pandemic Preparedness to provide 
oversight and ensure the United States is equipped to respond to future 
public health threats. 

There is no congressionally chartered oversight mechanism for evaluating 
the state of America’s pandemic preparedness system, which is reliant on the 
capacity, capabilities, and coordination of federal, state, and local agencies. 
This lack of oversight leaves the nation vulnerable to a suboptimal response to 
public health emergencies and future pandemics. To ensure the United States 
is equipped to respond, Congress should create an independent National Board 
on Pandemic Preparedness that will establish a set of metrics and benchmarks 
for evaluation of federal and state pandemic preparedness capacity and 
capability; gauge how the nation is faring against these metrics; and develop an 
annual report to Congress on the state of pandemic preparedness with specific 
recommendations. The Board will be supported by independent career staff in a 
new Office of Pandemic Preparedness located in the executive branch. 



 9

4. Establish federal data collection and reporting standards to improve 
consistent collection of core public health data across data systems, 
with a prioritized focus on race and ethnicity data.

The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology 
(ONC) recently established a Public Health Data Systems Task Force that 
should consider defining a “core public health dataset,” developing additional 
standards for data collection, and developing a plan for implementing those 
standards, including linking them to funding mechanisms. Core public health 
data should include information for public health surveillance and response, 
such as demographic information, electronic laboratory data, travel health 
data, genomic sequencing data, and electronic vital records data. The health 
disparities in the COVID-19 pandemic have revealed the urgent need to set 
standards around race, ethnicity, and other demographic data, and should 
be treated as a priority. To ensure accountability, Congress should require 
the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to submit a report on 
current streams of funding, activities, and program requirements related to data 
collection and standardization. 

5. Improve data sharing and interoperability by establishing integrated 
platforms for detection and surveillance of public health threats, 
clarifying privacy standards during public health emergencies, 
and encouraging data exchange between clinical and public 
health organizations.

The U.S. public health system relies on an outdated, patchwork data system 
that does not allow data to flow freely between public health, clinical and other 
entities. To improve early detection of public health threats, the CDC should 
establish an integrated infectious disease surveillance system that would 
strengthen surveillance efforts currently conducted by multiple data systems 
and agencies. This system could be modeled like the CDC’s existing influenza 
surveillance system and be expanded to detect other novel pathogens. To 
improve situational awareness during public health emergencies, Congress 
should direct the HHS secretary to ask the National Academy of Medicine 
(NAM) to propose a design for a national interoperable data platform to improve 
access to health data and other relevant data needs during ongoing public health 
emergencies. Considering the volume and type of data sharing required during 
public health emergencies, patient privacy and security must be prioritized. 
Finally, as the United States updates electronic health record (EHR) standards, 
a priority should be made to include public health data, and to facilitate data 
sharing between health systems and public health officials.



10

6. Build upon data collection and sharing efforts during COVID-19 to 
strengthen vaccination data systems for use during future infectious 
disease pandemics.

The CDC recently issued guidance that fully vaccinated individuals can resume 
certain activities, but—despite demand from private businesses—there is not 
currently a reliable system in place to identify who has been fully vaccinated. 
Several private companies are working on platforms that an individual could 
use to digitally access their vaccination information. The federal government 
has a key role to play in promoting the development of a vaccination credential 
system by ensuring that credentials protect privacy and are synchronized, 
secure, and high quality. In addition, HHS should build on technology it is using 
to collect states’ COVID-19 immunization tracking data to inform national 
response efforts and improve interoperability between states and enhance 
states’ collection of demographic data, such as race and ethnicity.

7. Assess existing federal funding of pandemic preparedness and response 
activities for opportunities to increase coordination and efficiency and 
improve equity. For programs deemed highest priority to prevent, detect, 
and address infectious disease threats, create a permanent budget 
designation named Biodefense Interagency Operations outside annual 
302(a) allocations, and should they be established by future legislation, 
outside overall budget limitations.

Congress should form a Joint Select Committee including members 
representing the relevant authorizing and appropriating committees to evaluate 
existing federal funding, identify mission-critical investments, and produce 
legislative recommendations with stakeholder feedback on how interagency 
funding can be better coordinated and optimized. Those programs deemed 
mission critical would receive a Biodefense Interagency Operations (BIO) 
exemption, allowing them to be exempt from budget caps, including any future 
discretionary spending limits set after the expiration of Budget Control Act of 
2011 limits in fiscal year 2021, and federal departments and agencies should 
be allowed to independently request the BIO exemption for their programs to 
ensure the country remains vigilant and primed for pandemic threats. 

8. Allocate funding to the Public Health Emergency Fund for use 
immediately following a Public Health Emergency declaration and use 
it as the primary vehicle for supplemental appropriations funding.

To enable the federal government to rapidly deploy funding as a stopgap 
measure in a public health emergency until Congress can pass emergency 
supplemental appropriations, Congress should add funding to the Public Health 
Emergency Fund and consider passing future supplemental appropriations 
through the fund in future emergencies. When the pandemic began, there were 



 11

zero dollars in the fund, requiring the HHS secretary to draw upon the transfer 
of funds from other executive programs to pay for emergency response, arguably 
adding to the initially disorganized response to COVID-19. 

9. Allocate $4.5 billion in permanent annual mandatory funding to a new 
Public Health Infrastructure Account to support state, local, tribal, and 
territorial foundational public health capabilities.

To enable state and local health departments to develop the minimal, 
cross-cutting capabilities that are needed to support their delivery of public 
health programs, the federal government should build on investments made 
by the administration through the American Rescue Plan. Congressional 
appropriations committees would still appropriate this money annually, but the 
money would not be subject to Committee 302(b) allocations. The HHS secretary 
would award the appropriated money in grants to accredited jurisdictions based 
on population size, level of health disparities, level of health risk and chronic 
disease burden in the community, and public health governance structure 
to bolster foundational public health programs. Part of the funding would be 
tied to the set of metrics and benchmarks created by the National Board on 
Pandemic Preparedness for evaluation of federal, state, and local pandemic 
preparedness capacity and capability.

10. Reform and increase annual funding to the existing Prevention and 
Public Health Fund from its current level of about $900 million to $4 
billion to bolster inadequately supported public health programs and 
meet local needs.

Congress should direct funds from the Prevention and Public Health Fund, 
created under the Affordable Care Act, to state and local health departments to 
support public health programs, and the Preventive Health and Health Services 
Block Grants that gives health departments “the flexibility to solve problems 
unique to their residents, while still being held accountable for demonstrating 
the local, state and national impact of the investments.” Public health programs 
include chronic disease prevention and communicable disease control programs 
that aim to improve community health.3 Statutory language should be added 
to the law to prevent Congress from using the Prevention Fund to offset 
other activities as Congress has done since 2014. Research shows investment 
in prevention reduces long-term illnesses in a population. With a healthier 
population, the United States will be less vulnerable to an infectious disease 
outbreak, and individuals will live longer with a higher quality of life.

The $7.6 billion called for in Recommendation Nos. 9 and 10 would be funded by 
a public health excise tax.



12

Introduction

The U.S. public health system is a complex and intricate network of 
governmental agencies, local boards of health, and private health organizations 
that collaborate to promote and protect Americans’ health. Its foundation 
includes a mix of 50 state (and the District of Columbia) health departments, 
2,794 local governments, 565 federally recognized tribal agencies, and five 
U.S. territories.4

Even prior to the pandemic, the sprawling system of administrative bodies 
faced challenges from decades of inadequate federal funding.5 The system’s 
workforce has been stretched, and its data systems antiquated. There continue 
to be disparities in national health outcomes from chronic diseases and other 
illnesses, across racial, ethnic, and income groups.

COVID-19 exposed these flaws, underscored by a staggering death toll. As of 
the end of May 2021, over 592,000 Americans have lost their lives to the SARS-
CoV-2 coronavirus that causes COVID-19, with Black and Latino populations 
making up a disproportionate number of deaths.6 

The pandemic has begun to recede in the United States, as more than half the 
adult population has been vaccinated. But progress could be short-lived as new, 
more contagious strains of SARS-CoV-2 are circulating the globe. In the spring 
of 2021, a wave of new COVID-19 cases erupted in India and South America, 
providing more opportunities for the virus to mutate into new strains, spread to 
the United States, and challenge the effectiveness of current vaccines. 

As the United States continues its pandemic fight, it is important for 
policymakers to examine and absorb the lessons learned from COVID-19. An 
effective pandemic response requires leaders who rely on scientific advice and 
data, and adapt as the science evolves, communicate clearly and consistently, 
debunk health misinformation, and avoid using the crisis for political gain. 
It requires comprehensive planning and preparation, biomedical advances 
in vaccine and therapeutic development, a national surveillance and testing 
strategy, robust contact tracing, clear guidance to the public about the early and 
sustained use of mitigation measures, and coordination and planning between 
public health leaders and agencies, health care providers, and medical suppliers. 
Further, because pathogens do not respect borders, international coordination is 
essential for sharing information and resources aimed at containing infectious 
disease outbreaks.



 13

Undergirding a resilient response also requires a modern public health system 
with intergovernmental coordination and federal oversight, a 21st-century 
public health data infrastructure, and adequate federal public health funding.

Governance of public health has historically been directed by local authorities, 
with state, local, tribal, and territorial agencies tailoring their efforts to their 
communities, but taking direction from federal agencies. Under previously 
published national pandemic plans, the federal government had been slated to 
play a critical leadership and coordination role with state and local public health 
departments in the event of a national public health crisis.7 However, a White 
House entity that was designed to coordinate and support the interagency 
pandemic response was dissolved in 2018.8

As COVID-19 was spreading through the country in early 2020, agencies 
within the HHS such as the CDC, the Food and Drug Administration, and 
the Office of the Assistant Secretary for Preparedness and Response were not 
coordinated in their actions and clashed over roles and pandemic guidance.9 

The Trump administration created a White House Coronavirus Task Force 
to improve collaboration, and deserves credit for recognizing the importance 
of rapidly producing vaccines to counter SARS-CoV-2 and for its prompt and 
robust investment toward development and large-scale production. However, 
beyond vaccine development, the task force did not succeed in unifying the 
federal response.10

In the absence of timely federal guidance, states had to determine how to share 
data, pay for COVID-19 testing and contact tracing, procure personal protective 
equipment (PPE), and implement mask mandates and social distancing 
measures. The consequence was a patchwork of measures, which, in many cases, 
failed to combat the spreading infection. 

In January 2021, a more robust and coordinated federal response was launched 
that provided additional guidance and support to state and local public 
health departments. The Biden administration reinstated the White House 
position that is part of coordinating pandemic response. A White House team 
is spearheading the nationwide COVID-19 vaccination campaign, managing 
medical supplies, and improving coordination of the federal response. Questions 
remain, however, about roles of federal agencies during a pandemic and how 
the nation should invest public health dollars to prepare for the next public 
health emergency.

Policymakers will need to strengthen our nation’s public health system 
to respond during a pandemic, as well as consider a broader public health 
modernization effort to determine the vision, strategy, and implementation of a 
public health system for the 21st- century. This includes aiming to more clearly 
define roles, responsibilities, and authorities for all relevant governmental 
entities during a national crisis and hold them accountable for preparing for the 
next public health emergency. 



14

In addition, public health departments need a stronger and more integrated data 
infrastructure to collect information, detect the next potential emergency and 
guide policy response to outbreaks. Years of underfunding has left public health 
departments with aging computer systems that do not talk with one another or 
with health care provider systems. 

Over the past few months, centralized federal reporting of hospitalization and 
vaccination data has improved, but requirements of what needs to be collected 
and reported, as well as privacy regulations, still vary between states and 
impact the quality of that data collection. Many state and local public health 
departments rely on paper documents, phone calls, and faxes to communicate. 
Many also require manual input of data into systems with limited functionality. 
Consistency of demographic data collection has been particularly poor. Race and 
ethnicity data for infections, hospitalizations, and deaths have been missing, or 
slow to be published, in many states. 

In a country that is recognized as one of the global leaders in information 
technology, the United States should have the ability to build a 21st-century data 
infrastructure for the public health system to identify which populations and 
communities may be facing more infections, hospitalizations, and deaths, as 
well ensure vaccines are getting to communities equitably. The data will enable 
policymakers to prioritize and allocate resources and address gaps as well as 
promptly detect novel pathogens and support ongoing disease surveillance.

Further, public health capacity and emergency preparedness need to be 
adequately and consistently funded for the long term. More than 38,000 jobs 
disappeared from state and local public health departments between 2008 and 
2019.11 Those losses may become bigger as COVID-19 has led to worker burnout. 
At least 181 state and local public health leaders in 38 states resigned or retired 
in 2020.

Without a strong public health workforce, states and localities cannot 
implement foundational public health programs, like obesity and diabetes 
reduction, drug addiction prevention, maternal mortality prevention, and 
discouragement of tobacco and e-cigarette use. These services are critical to 
fostering a healthy population less at risk for public health emergencies like 
COVID-19 and more able to live longer, happier lives.

The CDC is the primary funder of state and local public health emergency 
preparedness activities, but its grant funding has fallen significantly over the 
last few years.12 Instead of providing funding for the long term, the nation’s 
response to public health emergencies has been to pour money into the system 
when there is a crisis and then slash the funding a few years later when the 
danger has ebbed.



 15

When Ebola emerged in West Africa in 2014 and 2015, Congress appropriated 
$5.4 billion for the international efforts to fight the outbreak, and in 2016, 
when the mosquito-borne illness Zika threatened the southern United States, 
Congress appropriated $1.1 billion.13,14 But the money was time-limited and 
could not be used to build up overall preparedness within the nation’s public 
health system.15

Over the past year, Congress has begun to address the paucity of funding to 
public health departments, passing bills that include billions of dollars aimed 
at bolstering the workforce during the pandemic as well as improving virus 
surveillance and testing, contact tracing, and developing COVID-19 treatments 
and vaccines.16 

In March 2021, Congress passed the American Rescue Act, which allocated 
close to $100 billion in funding to address current and short-term future 
public health needs.17 The Biden administration has committed to spend $7.4 
billion of that funding to create a 21st-century public health workforce with 
the epidemiologists and data analysts that will be needed for prevention 
and response to the next pandemic.18 But a portion of the American Rescue 
Act funding is time-limited and specific to responding to COVID-19, raising 
concerns that once the pandemic has ended, the nation will repeat the boom-
and-bust cycle for pandemic funding.19

This report focuses specifically on three critical elements policymakers 
could address to strengthen the public health system—intergovernmental 
roles, responsibilities and accountability, data infrastructure, and public health 
financing—so that the United States is better prepared to combat emerging 
disease threats in the future. By taking critical steps to address these shortfalls, 
the nation will be in a stronger position to support the long-term health of its 
citizens and leave it in a better place for inevitable emergencies.



16

Recommendations: 
Intergovernmental Roles and 
Responsibilities

Background
The U.S. public health system is a complex network of governmental agencies 
and private organizations. Public health agencies are led by federal, state, local, 
territorial, and tribal governments. At each level of government, health agencies 
possess a varied degree of legal authority to carry out public health activities 
including disease surveillance, testing, vaccinations, and policy development. 
Most public health interventions occur at the state and local level, which allows 
elected and public health officials to tailor efforts to the unique needs of the 
community. However, this system of governance can create barriers when 
planning and executing a unified national response during a public health 
emergency that must be directed by strong federal leadership.

The COVID-19 pandemic created unprecedented challenges and offered 
important lessons learned for the U.S. public health system. The number of 
COVID-19 infections, deaths, and hospitalizations in the U.S. indicates an 
invaluable lesson—resources alone are not enough to protect the nation’s 
health. The U.S. ranked among the top 10 out of 98 countries with respect 
to preparedness under the voluntary Joint External Evaluation process.20 
Further, in 2019, the Global Health Security Index ranked the U.S. No. 1 out of 
195 countries in terms of preparedness.21 Despite these stellar preparedness 
rankings, the U.S. continues to lead the world in number of COVID-19 deaths.22 
Thus, cementing the notion that though the United States was prepared in 
theory and on paper, the country fell short in practice. 

The suboptimal U.S. response to COVID-19 is a result of many factors: delayed 
surveillance and testing; a lack of inventory in the federal Strategic National 
Stockpile (SNS) and poor distribution of PPE and critical medical material; 
unclear and varying federal guidance on community mitigation strategies and 
personal protective measures (e.g., masks) to combat the spread of the virus; and 
ambiguity at the federal level as to who was in charge during the pandemic. 

However, beginning in spring 2021, the country started to see encouraging 
improvements in COVID-19-related deaths and hospitalizations.23 This is 
largely due to the Trump administration recognizing the benefit of COVID-19 
vaccines and making an early robust investment toward vaccine development 
and large-scale production as well as the Biden administration leading the 
massive logistical effort to distribute and administer vaccinations alongside 



 17

the private sector. While these critical steps will protect the country moving 
forward, it cannot reverse the harm that has already been done. Overall, despite 
the nation’s resources and a previously developed pandemic plan, a two-
dimensional readiness effort at the outset of the pandemic was not enough. 
Exercising pandemic plans prior to an emergency and having a sufficient and 
trained frontline workforce to respond are important—and clear and consistent 
federal leadership is a critical enabler. 

The federal government plays an essential role in supporting state and local 
public health departments by providing technical assistance, funding, and 
guidance in nonemergency and emergency times.  HHS leads federal public 
health activities primarily through its various agencies such as the CDC, the 
Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and the National Institutes of Health 
(NIH). In the time of a public health crisis, the secretary of HHS has authority 
to declare a public health emergency. In 2013, Congress designated HHS as the 
lead federal department for pandemic response under the Pandemic and All-
Hazards Preparedness Act. Under HHS, the Assistant Secretary for Preparedness 
and Response (ASPR) is the lead coordinator of the aforementioned HHS 
agencies’ preparedness efforts and ensures close collaboration with other federal 
departments and agencies, especially the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) and 
the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), along with other agencies 
in the Department of Homeland Security.

The White House plays a critical leadership and coordination role during a 
public health emergency to ensure a whole-of-government response.

The president can declare a national emergency through several laws, including:

• Stafford Act—Authorizes the federal government to provide technical and 
logistical response assistance and funds traditionally to states, territories, 
and tribal localities during emergencies through FEMA. Former President 
Trump declared a national emergency for the COVID-19 pandemic under 
the Stafford Act on March 13, 2020. This is the first instance in which the 
Stafford Act was invoked to declare an emergency that covers the entire 
nation. The act does not supersede other federal authorities.24,25 

• National Emergencies Act—Allows the president to waive federal 
regulatory requirements. This act grants the Secretary of HHS the ability 
to waive certain Centers for Medicare and Medicaid program requirements. 
Former President Trump declared a national emergency under the National 
Emergencies Act on March 13, 2020 in response to COVID-19.26

• Defense Production Act—Provides additional presidential authorities 
including those that can expand the nation’s productive capacity and supply 
through the DOD.27 Former President Trump first invoked the Defense 
Production Act in April 2020 to mitigate supply chain issues related to the 
production of ventilators and N95 face masks.28  



18

The HHS secretary can activate additional resources during an emergency 
through the following Acts: 

• Public Health Service Act—Allows the secretary to lead all federal public 
health and medical response to public health emergencies. These authorities 
include the ability to establish and maintain a Medical Reserve Corps and to 
declare a public health emergency.29 Former Secretary Azar declared a public 
health emergency through the Public Health Service Act on January 31, 2020.

• Social Security Act—Permits the secretary to waive or adjust Medicare, 
Medicaid, the Children’s Health Insurance Program, and Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) requirements. These 
authorities can be accessed only after a public health emergency has been 
declared under the Stafford Act or National Emergencies Act and the 
secretary has declared an emergency under the Public Health Service Act.30

When the federal government makes an emergency declaration, a variety of 
resources may become available to support the response including:

• Mobilizing federal assistance to states through FEMA and other agencies 
and programs in the form of financial, personal, operational, and 
technical assistance

• Launching FEMA’s National Response Framework, which guides the nation 
in responding to emergencies

• Distributing stockpiled critical medical supplies from the SNS to 
jurisdictions as a short-term, stopgap buffer when the immediate supply of 
these materials may not be available or sufficient

• Temporarily easing federal, state, and local regulatory restrictions 

• Activating emergency provisions such as the Social Security Act Section 
1135 waivers, which can ease some federal regulatory requirements on 
healthcare providers

The previous administration was inadequately organized at the outset of 
the pandemic to coordinate an efficient national pandemic response. Prior 
to 2018, responsibility for coordinating interagency pandemic response had 
been assigned to the National Security Council Directorate for Global Health 
Security and Biodefense at the White House. But in 2018, this position was 
eliminated under a counterproliferation directorate. This created an erosion of 
coordinated federal pandemic planning efforts.31 Despite the clarity provided 
by the Pandemic and All-Hazards Preparedness Act, HHS and ASPR were not 
empowered to take on the coordinator roles as intended by Congress, and the 
U.S. response to the COVID-19 pandemic was often disjointed, without clear 
delineation of roles at all levels.32 While the HHS secretary initially served as 
the point person for the federal government’s COVID-19 response, he was soon 
replaced by the vice president as head of the White House Coronavirus Task 
Force. In addition, FEMA’s initial role was unclear since the president had not 



 19

declared a national emergency under the Stafford Act until mid-March 2020. 
Further, working groups created out of the White House Task Force diluted the 
role of the ASPR. 

The federal disorganization also led to unclear guidance from federal 
agencies on issues such as data sharing, testing, mask mandates, and the 
timing and use of community mitigation measures. As a result, states and 
localities implemented a wide variety of interventions at varying times in 
the pandemic to mitigate the spread of the virus. The different approaches 
ultimately created a disparate impact on COVID-19 infection rates, deaths, 
and hospitalizations across the nation. For example, some jurisdictions, like 
King County, Washington, acted quickly and implemented key public health 
measures early, in March 2020, such as recommending that people at high risk 
for complications for COVID-19 stay home.33 Early in the pandemic, Vermont 
launched testing and contact tracing, introduced social distancing measures, 
such as closing restaurants and dismissing all schools, reduced the size of mass 
gatherings and implemented a statewide mask mandate.34 Both Vermont and 
Washington have had among the lowest number of cases and deaths per capita 
since the pandemic started. These states were among the first to implement 
stay-at-home orders when containment was not possible, which helped them 
avoid large spikes in COVID-10 during the winter months; other states like 
North Dakota never issued a stay-at-home order.35 To date, North Dakota has 
the largest number of cases per capita compared with all other states.36 Similar 
states that did not implement community measures early in the pandemic 
continued to see a high number of COVID-19 cases and death rates.37 Research 
indicates that if states had implemented evidence-based nonpharmaceutical 
measures one to two weeks earlier in their response, a substantial number of 
cases and deaths could have been prevented.38 

The overall response has also highlighted, and in some cases exacerbated, 
existing racial inequities. Compared to non-Hispanic white populations, 
Native Americans are 3.5 times as likely to be hospitalized with COVID-19; 
Hispanic populations are 3.0 times as likely, and Black populations are 2.5 
times as likely.39 Variable responses across states, including in the collection 
and reporting of data stratified by race and ethnicity, may have limited states’ 
ability to identify and respond to these disparities.

States should have the ability to tailor public health interventions to meet their 
state-specific needs. However, the experience of COVID-19 suggests the need 
for clear federal government leadership and state incentives to ensure a unified 
evidence-based response plan during emergency times.



20

Approach to Recommendations
The federal government’s COVID-19 response effort fell short partially because 
of unclear roles and responsibilities with limited coordination and oversight. 
This section offers recommendations to improve intergovernmental roles and 
responsibilities during a pandemic in three key areas:

1. Operational response—The White House, ASPR, FEMA, and CDC must 
take lessons learned from COVID-19 to optimize their role in responding to 
future pandemic threats.

2. Coordinated state operational response—Although states must tailor 
their ongoing pandemic response to the local outbreak, jurisdictions should 
implement evidence-based strategies that align with the goals of a unified 
national response at the onset of a public health emergency, and particularly 
at the peak of a pandemic, when all jurisdictions are similarly affected.   

3. Federal pandemic preparedness oversight—The U.S. needs a permanent 
independent body to ascertain the status of the nation’s pandemic response 
system to ensure the nation is prepared to respond to future threats.

Recommendations
1. Clarify and strengthen federal operational roles and responsibilities 

during a federal response to a pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic created an unprecedented catastrophic emergency 
that necessitated an all-hands-on-deck approach at the federal, state, and local 
levels. To improve the nation’s federal response to emergency events such as 
a pandemic, the White House should clearly define roles, responsibilities, 
and authorities for all relevant governmental entities. In order to execute an 
effective national pandemic response, federal agencies must have detailed 
operational plans that describe their respective roles and responsibilities, and 
conduct agency and interagency exercises to improve readiness. The White 
House has the authority and is positioned to direct federal agency preparedness 
and response efforts during a public health emergency.

As a part of strengthening federal leadership during public health emergencies 
such as pandemics, the president should appoint a White House Deputy 
National Security Advisor for Pandemic and Biothreats Preparedness, who 
is supported by the National Security Council staff. Currently the HHS 
secretary is tasked with implementing the nation’s plans for mitigating 
biothreats including infectious diseases. The secretary delegates significant 
responsibilities to ASPR including identifying and tracking spending for all 
federal biodefense programs. However, this structure gives the unrealistic 
charge to one federal department on an equivalent organizational level to direct 
other similarly positioned federal departments to act, which has contributed to 
delays in executing the National Biodefense Strategy. An effective cross-agency 



 21

response requires a structure that calls on leadership and authority at the 
level of the White House. The White House is in the right position to appoint a 
Deputy National Security Advisor that will coordinate, direct, and hold federal 
departments and agencies accountable for all biodefense preparedness and 
operational response efforts, including stockpiling efforts by the SNS.

A key role of the Deputy National Security Advisor would be to convene relevant 
federal agencies for regular pre-pandemic interagency planning meetings. The 
Deputy National Security Advisor should task the agencies with collaborative 
pandemic planning efforts, including recommendations for agencies to develop 
or update pandemic planning guidance, as necessary, and testing those plans 
in regularly scheduled exercises. When guidance is updated, it should be clearly 
communicated to state and local governments so that they can include the most 
recent information in their pandemic planning. A role similar to the Deputy 
National Security Advisor for Pandemic and Biothreats Preparedness has 
received support from the Bipartisan Commission on Biodefense.40

To further promote cross-agency collaboration, the Deputy National Security 
Advisor should reinstate the Emergency Preparedness Grant Coordination effort 
as established by the Pandemic and All-Hazards Preparedness Reauthorization 
Act of 2013. In this effort, five agencies—ASPR, FEMA, CDC, Health Resources 
and Services Administration (HRSA), and the National Highway Traffic 
Safety Administration (NHSTA)—signed an Interagency Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) to formalize their commitment to health emergency 
preparedness grant coordination.41 The Deputy National Security Advisor 
should require those five agencies renew their commitment to harmonize and 
coordinate their federal grant programs and activities with jurisdictions and 
execute a new MOU.

White House leadership and coordination of agency preparedness should be 
supplemented by congressional evaluations of roles and responsibilities to 
ensure federal entities have the necessary resources to execute emergency 
response efforts. To strengthen FEMA’s response efforts during a large-scale 
nationwide pandemic and promote federal coordination, Congress should direct 
a review of FEMA’s existing role, capacity, and authorities. On March 13, 2020, 
former President Trump declared an emergency under the Stafford Act, which 
activated FEMA into a lead role in the COVID-19 response. FEMA’s expertise is 
largely with natural disasters, and for those events, routinely coordinates multi-
agency responses to a wide variety of emergencies including those involving 
medical and health care responses through its system of Emergency Support 
Functions. However, during an infectious disease threat like COVID-19, FEMA’s 
role was not clearly defined to meet the response needs. FEMA’s resources 
were also exceedingly stretched, as it played a coordinating role in the federal 
response while preparing for the upcoming hurricane season.42 

Congress should also perform a detailed evaluation of ASPR’s capacities and 
capabilities during a public health threat. ASPR serves a primary function in 



22

supporting the nation’s operational response to public health threats as the 
primary advisor to the HHS secretary on issues related to federal public health 
preparedness and response for public health emergencies. In addition, ASPR 
currently holds operational responsibilities for the development of medical 
countermeasures and coordinating the federal response to public health 
threats. One of these responsibilities includes coordinating Emergency Support 
Function (ESF) #8—Public Health and Medical Services.43 ESF #8 plays a 
critical part in supporting the nation’s response to pandemic threats. It provides 
additional assistance to state, local, and tribal governments in functional 
areas such as public health surveillance, medical equipment and supplies, 
and public health and medical information. Indeed, the catastrophic nature of 
the pandemic overwhelmed HHS and ASPR, thus compromising the agencies’ 
ability to effectively manage and disperse ESF #8 resources. To that end, 
Congress should conduct a review of the applicability and utility of ESF #8 as 
it relates to pandemic threats and other large-scale public health emergencies. 
Consistent with current statute, the secretary of HHS and Congress should 
also assess, modify, and strengthen—where determined necessary—ASPR’s 
roles, responsibilities, and capabilities related to leading HHS responses to 
public health emergencies, including ASPR’s relationships with the relevant 
HHS agencies and partners outside HHS. The HHS secretary should task 
ASPR with developing a process for regularly engaging with subject matter 
experts, Congress, nonfederal, and nongovernmental stakeholders to determine 
standards and protocols for SNS stockpiling and product release during public 
health emergencies. The Government Accountability Office (GAO) proposed a 
similar policy recommendation in a January 2021 report.44

The CDC plays a critical role in monitoring an outbreak, developing and 
disseminating guidance and tools for public health emergency planning and 
preparedness, detecting and characterizing health threats, and informing and 
supporting the nation’s response to public health emergencies. To strengthen 
and improve the CDC’s response efforts for future pandemic threats, the HHS 
secretary should direct the CDC to analyze the agency’s management and 
response to COVID-19 and identify areas of improvement. The study should 
result in clear recommendations for corrective actions based on its findings. 
In its evaluation, the CDC should specifically examine the use of in-house 
manufacturing practices related to COVID-19 testing kit development, which 
ultimately lead to contaminated kits and nationwide testing delays, as well 
as the process for determining public guidance on the use of masks to reduce 
the spread of an infectious disease. The CDC should also reassess the decision-
making process for issuing timely mitigation guidance and protocols for data 
sharing, and develop disease surveillance indicators, such as case definitions, 
during a national emergency. At the outset of any pandemic, scientific 
knowledge and evidence about the behavior of biothreats is consistently 
evolving. As such, the CDC should allow for flexibility that errs on the side of 
caution in defining surveillance indicators to improve disease detection and 
clinical care and mitigate potential spread of novel infectious diseases. 



 23

With the guidance from the White House Deputy National Security Advisor for 
Pandemic and Biothreats Preparedness, ASPR and CDC should clearly define 
their respective operational roles and responsibilities during public health 
emergencies and conduct joint pandemic planning efforts including annual 
exercises to refine these roles and responsibilities.

2. Incentivize states to participate in a coordinated response to national 
public health threats.

The patchwork response to COVID-19 raises salient concerns about barriers to a 
coordinated national response during public health emergencies. Although federal 
guidance was issued in March 2020 that advised strict stay-at-home orders to 
all states and jurisdictions, numerous jurisdictions in the United States granted 
exceptions and/or were in close proximity to locations with entirely different 
regulations in place. One study found that some people avoided adhering to 
public health recommendations in their jurisdiction by traveling to a neighboring 
jurisdiction.45 These researchers determined, using county-level COVID-19 data, 
that increased mobility from high-incidence to low-incidence locations was 
consistently associated with increased cases in the low-incidence counties. 

States and localities have the flexibility to appropriately tailor public health 
activities to meet their community needs. In the face of public health threats, 
particularly those related to the spread of infectious diseases, state mitigation 
efforts must be supplemented by strong federal leadership through consistent 
and evidence-based guidance and tools. Pandemic planning experts have found 
that deploying nonpharmaceutical measures early in the outbreak creates the 
best chance of limiting the spread of a pandemic.46,47 At the outset of COVID-19, 
states were left to make decisions around deploying mitigation efforts without 
clear federal guidance. The COVID-19 pandemic offered valuable lessons that 
highlight the consequences of unclear and delayed federal guidance that 
promoted inconsistent state efforts. 

To strengthen future responses to national public health threats, Congress 
and the executive branch should consider creating incentives to encourage 
states and localities to follow evidence-based guidelines for disease mitigation. 
Incentives could involve additional financial resources beyond core funding, 
such as providing supplemental public health funds, to enhance a state’s 
pandemic response. Guidelines should be science-based and free from 
political interference.

3. Establish a National Board on Pandemic Preparedness to provide 
oversight and ensure the United States is equipped to respond to future 
public health threats.

The ability to respond effectively to public health threats, including novel 
infectious diseases, largely rests on the capability and resiliency of the nation’s 
public health emergency response system. The United States must constantly 



24

invest in and improve its public health preparedness system to better prepare 
for and effectively respond to the next pandemic. 

In 2007, Congress charted the National Biodefense Science Board, formerly 
known as the National Preparedness and Response Science Board. This 
federal advisory committee periodically provides guidance to ASPR and 
to the HHS secretary on preparing response efforts for emergencies with 
health impacts.48 However, there is no congressionally chartered oversight 
mechanism for evaluating the state of America’s pandemic preparedness 
system, which is reliant on the capabilities and coordination of federal, state, 
and local agencies. This lack of oversight leaves the nation vulnerable to a 
suboptimal response to future pandemics.

To ensure the United States is equipped to respond to future pandemics, 
Congress should create a National Board on Pandemic Preparedness. Indeed, 
the U.S. public health preparedness system must respond to public health 
threats beyond pandemics; however, as demonstrated during COVID-19, 
pandemic threats can uniquely impact every sector of the economy, interrupt 
social connections, have profound health impacts, and create long-lasting 
social and economic effects. It is therefore the task force’s belief that an 
adequate measure of the nation’s ability to respond to public health threats 
must be anchored in pandemic preparedness.

The board’s primary purpose is to bolster oversight of the nation’s pandemic 
preparedness infrastructure. To achieve this goal, the board will carry out 
three main objectives: 1) establish a set of metrics that sets benchmarks for 
evaluation of federal, state, and local pandemic preparedness capacity and 
capability; 2) gauge, on an annual basis, how the nation fares against these 
established metrics; 3) develop an annual report to Congress on the state of 
pandemic preparedness with specific recommendations to strengthen the 
nation’s pandemic preparedness and response. 

The board should consider the following thematic areas while developing 
the measures:

• Infectious disease preparedness and response planning including 
nonpharmaceutical and pharmaceutical mitigation measures

• Public health, emergency management, and health care 
system coordination

• Equity in emergency response planning

• Exercising response plans

• Data infrastructure; standardized data collection and reporting; data 
sharing processes and protocols; data privacy and security standards

• Real-time surveillance and systems

• Laboratory systems



 25

• Vaccination infrastructure, distribution and uptake

• Biosecurity and biosafety

• Stockpiling and supply chain resiliency

Throughout the metric development process, Congress should require that 
the board consult with stakeholders including relevant federal agencies, 
private sector organizations, and subject matter experts. The board should 
also consider alignment with the World Health Organization’s Joint External 
Evaluation. Metrics may change over time based on the specific threat levels 
of new infectious diseases. In presenting its annual findings, the board should 
incorporate a color-coding scale. The three-color scale—green, yellow, red—
would represent the nation’s overall rating in pandemic preparedness and reflect 
the sum of the nation’s score across each metric. The scale can also be useful in 
informing policymakers and the public of the state of pandemic preparedness.

An effective national response is partially dependent on state-level 
preparedness. As such, in addition to developing metrics geared toward 
evaluating the nation’s preparedness levels, Congress should require the 
board to create state-level measures and core requirements for the purposes of 
assessing state pandemic plans. States must submit their respective plans to 
the board annually, and the board will use its established measures and core 
requirements to determine states’ levels of pandemic preparedness. A composite 
index for comparison of states should be included. Congress should mandate 
that state pandemic plans meet the measures set by the board and consider 
financial consequences for noncompliance.

The board will consist of eight members, four of whom serve in the federal 
government: the secretary of HHS, the secretary of DHS, the secretary of DOD, 
and the secretary of State. The secretary of HHS will serve as the chair of the 
board. These secretaries oversee agencies and programs that are critical during 
pandemic emergencies. The secretaries will also be critical in helping to obtain 
data from within their respective departments for the board’s yearly evaluation. 
The other four members will be public representatives. These members will 
be appointed by the president and confirmed by the Senate; they should be 
nominated by an independent scientific body such as the National Academy 
of Medicine.

The board will be supported by career staff in a new Office of Pandemic 
Preparedness located at the GAO. The sole purpose of this office and its staff is 
to support the board in carrying out its functions, particularly producing the 
annual report to Congress. The board and the Office of Pandemic Preparedness 
would have an independent budget and would be financed through a mandatory 
spending stream. Additionally, the board would receive a small portion of 
earmarked funding from each of the represented departments—HHS, DHS, 
DOD, and the Department of State. 



26

Recommendations:  
Data Infrastructure

Background  
The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the need to strengthen the U.S. public 
health systems’ data infrastructure. High quality data systems are necessary 
for detecting and monitoring pathogens and guiding the policy response to 
outbreaks. The response to COVID-19 has been hindered by major gaps in data 
collection and reporting. 

Because states have the greatest authority to mandate and regulate data 
collection, the quality of federal data is dependent on consistent data submitted 
by each state. Particular attention has been given to the inconsistent collection 
of race, ethnicity, and other demographic data. Journalists and academic 
researchers filled in some of the gaps with their own databases, but collection 
of pandemic trend data should be the role of the federal government. Over 
the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, centralized federal reporting of 
demographics, hospitalizations, and testing data has improved, but there are 
continued issues with the availability and format of essential data. A recent 
report from the GAO found that, as of February 2021, information on race and 
ethnicity is missing for about half of vaccine recipients.49 Such data is critical 
to identifying and responding to disparities in disease prevalence, health care 
access, and policy actions across different populations during a pandemic. This 
missing data prevents health officials from having a clear understanding of 
equity issues related to vaccine distribution and vaccine confidence.

There has been a federal funding effort over the past two decades to improve 
the use of EHRs in health care through the Health Information Technology 
for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act,50 but there has not been the 
same investment in public health data systems. Many state and local health 
departments are still using low tech data systems with limited functionality 
and must resort to using paper documents, phone calls, and fax machines to 
request and exchange data.51 Even when EHRs are available, different EHR 
systems are often not interoperable with each other, creating additional 
challenges for data reporting between clinicians and public health departments.

Finally, the current public health data infrastructure is highly fragmented. 
Public health officials draw from a wide range of data types to detect and 
monitor diseases (Table 1). Data systems across disease categories and levels 
(local, state, and national) have different requirements, technologies, policies, 
and privacy laws. Data does not flow freely between public health organizations, 
and it does not flow between public health systems and private health care 



 27

providers. This patchwork data infrastructure leads to both gaps and duplicative 
work, hindering health officials’ ability to collect and share important health 
data. Additionally, confusing, duplicative, and inefficient processes around data 
collection and data sharing contribute to increased burden for public health 
officials and health care providers who are already carrying a heavy workload 
during the pandemic.52

The CDC has been working to fix these gaps through its Data Modernization 
Initiative (DMI), launched in 2019. The effort takes a comprehensive approach 
to improving public health data, technology, and workforce capacities.53 Under 
this initiative, the CDC strengthened core surveillance systems, released an 
open data site to foster sharing of data and informatics resources, and provided 
funding to states to improve interoperability. A full roadmap of activities and 
expected outcomes can be found on the CDC website.54

With the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic, the CDC has led a push under the DMI 

to increase use of electronic laboratory reporting and electronic case reporting (eCR) 

in health departments, integrate COVID-19 data from across multiple systems, 

and expand training programs for data science and informatics.55 As of May 2021, 
more than 7,600 health care facilities across the country are sending COVID-19 
electronic case reports to public health agencies using eCR, according to 
the CDC.56

The CDC has received an influx of funding to support data modernization 
efforts over the past year. In both FY2020 and FY2021, Congress appropriated 
$50 million to the CDC for data modernization.57 Additionally, the Coronavirus 
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act of March 2020 included $500 
million for data modernization, and the American Rescue Plan of March 2021 
provided an additional $500 million.58 In FY2020, the CDC used $130 million 
of CARES Act funding to support “Enhancing CDC Services and Systems 
for Ongoing Data Modernization,” including contracts for cloud migration, 
enterprise data analysis, and rapid person-based data collection.59 However, 
this funding may not be enough for long-term data infrastructure support (see 
Financing section). To ensure a more interoperable data infrastructure with 
timely data sharing, current and future funding will have to tie accountability 
metrics to standards for data reporting, collection, and interoperability.



28

Table 1

Data Types for Early Detection and Situational Awareness

Emergency room data/Syndromic surveillance

Electronic health records/Electronic case reporting

Electronic lab reporting 

Border surveillance 

Genomic surveillance

Vital records 

Demographic data

Notifiable diseases 

Outbreak forecasting modeling 

Wastewater surveillance 

Pharmaceutical data 

Animal health/zoonotic data

Blood bank data

Vaccination registries

Vaccination production, distribution and supply chain

Treatment production, distribution and supply chain

Quarantine/isolation data

Contract tracing data

Hospital capacity and supplies

Search and location data from private companies



 29

Approach to Recommendations
Given the wide scope of data types used for public health, there is a need 
for a coordinated effort to ensure that data reporting and collection is not 
burdensome to clinicians, health care facilities, states, and localities, and 
that data sharing across levels of government and surveillance systems is 
accomplished with minimal effort. To this end, the first two recommendations 
in this section call for a set of cross-cutting policy changes to strengthen public 
health data collection and exchange, both during public health emergencies and 
nonemergency times. The first set of changes would ensure more alignment and 
standardization for data collection and reporting; the second would improve 
data sharing and interoperability. In addition, a final recommendation builds 
upon vaccine-related data systems developed during COVID-19, which can be 
standardized and strengthened to better inform future pandemic responses.

Recommendations 
1. Establish federal data collection and reporting standards to improve 

consistent collection of core public health data across data systems, 
with a prioritized focus on race and ethnicity data.

Establishing cross-cutting data collection and reporting standards

Currently, the quality and type of data collected varies widely across federal 
programs and states. Standardizing data collection across public health 
departments, federal agencies, and clinical health care facilities will improve 
data quality and facilitate data sharing across agencies. By simplifying and 
clarifying complex data collection processes, data standards can also help 
reduce the burden on clinicians and public health professionals.

Public health departments may receive data from clinical health care facilities, 
laboratories, pharmacies, prescription drug monitoring programs, schools, and 
other sources. Local health department data is usually funneled to state health 
departments. State health departments and federal health agencies share data 
bilaterally. Importantly, data collection needs are different at the federal, state, 
and local level. Any standards must allow for some flexibilities across different 
levels of government and take into consideration the ability across jurisdictions 
to meet proposed standards.

Recent efforts through the CDC’s DMI have improved electronic standards for 
data collection related to COVID-19. However, further progress is needed to 
define core data and standardize data collection across federal programs and 
diseases. ONC recently established a Public Health Data Systems Task Force 
to examine policy and technical gaps in data collection and surveillance.60 
This new task force should consider defining a “core public health dataset,” 
developing additional standards for data collection, and developing a plan for 
implementing those standards, including linking them to funding mechanisms. 
In these efforts, the task force should engage with the CDC, CMS, state and 



30

local stakeholders, as well as the private and academic sector. A similar 
recommendation has been made by the GAO and is included in the proposed 
Health STATISTICS Act of 2021.61

“Core public health data” should include essential data that state and local 
agencies collect and report to the federal level. Any data that is necessary for 
public health surveillance and response—such as demographic information, 
electronic laboratory data, travel health data, genomic sequencing data, and 
electronic vital records data—should be included as core public health data. It 
will be critical to engage state and local stakeholders in this process to create 
buy-in, assess limitations, and ensure data needs are appropriately captured. 
Once core data is clearly defined, standards are needed to inform consistent 
data collection efforts in state and local public health. There is also a need to 
ensure clear protocols and processes for data reporting (i.e., who is reporting 
what data, where, and to whom). Clearer protocols can help reduce duplicative 
reporting between different public health and clinical organizations. Because 
legal requirements and infrastructure limitations vary across jurisdictions, 
such protocols and standards will have to be flexible enough to account for 
these differences.

Additionally, because efforts around data standardization are spread across 
multiple different program streams, it can be difficult to track what progress 
has been made. HHS should submit a report to Congress and the new Office of 
Pandemic Preparedness on current streams of funding, activities, and program 
requirements related to data collection and standardization. Congress should 
provide funding to support these activities.

Prioritizing race, ethnicity, and other demographic data
The health disparities in the COVID-19 pandemic have revealed the urgent 
need to set standards around race, ethnicity, and other demographic data. 
Although such standards would be included in the broader process described 
above, demographic data should be treated as a first priority. Standardization of 
collection and reporting of demographic data is critical to tracking disparities 
across different populations during a pandemic and deploying targeted 
interventions. Additionally, pathogen samples and other collected data must 
represent individuals from diverse races, geographies, and other demographics. 
While some progress has been made in demographic data collection throughout 
the course of the pandemic, many demographic data is still incomplete.62 The 
CDC should set national standards to improve the collection and reporting of 
race, ethnicity, gender, primary language, disability status, occupation, and 
other demographic data. These demographic data standards should be tied to 
data collection and reporting standards developed by the Public Health Data 
Systems Task Force as outlined above. They should also be tied to future funding 
streams to states and localities to incentivize their use. The CDC should also 
work with the private sector to ensure that test results and vaccination data, 
among other data, include complete demographic information.



 31

As recommended in a previous report from the Bipartisan Policy Center, 

Congress should give the CDC the authority to require race and ethnicity 
reporting from jurisdictions during public health emergencies.63 Authority 
currently falls to states and territories to mandate demographic data collection, 
which contributes to variable quality of the data. Additionally, the CDC should 
take steps to ensure that categories used to capture race, ethnicity, and other 
demographic data are appropriate. The agency should engage with stakeholders 
to ensure that options included for demographic questions accurately reflect 
various identities and are sufficiently specific as to capture disparities within 
certain communities. Finally, some individuals may feel uncomfortable 
disclosing their demographic information for fear of discrimination. The CDC 
should acknowledge these concerns and prioritize privacy and transparency in 
demographic data collection.

2. Improve data sharing and interoperability by establishing integrated 
platforms for detection and surveillance of public health threats, 
clarifying privacy standards during public health emergencies, 
and encouraging data exchange between clinical and public health 
organizations.

Establishing an integrated infectious disease surveillance system to detect 
emerging disease threats

The United States currently uses multiple early warning systems across 
different federal agencies to detect and monitor novel pathogens. For example, 
the CDC manages the National Notifiable Disease Surveillance System, the 
National Syndromic Surveillance Program, the U.S. Outpatient Influenza-like 
Illness Surveillance Network, and the Global Disease Detection Operations 
Center, among others. Outside the CDC, the Department of Homeland Security’s 
National Biosurveillance Integration Center and the Department of Defense’s 
National Center for Medical Intelligence play a role in detecting and assessing 
biological threats. Having multiple systems leads to duplicative data entry and 
creates additional burden for providers. Currently, data from a single case of 
salmonella must be reported to seven different CDC data systems, including the 
Laboratory-based Enteric Disease Surveillance System, the National Notifiable 
Disease System, and others.64,65 Given that several different federal agencies and 
data systems are currently involved in disease surveillance, the United States 
could benefit from a more comprehensive and streamlined approach. 

The CDC should establish an integrated infectious disease surveillance system, 
which would expand and strengthen surveillance efforts. This system could 
draw from components of its Influenza Surveillance System, which is uniquely 
multifaceted and comprehensive. The Influenza Surveillance System includes 
five different categories of data: virologic data, outpatient illness surveillance, 
mortality surveillance, hospitalization data, and summaries of geographic 
spread.66 This data comes from public health, hospital, and clinical laboratories; 



32

outpatient providers; state vital statistics offices; hospital admissions databases 
and infection control logs; and state health departments. This system plays 
an important role in identifying early outbreaks and novel types of influenza 
viruses. However, the United States does not currently have the same capacity 
for monitoring other novel viruses. Thus, an integrated surveillance system 
could strengthen surveillance efforts for other novel pathogens before they 
begin to spread widely. This system could be used to inform modeling and 
analytics within the National Center for Epidemic Forecasting and Outbreak 
Analytics, which the Biden administration is currently designing.67 The 
CDC should expand data collection for an integrated surveillance system to 
capture data from all methods of patient care, including telemedicine visits, 
home health care, travel health, and blood banks. The system should also 
capture genomic sequencing data from specimens obtained as part of routine 
surveillance. It could also potentially integrate search and location data from 
private companies, like search engines and social media. Table 1 lists data types 
that are important for early detection and could be included in such a system. 
It will also be critical for an integrated surveillance system to expand data from 
global sources; thus, global diplomacy and partnership will play an important 
role in a successful early warning system.

Establishing a national consolidated data platform for use during a public 
health emergency

Once a disease threat has been identified through early detection systems, 
public health officials, clinicians, and policymakers need up-to-date data to 
provide situational awareness and to inform the public health response. This 
data must be easily accessed and shared across state, federal, and private entities 
in a timely manner. However, current barriers to interoperability can lead to a 
slow uncoordinated response during public health emergencies. 

To establish federal leadership for data modernization efforts across HHS, 
Congress should direct the HHS secretary to ensure alignment of data 
modernization efforts across federal agencies and offer high-level strategic 
direction. The secretary should delegate operational leadership to ONC, working 
with CMS and CDC. These agencies should partner with state and local 
public health departments and the private sector to integrate and modernize 
public health data infrastructure. Along with designating clear operational 
leadership roles within HHS, the secretary should ensure that the position 
of chief technical officer at the CDC be filled immediately to assist with data 
modernization efforts.

To improve interoperability during a public health emergency between levels of 
government and different data types, the HHS secretary should ask the NAM to 
convene stakeholders across the private, public, and academic sectors to study 
how to design a national interoperable data platform to improve access to health 
data and other relevant data needs during ongoing public health emergencies.



 33

The NAM study should:

• Propose a national platform that would integrate data from emergency 
rooms, EHRs, laboratories, as well as genomic data, travel health data, and 
additional data types outlined in Table 1.

• Consider under what circumstances data should be linked, such that 
genomic, clinical, and epidemiological data are connected to inform the 
public health response during a public health emergency.

• Consider the specific data needs of state, localities, tribes, and territories, and 
ensure the proposed data platform is flexible to meet those needs.

• Ensure that the platform supports the use of application programming 
interfaces (APIs), which is a method that allows for rapid, cost-effective data 
sharing, and the Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) standard 
for formatting data elements. Both APIs and FHIR standards have been 
required for IT developers in ONC’s 21st Century Cures Act Final Rule.68

• Include the core public health dataset defined in recommendation 1, and 
specify how data should be accessible and to whom during a public health 
emergency, as well as examine issues on governance, security, and privacy.

• Ensure the data platform minimizes repeated data entry and has clear 
processes defining how and when changes are made.

The study should conclude in one year and propose an actionable model 
that could be implemented by the HHS secretary through ONC, CDC, and 
CMS. Interoperability and participation in the proposed platform should be a 
condition of future funding mechanisms outlined in the Financing section of 
this report. As part of the implementation, federal leadership should develop a 
formal implementation plan with stakeholders to provide clarity and to ensure 
long-term sustainability of the newly developed model.

Lessons could be learned from the Chicago Department of Public Health’s 
successful partnership with Rush Medical Center to create a comprehensive 
COVID-19 data platform that collects electronic lab reporting and clinical data 
from the Epic EHR, which includes hospital capacity. This data is displayed 
through dashboards and can inform both hospitals and COVID-19 response 
efforts by identifying when hospitals are getting overwhelmed, and whether 
specific populations are being disproportionately impacted.69

Issuing clarif ying guidance defining privacy and security standards during public 
health emergencies

Health information should be shared with public health authorities in a 
manner that protects patient data but allows public health officials to have 
the information necessary to respond to emerging and ongoing emergencies 
or outbreaks. HIPAA regulates how covered entities (e.g., health plans, health 
care providers, and health care clearinghouses) and their subcontractors use 



34

protected health information (PHI). However, HIPAA does not cover all entities, 
most notably, digital wellness applications, such as contact tracing, exercise, and 
mental health apps, and certain patient portals, such as FollowMyHealth®.70,71 
This is especially concerning given that a recent national survey found that over 
50% of adults 50–80 years old have set up patient portals. Unprotected data is 
often used for marketing purposes, and patients may not be aware that their 
data is no longer protected under HIPAA. This contributes to an overall lack 
of transparency for consumers around what data is being collected, for what 
purpose, and for what duration. Moreover, there is a need for consultation and 
collaboration with communities that will be impacted by data collection.

In December 2020, the HHS Office for Civil Rights (OCR) issued guidance to 
clarify HIPAA regulations regarding covered entities and whether subcontractors 
can use health information exchanges (HIEs) to share patient information 
with public health authorities.72 The guidance clarified issues around a 
subcontractor’s ability to share patient data, and the minimum necessary 
data required to fulfill a public health authority’s request. This will permit 
subcontractors to share PHI data with public health authorities during a public 
health emergency, without explicit permission from the covered entity, as long as 
the covered entity is notified within 10 days.

HHS should also issue further guidance on how PHI should be shared during a 
public health emergency and during an emerging threat, prior to a public health 
emergency declaration; cybersecurity best practices; de-identification of data; 
and data expiration processes. Given there is health data that is not protected by 
HIPAA, Congress should consider extending HIPAA protections to other entities 
collecting health data including, but not limited to, digital health apps and 
patient portals.

Updating ONC’s United States Core Data for Interoperability Standards and CMS’ 
Promoting Interoperability Program

Electronic Case Reporting (eCR) is the automated real-time transmission of 
EHR case reports from health care systems and providers to public health 
agencies.73 This allows state and local public health agencies to automatically 
receive relevant clinical data, such as data on transmissible diseases, to 
inform case investigations and follow-up. The United States Core Data for 
Interoperability (USCDI) outlines a set of standardized data components that 
health IT developers (e.g., EHR vendors) have to support. These standards set 
a baseline for data elements that must be shared across systems, including 
lab results, vital signs, and demographic information. ONC has an established 
process to continuously update USCDI, and public health stakeholders have 
continued to engage with ONC to improve interoperability between health 
systems and public health departments. While Version 1, which was issued in 
2020, and the proposed Version 2 both include elements related to electronic 
laboratory reporting, the standards do not address all of the data needed to track 



 35

population-level trends. ONC should continue to work with the CDC—along 
with the eCR collaborative, states, localities, tribes, and territories—to ensure 
that USCDI Version 3 prioritizes data elements that would connect EHR data 
with public health data.74 The CDC and ONC should co-chair the development of 
Version 3, with support from the HHS secretary. To ensure the timely inclusion 
of public health data into USCDI, the HHS secretary should establish a deadline 
for Version 3.

To encourage eCR among hospitals, CMS should require that eCR be included 
as one of the standards that providers have to reach in the Promoting 
Interoperability Program. This program, formerly known as the EHR 
Incentive Program, is the latest iteration of the effort to spur EHR uptake and 
interoperability across the health system.75 Currently, the program includes 
eCR as one of six measures that eligible hospitals or critical access hospitals 
can choose to demonstrate active engagement with public health agencies. 
Requiring eCR could help increase data exchange of clinical data with public 
health departments.76 This policy change has recently been advocated for by Pew 
Charitable Trusts, The Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, and the 
American Medical Informatics Association.77

3. Build upon data collection and sharing efforts during COVID-19 to 
strengthen vaccination data systems for use during future infectious 
disease pandemics.

Strengthening federal leadership for developing systems to digitize 
vaccination information

Widespread vaccination will reduce the number of people who become ill 
with COVID-19, decrease community disease transmission, and facilitate a 
safe return to activities during COVID-19 and future pandemics. The CDC has 
recently issued guidance that advises that those who are fully vaccinated can 
resume certain activities.78 Yet there is not currently a reliable system in place to 
identify who has been fully vaccinated. The federal government should ensure 
that there is a system that allows for digital verification of vaccination and 
testing information. 

Several private companies are working on platforms that an individual could 
use to digitally access their vaccination information or COVID-19 test results. 
Such digital systems may eventually be used by private businesses, such as 
airlines or restaurants, to check the health status of customers. Currently, New 
York state is requiring major venues, like theaters and sports arenas, to verify 
COVID-19 vaccination or health status. Customers may choose to show paper 
documentation of a test or vaccine, but they can also use Excelsior Pass, a 
mobile platform developed by IBM for the state.79 The Excelsior Pass has built-in 
security measures and does not store any PHI on users’ mobile devices. Users 
can delete passes once they no longer need them.



36

The Biden administration has stated that the federal government will not issue 
vaccine passports or collect personally identifiable vaccination information.80  
Yet, particularly in light of the recent change in CDC guidelines, there is 
demand from private business, cities, and states for systems that allow for 
digital verification of vaccination and testing information. Individuals, too, 
may want easy access to their vaccination information so they can resume 
international travel. The European Union recently announced that Americans 
with proof of vaccination could now travel to the area.81 The federal government 
has a key role to play in promoting the development of a vaccination credential 
system by ensuring that credentials protect privacy and are synchronized, 
secure, and high quality. A federally led system would be the best way to 
promote interoperability and ensure quality and authenticity; such a system 
would not mandate or track vaccinations but would enable employers and 
businesses that want to verify vaccination status to easily do so. If not currently 
feasible, the federal government should, at minimum, develop standards for 
private sector efforts in this area to prevent fraud and protect privacy.

There are several benefits to promoting strong federal leadership around 
vaccination credentials. National leadership in this area will be particularly 
helpful to small businesses that want to reopen cautiously but may have limited 
resources to spend on vaccination verification processes. Without government 
support, the onus may fall on business owners and their employees to figure 
out how to verify health status safely and accurately—and how to pay for 
verification processes. Federal standards can also help protect against fraud 
and abuse, similar to the way that Real ID standards improve authenticity.a 
Additionally, federal government involvement in this area will help protect 
patient privacy. The government can ensure that these digital systems collect 
only the minimum amount of data necessary and delete the data after it is 
no longer needed. Finally, government standards can ensure more equitable 
access so that vaccination verification is not solely available to those with 
smartphones. If such a framework works well for COVID-19, the federal 
government could consider applying lessons learned to address future public 
health crises.

Institutionalizing the current COVID-19 vaccination tracking system

Timely, accurate, and complete pandemic vaccination uptake data is critical 
to inform vaccine manufacturers and distributors, public health officials, and 
clinicians. Currently, states manage their own Immunization Information 
Systems (IIS), which have varying functionalities. Different IISs may collect 
different types of data, and they are often not interoperable with each 
other. There was no national real-time system to track administration of 
pandemic vaccinations before the COVID-19 pandemic started. To manage 

a Passed by Congress in 2005, the REAL ID Act set minimum standards related to the 
issuance of identification, such as driver’s licenses. (Department of Homeland Security, 
“Real ID Frequently Asked Questions.” Available at: https://www.dhs.gov/real-id/real-id-
faqs) 

https://www.dhs.gov/real-id/real-id-faqs)
https://www.dhs.gov/real-id/real-id-faqs)


 37

vaccine distribution and track doses administered during COVID-19, HHS 
has established a new network of databases that expands and builds upon 
preexisting immunization data systems.82 This system integrates data from 
state IISs with other sources, including patient data from pharmacies and 
shipment data from the federal distributor and private companies. The 
central platform newly developed by HHS consolidates all of this data to track 
vaccine manufacturing, allocation, distribution, and administration. The 
expanded system allows for the collection of far more detailed data and greater 
transparency around vaccine supply and demand.

While it is an improvement, the current immunization tracking system is not 
perfect. Due to interoperability issues and state data infrastructure limitations, 
some states are still relying on paper data or manual data sharing. Some of 
the new platforms have suffered from technical bugs, and many health care 
providers have found them hard to use.83 Additionally, collection of demographic 
data, such as race and ethnicity, has been variable across states.84 HHS should 
evaluate the utility of the newly developed system, including the success of its 
implementation. In addition, HHS should formalize and strengthen the system 
for use during future pandemics. Any needed adjustments should be made to 
ensure that the systems involved are functional, easy to use, and can capture all 
needed data in as close to real time as possible.



38

Recommendations:  
Public Health Financing

Background  
The country’s response to COVID-19 reflects underinvestment in health security 
specifically, but also more broadly in public health infrastructure and programs. 
State and local public health departments struggled to deal with public health 
challenges long before COVID-19. Limited and inconsistent funding of public 
health has allowed COVID-19 to have a disproportionate impact, in particular in 
rural areas85 and on communities of color.86

Public health spending makes up a small amount of the total money the 
U.S. government spends annually on health. CMS reported that for Calendar 
Year 2019, governmental spending on public health was $97.8 billion, or 2.6% 
of total national health expenditures of $3.8 trillion.87 As a percentage of 
total health expenditures, funding for governmental public health activities 
has fallen for more than a decade from 3.0% in 2008.88 Yet from 2008 to 
2018, the economy saw annual average growth of 3.3%, and national health 
care expenditures for disease care saw annual average growth of 4.3%. The 
decade also saw drops in life expectancy, pervasive health disparities, and 
increasing mortality rates from major communicable disease emergencies and 
an opioid crisis.89 Scholars have criticized the official level of governmental 
public health spending as an overestimate, and argue that actual government 
spending is between one-third and two-thirds of that number, or between $35 
billion and $64 billion when spending on individual health care services—
such as behavioral health—is taken out.90 Measuring government public 
health spending has been challenging, and produced different estimates 
because of “the lack of a universally accepted definition of public health 
activity, the uncertain boundaries between government public health 
activity and other governmentally provided personal health care and social 
services, and the difficulty of matching revenue streams with public health 
activity expenditures.”91

The money that goes to state and local public health departments is not only 
a fraction of the above amount but is inconsistent and limited in how it can 
be used. Though many of the agencies within HHS and a few others focus on 
public health, most funds go through the CDC. This is provided on an annual 
basis through congressional appropriations committees as “discretionary” 
spending. The appropriators can choose what level they want to provide each 
year, largely to the CDC, and the CDC then gives grants to states and localities 
largely tied to specific diseases and categories.92 Public health departments thus 



 39

receive very little money they can use to make the long-term investments to 
develop much-needed cross-cutting capabilities and are thus caught unprepared 
during emergencies. That has not fundamentally changed with the response 
to COVID-19. Unfortunately, the CDC’s budget has stayed virtually flat over 
the last decade after adjusting for inflation, and funding for prevention and 
public health activities and emergency preparedness and response has dropped 
sharply, despite the worrying trends stated earlier. 

The Affordable Care Act established the Prevention and Public Health Fund 
as the country’s first permanent annual appropriation dedicated to improving 
the public health system and administered through the CDC. Funding was 
supposed to increase from $500 million in 2010 to $2 billion annually by 
2015. However, Congress hasn’t fully funded it since 2012. The money has 
been used instead to offset other spending.b  Congress allocated only about 
$900 million to the fund in FY2020 and has directed the funding through the 
annual appropriations process since FY2014.93 From FY2013 to FY2027, the 
fund is set to have $11.85 billion of its funding cut due to congressional action.94 
Declining state budgets have also diminished public health department 
capabilities following the 2009 recession. Since 2010, spending for state public 
health departments has fallen 16% per capita, and spending for local health 
departments has fallen by 18%.95 States also differ in making public health 
funding a priority. Adjusting for population, in 2019, Missouri spent the least, 
at $7 per person, while the District of Columbia spent the most, at $363 per 
person, followed by New Mexico, at $140 per person.96 Authors of a study looking 
at state-level public health concluded that funding “is not being calibrated 
to need.”97

Though the country created numerous federal public health preparedness and 
response program authorities after 9/11, Hurricane Katrina, and the threat of 
H5N1 avian influenza, the government was still unable to generate a sufficient 
coordinated response for COVID-19. In 1983, Congress created the Public 
Health Emergency Fund for the HHS secretary to use in the event the president 
declares a public health emergency,98 but that account had zero dollars in it 
when the pandemic came to U.S. shores. At the start of COVID-19’s spread in 
the United States, the HHS secretary was able to draw $108 million from the 
Infectious Disease Rapid Response Reserve Fund, which had been created by 
Congress in 2018 to “prevent, prepare for, or respond to a declared infectious 
disease emergency,”99 and then asked Congress for an additional $1.25 billion in 
supplemental funding. Until that money was approved, the government had to 
divert $136 million from other accounts to combat the pandemic.100,101,102 

b  The fund “has been raided to support the training of primary care clinicians, avoid cuts 
to physician reimbursement, finance a small portion of the 21st Century Cures Act, and 
briefly extend the Children’s Health Insurance Program.” John Auerbach, “The Promise 
of and Lessons From the Prevention and Public Health Fund,” American Journal of Public 
Health 109, no. 4 (April 1, 2019): pp. 533-534.  



40

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress did pass five supplemental 
appropriations measures and the American Rescue Plan outside of regular 
appropriations, providing almost $400 billion for public health related activities. 
However, most of the money has gone toward time-limited, COVID-specific 
purposes, including $178 billion for the Provider Relief Fund; $47.8 billion for 
COVID-19 testing, contact tracing and mitigation activities; and about $15 
billion for COVID-19 vaccines, therapeutics, medical supplies, and products. As 
of late May, the CDC has awarded only $52 billion of supplemental funding to 
state, tribal, local, and territorial public health organizations, with $30.2 billion 
awarded through the Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) Cooperative 
Agreement for departments to “facilitate capacity for infectious disease control 
and prevention” and $755 million distributed for emergency response to COVID-
19.103 Though $7.66 billion was provided to HHS to maintain and expand the 
U.S. public health workforce, the country will have to go further in providing 
sustained funding that looks beyond the current pandemic to better prepare the 
country for the future. 

History has shown us that sustained investments in health security have 
been hard to come by. Instead, investments follow a boom-and-bust cycle 
of “a massive funding response to a crisis, followed by a quick retreat.”104 In 
FY2020, the country allocated $547 million in the budget for global health 
security threats, compared to $750 billion for the U.S. military.105 The Strategic 
National Stockpile (SNS), too, has suffered from underinvestment, with supplies 
never being fully replenished following the 2009 H1N1 pandemic.106 In 2019, 
although health officials requested $1.5 billion for the SNS, the White House 
asked Congress to appropriate only $705 million.107 Insufficient funding has 
also diminished U.S. capacity to monitor overseas health developments, and 
only a small proportion of total global development assistance for health 
has gone toward investments in pandemic preparedness and health systems 
strengthening, despite the global nature of pandemic threats.108 The United 
States has clearly failed to learn lessons of earlier pandemic and simulation 
exercises, which highlighted critical funding gaps that were expected to hamper 
a future pandemic response.109 

As the federal government was caught on its back foot by COVID-19, so too 
were the states, which had seen their share of funding slashed over the past 
decade. In FY2018, states spent $860.1 million on all-hazards preparedness 
and response activities; of that, $741.6 million or 86% came from the federal 
government. Local health departments reported that a similar percentage of 71% 
came from the federal government. Federal emergency preparedness support 
had been falling for years as the following examples demonstrate:

• After adjusting for inflation, funding for the CDC’s Public Health Emergency 
Preparedness Cooperative Program, the “primary source of federal support 
for state and local public health emergency preparedness and response,” 
decreased by 20% from $847 million in FY2010 to $675 million in FY2020.



 41

• The Hospital Preparedness Program (HPP), a program created after 9/11 
and designed to improve medical surge capacity of community and health 
systems to deal with various public health threats, has experienced a 50% 
reduction in funding since 2003.110

The insufficient funds the federal government provides to states and localities 
for public health emergency preparedness and response is part of a larger 
problem in public health more broadly. Public health experts have repeatedly 
warned policymakers about the dangers of underfunding the public health 
system and the need for more governance flexibility. In 2012, the Institute of 
Medicine (IOM) released a report on population and public health, focused on 
public health financing. The report identified insufficient funding in public 
health and “dysfunction in how the public health infrastructure is funded, 
organized, and equipped to use its funding” as the two main issues responsible 
for the country’s poor health outcomes and high health care expenditures.111 
The report advocated giving state and local public health departments greater 
latitude in how they used federal funds to meet population health goals and 
incentivizing public health system stakeholders to better coordinate. The 
Institute also developed a minimum package of public health services, including 
Foundational Capabilities and basic programs every health department requires, 
like emergency preparedness and response, as well as management of chronic 
diseases such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes.

The minimum package, called the Foundational Public Health Services, 
was defined in such a way that individual elements could have their costs 
estimated and could help inform public health funding decisions, with the goal 
that Congress would authorize “a dedicated, stable, and long-term financing 
structure” to appropriate the necessary money for every community to deliver 
the minimum package.112 Lack of investment in these Foundational Capabilities 
and basic programs (Foundational Areas) are directly associated with health 
departments’ inability to address key challenges of COVID-19 in many cases 
and poor population health that put the population at higher risk of mortality 
and morbidity.113 A seminal study done in 2018 estimated that an additional 
investment of about $11 billion, or $34.3 per capita, was necessary to close the 
resource gap and achieve full implementation. Of that $11 billion, $4.5 billion 
was attributable to Foundational Capabilities and $6.5 billion was attributable 
to Foundational Areas.114

The IOM recognized that building a public health system that would possess 
Foundational Capabilities and deliver programs in all Foundational Areas 
required agreed-upon definitions of public health activity across all levels 
of governments, coupled with a standardized financing accounting system 
for public health, something sorely missing. Health departments across the 
country still use highly idiosyncratic financial accounting systems that are not 
designed for financial and program management, making it difficult to see how 
particular inputs lead to outcomes or allow for comparisons and accountability. 



42

The 2012 report recommended building a uniform chart of accounts that 
would complement existing financial account systems. Adoption of such a 
system would prepare health departments to not only start developing the 
minimum package of public health services with federal support, but become 
more efficient and informed in decision-making.115 In collaboration with state 
and local health officials, the Public Health National Center for Innovations, 
and with funding from HHS and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the 
Public Health Activities & Services Tracking at the University of Washington 
has piloted and continues to test a Uniform Chart of Accounts with the goal 
of widespread adoption to increase transparency and accountability for public 
health investments.116 

The public has understood the dangers of underinvestment in public health 
funding as well. A May 2021 survey from the Harvard Opinion Research 
Program and Robert Wood Johnson Foundationc found that over 70% of adults 
“favor substantially increasing federal spending on improving the nation’s 
public health programs” and the same proportion believes public health agency 
activities are very or extremely important to the nation’s health. Though 
COVID-19 was unsurprisingly most often chosen as one of the top two health 
problems currently, public health issues of obesity, heart disease, diabetes, and 
drug addiction/abuse together were perceived by many as serious challenges.117

Approach to Recommendations
The following recommendations fit into a strategy of enhancing the country’s 
ability to combat pandemics and other public health emergencies and also 
enabling state, local, territorial, and tribal public health departments to engage 
in the day-to-day activities to promote health and address disparities through 
the Foundational Public Health Services framework. They build on promising 
existing activities, models, and opportunities while introducing necessary 
funding and structural alignment.

For the federal government to plan and prepare for similar emergencies in 
the future:

1) Assess federal funding of pandemic preparedness and response, and exempt 
essential federal public health functions from all budget restrictions

For the federal government to provide immediate, necessary resources to 
impacted jurisdictions in a transparent, accountable, and flexible manner:

2) Replenish and encourage the use of the Public Health Emergency Fund 
immediately following the declaration of a public health emergency and as 
the vehicle for supplemental appropriations addressing the emergency

For state, local, territorial, and tribal public health departments to perform the 

c  Robert Wood Johnson Foundation is one of the funders of this project.



 43

necessary functions that support basic public health protections and other key 
programs and activities:

3) Create a new mandatory fund of $4.5 billion to support foundational state 
and local public health capabilities, to be administered by appropriators 
annually to HHS for these purposes

For state, local, territorial, and tribal public health departments to deliver topic-
specific programs and activities that prevent morbidity and mortality from 
public health emergencies, reduce disparities across multiple dimensions, and 
improve quality of life: 

4) Reform and increase the funding of the Prevention and Public Health Fund 
from $900 million to $4 billion to finance Foundational Areas and local 
needs, including communicable disease control, to improve health and reduce 
downstream costs of medical care

A public health excise tax would raise at least $7.6 billion to finance the last 
two recommendations.

Recommendations
1. Assess existing federal funding of pandemic preparedness and response 

activities for opportunities to increase coordination and efficiency and 
improve equity. For programs deemed highest priority to prevent, detect, 
and address infectious disease threats, create a permanent budget 
designation named Biodefense Interagency Operations outside annual 
302(a) allocations, and should they be established by future legislation, 
outside overall budget limitations.

Though the pandemic has not ended, policymakers and researchers have already 
identified some of the gaps and shortcomings in the federal response.118,119 For 
example, underfunding of the SNS led to severe shortages in PPE early on in 
the pandemic.120 Many of the recommendations in the first section build on 
that work with the goal of supporting the mission-critical functions that only 
the federal government can take on, but there is still a lack of clarity on how 
and whether federal funding of emergency preparedness and response across 
different agencies effectively address biological threats.121 Federal funding to 
health departments through Public Health Emergency Preparedness cooperative 
agreements and the HPP have also dropped sharply.122

To this end, Congress should form a Joint Select Committee including members 
representing the relevant authorizing and appropriating committees to evaluate 
existing federal funding, identify mission-critical investments, and produce 
legislative recommendations with stakeholder feedback on how interagency 
funding can be better coordinated and optimized. The large inflow of short-
term, limited funding in COVID-19 supplemental appropriations legislation 
and the focus of testing, treatment, and vaccination of the most vulnerable 



44

populations further warrants an evaluation of the activities that should be 
funded in the future in anticipation of future pandemics. Those programs 
deemed mission-critical would receive the Biodefense Interagency Operations 
(BIO) exemption, allowing them to be exempt from budget caps, including any 
possible new discretionary spending limits enacted after their expiration at 
the end of FY2021. Federal departments and agencies should also be allowed 
to independently request the BIO exemption for their programs to ensure the 
country remains vigilant and primed for pandemic threats.

Appropriations Committees in Congress would still provide oversight and 
accountability in approving exemptions, and subsequently as part of their 
regular reports. The Congressional Budget Office would be tasked with detailing 
total federal funding, exempt and nonexempt, directed toward pandemic 
emergency preparedness and response. The National Board for Pandemic 
Preparedness recommended in the previous section would report on how 
funding has advanced federal pandemic preparedness capacity and capability.

In addition to the Public Health Emergency Preparedness cooperative 
agreements and the HPP, examples of programs, projects, and activities that 
could potentially be tagged with the BIO exemption include:

• National Center for Epidemic Forecasting and Outbreak Analytics: President 
Joe Biden issued an executive order the day after his inauguration for his 
senior staff to develop a plan to create an interagency organization “to 
modernize global early warning and trigger systems to prevent, detect, and 
respond to biological threats.”123 Envisioned as the disease forecasting version 
of the National Weather Service, which itself required decades of investment 
to develop into its current form, the organization would be able to centralize 
outbreak modeling and analytics expertise to inform public health policy 
on a permanent basis.124 Investments up to now have largely been in the 
form of conditional, academically oriented grants, and researchers have been 
challenged by data issues, while the center would enable government and 
academics to work closely and continually improve science and technology.

• HHS Regional Disaster Health Response System: The Bipartisan 
Commission on Biodefense recommended in a March 2021 report that 
Congress authorize and fund, on a multiyear basis, a stratified biodefense 
hospital system, where hospitals would be categorized based on their 
capability to treat patients affected by infectious diseases due to bioterrorism 
and other events. CMS would associate hospital funding with hospitals’ 
ability to meet accreditation standards set for each stratum. Such a system 
would place patients where they could be treated most efficiently and enable 
resources to be better allocated to where they are needed.125

• SNS: The Stockpile was meant to serve as a backstop to states and health 
care organizations that had exhausted their medicines and medical supplies 
during a public health emergency. However, the rigorous federal decision-



 45

making process for determining what to stockpile had diminished over time. 
The SNS’s supply of face masks and N95 respirators had not been replenished 
since 2009 and was woefully inadequate in providing the PPE and ventilators 
needed, especially during the early part of the pandemic.126

Additional funding in future years could support the attainment of pandemic 
preparedness metrics set by the national board.

Former CDC Director Tom Frieden and other public health officials have 
proposed a similar idea, including the requirement that designated programs 
submit a bypass professional judgment budget annually to Congress explaining 
the resources needed for public health defense.127

2. Allocate funding to the Public Health Emergency Fund for use 
immediately following a Public Health Emergency declaration and use it 
as the primary vehicle for supplemental appropriations funding.

To enable the federal government to rapidly deploy funding as a stopgap 
measure in a public health emergency until Congress is able to pass emergency 
supplemental appropriations, Congress should add significant funding to the 
Public Health Emergency Fund and consider passing future supplemental 
appropriations through the fund in future emergencies. 

There is currently no money in the existing Public Health Emergency Fund to 
support a designation of a public health emergency by an HHS secretary. This 
lack of permanent funding necessitates either the transfer of funds from other 
programs within the executive branch, to the extent that is possible, or delays 
in waiting for supplemental funding from Congress. Both of these options 
have drawbacks and can hamper an emergency response when speed is of 
the essence.

Though Congress has recently established and maintained the funding of 
the Infectious Diseases Rapid Response Reserve Fund, that fund is primarily 
operated by the director of the CDC, not HHS, and has limited authority. The 
Public Health Emergency Fund is managed by the secretary of HHS and is 
designed to be used across HHS for a larger range of purposes related to public 
health emergencies, and contains oversight mechanisms, including a mandated 
review by GAO.128 The Infectious Diseases Rapid Response Reserve Fund will 
be critical in launching the response to future infectious disease pandemic, 
but would be unable to fund the response to disasters like nuclear accidents, 
chemical spills, natural disasters, or nonbiologic terrorist attacks.129 If the 
Public Health Emergency Fund was not empty at the start of the pandemic, the 
secretary arguably could have used its funding to better coordinate activities in 
the agency, spent the money according to criteria much more detailed than the 
Reserve Fund, and automatically triggered reports from HHS to Congress, as 
well as a GAO review.130



46

Congresswoman Rosa DeLauro, chair of the House Appropriations Committee, 
has introduced legislation to allocate a one-time payment of $5 billion to 
the Public Health Emergency Fund to better prepare the government for 
future emergencies.131

3. Allocate $4.5 billion in permanent annual mandatory funding to a new 
Public Health Infrastructure Account to support state, local, tribal, and 
territorial foundational public health capabilities.

The funding would enable state and local health departments to develop the 
minimal cross-cutting skills that are needed to support their delivery of public 
health programs and leverage the investment made through the American 
Rescue Plan to hire and train public health workers and encourage innovation. 
The $4.5 billion would be fully paid for through the public health excise tax 
explained in detail below, and though it would be transferred into an account 
through mandatory appropriations, the money must still be appropriated 
through the annual appropriations process. Funding would start at a lower 
annual level and then build up to $4.5 billion to enable jurisdictions to absorb 
increased funding and strengthen accountability. The HHS secretary would 
award 90% of the appropriated money in grants to jurisdictions based on factors 
including population size, level of health disparities, and level of health risk 
and chronic disease burden in the community, and public health governance 
structure. The remaining 10% would go toward federal technical assistance, 
research and development projects related to Foundational Capabilities, 
and oversight.

The grants would expressly go toward developing the following Foundational 
Capabilities, listed with the roles they could potentially play in addressing key 
COVID-19 challenges identified by the NAM and BPC:

1. Assessment/Surveillance 

• Organization and execution of COVID-19 tests and contact tracing

2. Emergency Preparedness and Response

• Development of public reporting mechanisms, emergency protocols 
responsive to changing conditions, and advancements in testing 
technology and capacity

3. Policy Development and Support

• Understanding of scope of legal mandate and authority, and development 
of infection control policies, including enforcement

4. Communications

• Combat misinformation and execution of public information campaigns 
conveying best practices and responding to concerns



 47

5. Community Partnership Development

• Coordinate across sectors to frequently perform out-of-scope functions, 
like procuring necessary materials and working with clinical providers

6. Organizational Competencies

• Proficiently lead and coordinate with other governmental entities, and 
provide IT, HR, financial, and legal services underlying all functions

7. Accountability/Performance Management

• Assessment of progress and setbacks on new processes, programs, and 
interventions while following state and national mandates and guidelines

8. Equity

• Understanding disparities in the impact of COVID-19 and policies dealing 
with COVID-19, and reduce them through the use of data, targeted 
outreach and education, prioritization of resources, and recognition of the 
intersection of social determinants of health and unique challenges faced 
by marginalized populations

All jurisdictions (states, territories, and localities) would be able to apply 
for the grants and must include a preliminary assessment of their existing 
Foundational Capabilities in their application. As a condition of receiving 
the grants, jurisdictions have to specify how the funds will advance specific 
Foundational Capabilities and agree to the following conditions:

•  Adopt and use a uniform “chart of accounts” whereby jurisdictions will 
crosswalk their accounting systems onto a standardized public health 
financial data tracking system, where expenditures and revenues can 
be categorized into Foundational Capabilities, Foundational Areas, and 
local needs.

• Meet interoperability requirements, data collection, and reporting standards 
to align with the CDC’s DMI, pursuant to the recommendations included in 
the Data Modernization Initiative.

• Receive accreditation aligned with the Foundational Public Health Service 
framework within five years to demonstrate progress toward attaining 
these capabilities.

• The Public Health Accreditation Board has aligned the standards and 
domains (groups of standards) in its current version of its accreditation 
standards and measures with the Foundational Capabilities and will 
work to further align them to the measures level that is used to evaluate 
whether standards have been met when they update their process — set 
to take effect in 2022.132



48

• Meet pandemic preparedness benchmarks set by the National Board 
on Pandemic Preparedness once released, as described in the second 
recommendation under Intergovernmental Roles and Responsibilities.

• Funds received will supplement—not supplant—existing state and local 
dollars funding public health infrastructure.

Beyond these, states and territories must also agree to:

• Develop or modify an existing state health improvement plan to explain 
how the funds will go toward developing Foundational Capabilities with the 
participation of all local health departments, including localities that have 
not applied for these grants. 

• Develop a dashboard with community and partner engagement to track 
progress on equity measures.

• Use a portion of the money to test the ability of entities under their 
jurisdiction to deal with a public health emergency through simulated 
exercises and drills.

The increase in mandatory funded programs in the last few decades beyond 
the traditional entitlement programs of Social Security, Medicare and Medicaid 
have generated pushback from budget and appropriations committees in 
Congress and external actors concerned about the federal deficit. However, 
the longstanding underfunding and lack of attention paid to public health, 
particularly in states and localities, have deepened gaps in the country’s 
ability to address public health challenges and emergencies. A two-step 
process of mandatory appropriations into a dedicated fund and discretionary 
appropriations from that fund presents the possibility of stable funding subject 
to congressional control. The account would follow the model used by Congress 
for the 21st Century Cures Act133: 

1) The NIH Innovation Account in the 21st Century Cures Act is set up with 
specified amount of funding transferred to the account every year that 
Congress has authorized to be used for NIH Innovation Projects, defined 
elsewhere in the statute. In the case of the Public Health Infrastructure 
Account, $4.5 billion would be transferred annually and authorized to 
be used as CDC grants to jurisdictions for Foundational Capabilities and 
supporting activities.

2) While the transferred money for the NIH Innovation Account comes from 
“direct spending savings” through budget offsets including Medicare and 
Medicaid reductions, funds transferred from the Prevention and Public 
Health Fund, and stock sales from the Strategic Petroleum Reserve, among 
other offsets, the money transferred to the Public Health Infrastructure 
Account comes from revenue generated by the Public Health Excise Tax. 
In both cases, the transfer is budget neutral and would not raise the 
federal deficit.



 49

3) In addition to fully offsetting the transferred money, the legislation contains 
language ensuring that “appropriations from the “Innovation Account” are 
made at “no cost” to the Appropriations Committee as measured against its 
[§302(b)] allocation,” so that funding for these Innovation Projects do not 
supplant funding for other programs and are not supplanted themselves. 
The same instruction applied to the Public Health Infrastructure Account 
ensures a commitment to critical funding to states and localities to develop 
these cross-cutting public health capabilities, as appropriators would not 
have any incentive to reduce funding since doing so would not have an effect 
on the allocation of money for other programs and agencies.

This model satisfies advocates and authorizing committees on one side who 
support stable funding, and budget and appropriation committees that wish to 
retain their authority over appropriations and not relinquish more control over 
the budget. 

Members in both chambers of Congress have introduced legislation calling 
for the same amount of money but without a dedicated financing source and 
containing other differences.134 Almost 260 organizations, including BPC Action, 
have supported increasing annual funding for CDC, state, local, tribal, and 
territorial core public health infrastructure by $4.5 billion.135   

4. Reform and increase annual funding to the existing Prevention and 
Public Health Fund from its current level of about $900 million to $4 
billion to bolster inadequately supported public health programs and 
meet local needs

Congress should reauthorize funds from the Prevention and Public Health 
Fund to go toward grants to local and state health departments to support 
Foundational Areas of public health, and toward Preventive Health and Health 
Services Block Grants, which give health departments “the flexibility to solve 
problems unique to their residents, while still being held accountable for 
demonstrating the local, state and national impact of the investments.”136 Health 
departments that are accredited would have increased flexibility to spend these 
funds and would be encouraged to provide shared services and collaborate on 
regional initiatives. The Task Force recommends reforming and increasing the 
funding for the Prevention and Public Health Fund so it solely supports public 
health programs delivered by states and localities, is protected from cuts and 
disruptions from both parties, and is tied to broader-based public health reform. 

The Prevention and Public Health Fund was unfortunately used to “support 
federal priorities that were, at best, loosely tied to public health or prevention” 
and saw billions in dollars of cuts, largely to offset other legislation items.137 
The ACA gave Congress authority to transfer money from the fund to use for 
broad, authorized purposes, which Congress has used for the past several years 
to largely supplant instead of supplement existing programs administered by 



50

the CDC, contrary to its initial purpose of expanding prevention and public 
health programs without subjecting them to the annual appropriations process. 
For political and fiscal reasons, Congress has also used money from the fund to 
offset the cost of other items.138 This has created a “robbing Peter to pay Paul” 
dynamic.139 Statutory language would be added to law to prevent Congress from 
using the Prevention Fund for purposes not specifically articulated as Congress 
has been doing since 2014, specifically prohibiting the use of the Prevention and 
Public Health Fund by Congress or the Administration to offset other costs.140  

Given existing funding of about $900 million, an increase of $3.1 billion 
annually, phased in over several years, would be a major investment toward the 
approximately $6.5 billion gap in resources needed for health departments to 
deliver the programs in Foundational Areas, and a sound investment in light 
of a McKinsey report that estimates that poor health costs the country about 
$3.2 trillion annually from premature deaths and lost productivity.141 Not only 
has the poor health of the U.S. population left it more vulnerable to COVID-19, 
but the resource gaps will worsen due to severe effects of the pandemic on 
population health in areas like mental health and opioid addiction, and the 
“damage it has made to progress on other public health priorities.”142 Working 
together with public and private health care partners, public health departments 
can also use lessons learned from the fight against COVID-19 in redesigning 
programs so they address “monumental health care disparities.”143

The Foundational Areas are:

1. Communicable Disease Control

2. Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention

3. Environmental Public Health

4. Maternal, Child, and Family Health

5. Access to and Linkage with Clinical Care

Most of the money in the Prevention and Public Health Fund has been used to 
combat public health challenges such as diabetes and smoking.144 But the money 
has not been enough to fully address America’s chronic health issues. COVID-19 
told the tale of why this gap was deadly. A study of COVID-19 hospitalizations 
attributed 30% to obesity, 25% to hypertension, 20.5% to diabetes, and 11.7% 
to heart failure. Jointly, 63.5% of hospitalizations could be attributed to these 
four conditions.145 These results underscore how the poor health in the U.S. 
population has exacerbated the effects of the pandemic and suggest how 
effective public health interventions would have limited deaths and serious 
illnesses from COVID-19. Public health challenges will only continue to grow. 
Almost half of Americans by 2030 are expected to be obese, and obesity is 
“associated with increased rates of chronic disease and medical spending…
[with] negative consequences for life expectancy.146 Other challenges include the 



 51

increased prevalence of sexually transmitted diseases, the increase in nicotine 
addiction with the rise of vaping, and the widening health gap between the rich 
and the poor.147

Research has shown that public health investments can both improve health 
outcomes and reduce health care spending. A 2017 systemic review found a 
$14 return for every $1 spent on public health interventions in high-income 
countries.148  Life expectancy in America increased by 30 years in the 20th 
century, and public health has been credited as responsible for 25 of those added 
years.149 Groups such as Trust for America’s Health have recommended restoring 
and growing the Prevention and Public Health Fund so it would be used to 
promote public health and prevention.150

Financing mechanism—Public Health Excise Tax

The task force believes that a financing mechanism should be identified to 
fund the $7.6 billion in new annual funding called for in Recommendation 
Nos. 3 and 4. Taxes on products that have an adverse effect on health not only 
have the potential to generate substantial amounts of funding but can lead 
to direct and indirect savings through discouraging behavior that may cause 
disease. Any revenues raised in addition to what is needed for the Public Health 
Infrastructure Account and the increase in funding to the Prevention and 
Public Health Fund could be used to cover losses in state revenue from the 
implementation of any of the options.

The country has had a long record of levying excise taxes, largely to help finance 
public goods like highways and airports. According to the Tax Policy Center, 
“Federal excise tax revenues—collected mostly from sales of motor fuel, airline 
tickets, tobacco, alcohol, and health-related goods and services—totaled nearly 
$100 billion in 2019, or 2.9 percent of total federal tax receipts.”151  The following 
are possible excise tax options to fund new public health appropriations.

The Congressional Budget Office has considered several excise taxes 
among options for reducing the deficit from 2021 to 2030, and produced the 
following estimates:152

• Increasing the federal tax on tobacco: An increase in the federal excise 
tax on all tobacco products (not including e-cigarettes which are not taxed 
federally), including cigarettes, cigars, pipe tobacco, and roll-your-own 
tobacco, by 50%, would generate $3.6 billion annually, and also reduce 
government expenditures by $80 million annually. Cigarettes are currently 
taxed on the federal level at $1.01 and from 17 cents to $4.50 on the state level 
for each pack. 

• Increasing the federal tax on alcohol: Standardization and increasing the 
tax on alcoholic beverages to $16 per proof gallon would raise $8.34 billion 
annually, and $9.56 billion annually if indexed for inflation.



52

Other options include:

• New federal tax on nicotine in vaping and other similar purposes: A 
tax of $50.33 per 1,810 milligrams of nicotine, as proposed in the Protecting 
American Lungs Act of 2019, would apply to all nicotine in this category 
except for approved nicotine replacement therapy and nicotine covered in the 
federal tobacco tax. This would generate about $1.5 billion annually.153

• New federal tax on sugar-sweetened beverages: A few localities in the 
United States have levied soda taxes on sugary drink taxes. The rise in 
obesity has been linked to excess sugar consumption.154 A study in 2015 
found that a national excise tax of 1 cent per ounce would have positive 
health effects, save $23.6 billion over 10 years, and generate $12.5 billion in 
annual revenue.155 A study in 2020 found that a tax at the same level would 
raise $80 billion in tax revenues and save $55 billion in national health care 
costs over 30 years, but a tiered tax (no tax for low sugar levels, 1 cent per 
ounce for medium sugar levels, and 2 cents per ounce for high sugar levels) 
would produce approximately double the health gains and savings.156 



 53

Conclusion

As the United States continues its recovery from COVID-19, the nation needs to 
turn its focus to revitalizing the public health system and prepare the country 
for the next wide-scale public health emergency. BPC’s Future of Health Care 
leaders’ recommendations represent a common-sense, bipartisan path toward 
the goal of preventing a repeat of the economic, social, and health disruptions 
over the past year and a half. Congress and the White House need to create 
clarity on federal roles during a pandemic; a stronger mechanism for inter-
agency cooperation during an emergency; and should ensure the nation is 
adequately investing in public health emergency preparedness at the federal, 
state, and local level. The public health system cannot fulfill emergency 
responsibilities without high quality data; therefore, policymakers should 
support the development of 21st-century, interoperable data and technology 
systems to sufficiently respond to health disasters. COVID-19 has shone a 
bright light on long-standing disparities in the health outcomes across racial, 
ethnic, and income groups. Providing long-term investments in the public 
health system of at least $7.6 billion annually will ensure the system develops 
Foundational Capabilities to address public health emergencies and can 
carry out foundational public health functions—such as obesity and diabetes 
reduction, drug addiction prevention, and discouragement of tobacco and 
e-cigarette use—to foster a healthier population that is less susceptible to 
infectious diseases like SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19. BPC’s 
leaders appreciate the significant resources Congress has already provided 
for these efforts and the executive branch’s implementation efforts. These 
recommendations are the next step to build on the lessons learned from 
COVID-19, and to position the country to support the long-term health of 
its citizens. 



54

Endnotes

1 Johns Hopkins University & Medicine Coronavirus Resource Center, “COVID-19 
Dashboard by the Center for Systems Science and Engineering at Johns Hopkins 
University,” May 21, 2021. Available at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html.

2 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, “Poll: Public Supports Substantial Increase in 
Spending on U.S. Public Health Programs, But Has Serious Concerns About How the 
System Functions Now,” May 13, 2021. Available at: https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/
articles-and-news/2021/05/poll-public-supports-substantial-increase-in-spending-on-us-
public-health-programs.html?cid=xrs_rss-nr.

3 Public Health National Centers for Innovations, Foundational Public Health Services 
Factsheet, November 2018. Available at: https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-
Factsheet-November-2018.pdf. 

4 Public Health Law Center, State & Local Public Health: An Overview of Regulatory Authority, 
William Mitchell College of Law. Available at: https://publichealthlawcenter.org/sites/
default/files/resources/phlc-fs-state-local-reg-authority-publichealth-2015_0.pdf.

5 Rhea K. Farberman, Matt McKillop, et al., “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on 
America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020,” Trust 
for America’s Health, April 2020. Available at:  https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf.

6 Johns Hopkins University & Medicine Coronavirus Resource Center, “COVID-19 
Dashboard by the Center for Systems Science and Engineering at Johns Hopkins 
University,” May 21, 2021. Available at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html; Centers 
for Disease Control and Prevention: “Risk for COVID-19 Infection, Hospitalization, and 
Death by Race/Ethnicity,” Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/
covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html. 

7 Homeland Security Digital Library, “2018 National Biodefense Strategy,” October 5, 
2018. Available at: https://www.hsdl.org/c/2018-national-biodefense-strategy/.

8 Deb Reichmann, “Trump Disbanded NSC Pandemic Unit that Experts had 
Praised,” Associated Press, March 14, 2020. Available at: https://apnews.com/
article/donald-trump-ap-top-news-virus-outbreak-barack-obama-public-health-
ce014d94b64e98b7203b873e56f80e9a.

9 Government Accountability Office: HHS Should Clarify Agency Roles for Emergency Return 
of U.S. Citizens During a Pandemic, GAO-21-334, April 2021, Available at: https://www.gao.
gov/assets/gao-21-334.pdf. 

10 Josh Lederman, “Trump’s Coronavirus Team Puts Internal Battles on Public Display,” 
NBC News, July 16, 2020. Available at: https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/white-house/
trump-s-coronavirus-team-puts-internal-battles-public-display-n1234011.

11 Lauren Weber, Laura Ungar, et al., “Hollowed-Out Public Health System Faces More 
Cuts Amid Virus,” Kaiser Health News and the Associated Press, July 1, 2020, updated 
August 24, 2020: Available at: https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-
underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/. 

https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-news/2021/05/poll-public-supports-substantial-increase-in-spending-on-us-public-health-programs.html?cid=xrs_rss-nr
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-news/2021/05/poll-public-supports-substantial-increase-in-spending-on-us-public-health-programs.html?cid=xrs_rss-nr
https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-news/2021/05/poll-public-supports-substantial-increase-in-spending-on-us-public-health-programs.html?cid=xrs_rss-nr
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf
https://publichealthlawcenter.org/sites/default/files/resources/phlc-fs-state-local-reg-authority-publichealth-2015_0.pdf
https://publichealthlawcenter.org/sites/default/files/resources/phlc-fs-state-local-reg-authority-publichealth-2015_0.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html
https://www.hsdl.org/c/2018-national-biodefense-strategy/
https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-ap-top-news-virus-outbreak-barack-obama-public-health-ce014d94b64e98b7203b873e56f80e9a
https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-ap-top-news-virus-outbreak-barack-obama-public-health-ce014d94b64e98b7203b873e56f80e9a
https://apnews.com/article/donald-trump-ap-top-news-virus-outbreak-barack-obama-public-health-ce014d94b64e98b7203b873e56f80e9a
https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-21-334.pdf
https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-21-334.pdf
https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/white-house/trump-s-coronavirus-team-puts-internal-battles-public-display-n1234011
https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/white-house/trump-s-coronavirus-team-puts-internal-battles-public-display-n1234011
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/


 55

12 Andrea Grenadier, “NAACHO New Analysis: Changes in Local Health Department 
Workforce and Finance Capacity Since 2008,” National Association of County and City 
Health Officials, July 10, 2020, Available at: https://www.naccho.org/blog/articles/
naccho-new-analysis-changes-in-local-health-department-workforce-and-finance-
capacity-since-2008. 

13 Jennifer Kates, Josh Michaud, et al.,, “The U.S. Response to Ebola: Status of the FY2015 
Emergency Ebola Appropriation,” Kaiser Family Foundation, December 11, 2015. 
Available at: https://www.kff.org/global-health-policy/issue-brief/the-u-s-response-to-
ebola-status-of-the-fy2015-emergency-ebola-appropriation/. 

14 Sheila Kaplan, “Congress Approves $1.1 Billion in Zika Funding,” Scientific American, 
September 29, 2016. Available at: https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/congress-
approves-1-1-billion-in-zika-funding/.

15 Lauren Weber, Laura Ungar, et al., “Hollowed-Out Public Health System Faces More 
Cuts Amid Virus,” Kaiser Health News and the Associated Press, July 1, 2020, updated 
August 24, 2020: Available at: https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-
underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/.

16 Kavya Sekar, Agata Bodie, et al., “U.S. Public Health Service: COVID-19 Supplemental 
Appropriations in the 116th Congress,” Congressional Research Service, March 
11, 2021. Available at: https://www.everycrsreport.com/files/2021-03-11_
R46711_1402ab19e040dd7fc77b08aa9078de4ebf28d20c.pdf. 

17 Holland & Knight’s Public Policy & Regulation Group, “American Rescue Plan Act of 
2021: Summary,” March 2021. Available at: https://www.hklaw.com/-/media/files/
insights/publications/2021/03/americanrescueplankeyprovisions.pdf?la=en.

18 White House, Fact Sheet: “Biden-Harris Administration to Invest $7 Billion from 
American Rescue Plan to Hire and Train Public Health Workers in Response to 
COVID-19,” May 13, 2021. Available at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/
statements-releases/2021/05/13/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-to-invest-
7-billion-from-american-rescue-plan-to-hire-and-train-public-health-workers-in-
response-to-covid-19/. 

19 Steven Findlay, “Landmark Covid Relief Law Pumps More Than $100 Billion Into Public 
Health,” Kaiser Health News, March 18, 2021. Available at: https://khn.org/news/article/
public-health-gets-100-billion-dollar-boost-from-biden-covid-relief-law/.

20 The Independent Panel, “COVID-19: Make it the Last Pandemic,” May 2021. Available at: 
https://theindependentpanel.org/mainreport/.

21 Global Health Security Index, “Global Health Security Index,” 2019. Available at: https://
www.ghsindex.org/.

22 Johns Hopkins University, “COVID-19 Dashboard,” 2021. Available at: https://
coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html.

23 Jaqueline Howard, “Coronavirus deaths are down in the US and vaccines may be partly 
responsible,” CNN, April 30, 2021. Available at: https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/30/
health/covid-19-deaths-declining-vaccines-cnn-analysis/index.html.

https://www.naccho.org/blog/articles/naccho-new-analysis-changes-in-local-health-department-workforce-and-finance-capacity-since-2008
https://www.naccho.org/blog/articles/naccho-new-analysis-changes-in-local-health-department-workforce-and-finance-capacity-since-2008
https://www.naccho.org/blog/articles/naccho-new-analysis-changes-in-local-health-department-workforce-and-finance-capacity-since-2008
https://www.kff.org/global-health-policy/issue-brief/the-u-s-response-to-ebola-status-of-the-fy2015-emergency-ebola-appropriation/
https://www.kff.org/global-health-policy/issue-brief/the-u-s-response-to-ebola-status-of-the-fy2015-emergency-ebola-appropriation/
https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/congress-approves-1-1-billion-in-zika-funding/
https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/congress-approves-1-1-billion-in-zika-funding/
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
https://www.everycrsreport.com/files/2021-03-11_R46711_1402ab19e040dd7fc77b08aa9078de4ebf28d20c.pdf
https://www.everycrsreport.com/files/2021-03-11_R46711_1402ab19e040dd7fc77b08aa9078de4ebf28d20c.pdf
https://www.hklaw.com/-/media/files/insights/publications/2021/03/americanrescueplankeyprovisions.pdf?la=en
https://www.hklaw.com/-/media/files/insights/publications/2021/03/americanrescueplankeyprovisions.pdf?la=en
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/05/13/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-to-invest-7-billion-from-american-rescue-plan-to-hire-and-train-public-health-workers-in-response-to-covid-19/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/05/13/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-to-invest-7-billion-from-american-rescue-plan-to-hire-and-train-public-health-workers-in-response-to-covid-19/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/05/13/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-to-invest-7-billion-from-american-rescue-plan-to-hire-and-train-public-health-workers-in-response-to-covid-19/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/05/13/fact-sheet-biden-harris-administration-to-invest-7-billion-from-american-rescue-plan-to-hire-and-train-public-health-workers-in-response-to-covid-19/
https://khn.org/news/article/public-health-gets-100-billion-dollar-boost-from-biden-covid-relief-law/
https://khn.org/news/article/public-health-gets-100-billion-dollar-boost-from-biden-covid-relief-law/
https://theindependentpanel.org/mainreport/
https://www.ghsindex.org/
https://www.ghsindex.org/
https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/30/health/covid-19-deaths-declining-vaccines-cnn-analysis/index.html
https://www.cnn.com/2021/04/30/health/covid-19-deaths-declining-vaccines-cnn-analysis/index.html


56

24 National Conference of State Legislatures, “President Trump Declares State of 
Emergency for COVID-19,” March 25, 2020. Available at: https://www.ncsl.org/ncsl-in-dc/
publications-and-resources/president-trump-declares-state-of-emergency-for-covid-19.
aspx.

25 Congressional Research Service, “The Stafford Act Emergency Act Declaration for 
COVID-19,” March 13, 2020. Available at: https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/
IN/IN11251.

26 Congressional Research Service, “Presidential Declarations of Emergency for COVID-19: 
NEA and Stafford Act,” March 2020. Available at: https://crsreports.congress.gov/.

27 Congressional Research Service, “The Defense Production Act (DPA) and COVID-19: Key 
Authorities and Policy Considerations,” March 2020. Available at: https://crsreports.
congress.gov/.

28 Maegan Vazquez, “Trump Invokes Defense Production Act for Ventilator Equipment 
and N95 Masks,” CNN, April 2, 2020. Available at: https://www.cnn.com/2020/04/02/
politics/defense-production-act-ventilator-supplies/index.html.

29 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “Public Health Service Act,” May 2021. 
Available at: https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/authority/Pages/default.
aspx#:~:text=Public Health Service Act The Public Health Service,health and medical 
response to public health emergencies.

30 U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, “Blanket Waivers of Section 1877(g) 
Social Security Act,” March 30, 2020. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/about-cms/
emergency-preparedness-response-operations/current-emergencies/coronavirus-waivers. 

31 Bipartisan Commission on Biodefense, “Biodefense in Crisis—Immediate Action 
Needed to Address National Vulnerabilities,” March 2021. Available at: https://
biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-
address-national-vulnerabilities/. 

32 Senator Lamar Alexander, “Preparing for the next pandemic,” U.S. Senate, June 9, 2020. 
Available at: https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Preparing%20for%20the%20
Next%20Pandemic.pdf.

33 Kaiser Family Foundation, “Stay-at-Home Orders to Fight COVID-19 in the United 
States: The Risk of a Scattershot Approach,” April 2020. Available at: https://www.kff.
org/policy-watch/stay-at-home-orders-to-fight-covid19/.

34 Vermont Department of Health, “COVID-19,” 2021. Available at: https://www.
healthvermont.gov/covid-19.

35 Amanda Moreland, Christine Herlihy, Michael Tynan, et al., “Timing of State and 
Territorial COVID-19 Stay-at-Home Orders and Changes in Population Movement – 
United States, March 1-May 31, 2020,” September 2020. Available at: https://pubmed.
ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32881851/.

36 U.S. Department of Health, “COVID-19: Community Profile Report: Report 20210523,” 
2021. Available at: https://beta.healthdata.gov/Health/COVID-19-Community-Profile-
Report/gqxm-d9w9.

https://www.ncsl.org/ncsl-in-dc/publications-and-resources/president-trump-declares-state-of-emergency-for-covid-19.aspx
https://www.ncsl.org/ncsl-in-dc/publications-and-resources/president-trump-declares-state-of-emergency-for-covid-19.aspx
https://www.ncsl.org/ncsl-in-dc/publications-and-resources/president-trump-declares-state-of-emergency-for-covid-19.aspx
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN11251
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN11251
https://crsreports.congress.gov/
https://crsreports.congress.gov/
https://crsreports.congress.gov/
https://www.cnn.com/2020/04/02/politics/defense-production-act-ventilator-supplies/index.html
https://www.cnn.com/2020/04/02/politics/defense-production-act-ventilator-supplies/index.html
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/authority/Pages/default.aspx#:~:text=Public Health Service Act The Public Health Service,health and medical response to public health emergencies.
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/authority/Pages/default.aspx#:~:text=Public Health Service Act The Public Health Service,health and medical response to public health emergencies.
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/authority/Pages/default.aspx#:~:text=Public Health Service Act The Public Health Service,health and medical response to public health emergencies.
https://www.cms.gov/about-cms/emergency-preparedness-response-operations/current-emergencies/coronavirus-waivers
https://www.cms.gov/about-cms/emergency-preparedness-response-operations/current-emergencies/coronavirus-waivers
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Preparing for the Next Pandemic.pdf
https://www.help.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/Preparing for the Next Pandemic.pdf
https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/stay-at-home-orders-to-fight-covid19/
https://www.kff.org/policy-watch/stay-at-home-orders-to-fight-covid19/
https://www.healthvermont.gov/covid-19
https://www.healthvermont.gov/covid-19
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32881851/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32881851/
https://beta.healthdata.gov/Health/COVID-19-Community-Profile-Report/gqxm-d9w9
https://beta.healthdata.gov/Health/COVID-19-Community-Profile-Report/gqxm-d9w9


 57

37 Geographic Differences in COVID-19 Cases, Deaths, and Incidence — United States, 
February 12–April 7, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69:465–471. DOI: http://
dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e4.

38 Sen Pei, Sasikiran Kandula, Jefferey Shaman, “Differential effects of intervention 
timing on COVID-19 spread in the United States,” Science Advances, 6(49), December 
2020.

39 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “Risk for COVID-19 Infection, 
Hospitalization and Death by Race/Ethnicity,” Updated May 26, 2021. Available at: 
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/
hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html. 

40 Bipartisan Commission on Biodefense, “Biodefense in Crisis – Immediate Action 
Needed to Address National Vulnerabilities,” March 2021. Available at: https://
biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-
address-national-vulnerabilities/.

41 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, “Public Health Emergency: Emergency 
Preparedness Grant Coordination,” February 2017. Available at: https://www.phe.gov/
Preparedness/planning/hpp/Pages/emergency-prep-grant.aspx. 

42 Federal Emergency Management Agency “Pandemic Response to Coronavirus Disease 
2019 (COVID-19): Initial Assessment Report,” January 2021. Available at: https://www.
fema.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fema_covid-19-initial-assessment-report_2021.
pdf. 

43 U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, “Public Health Emergency: Emergency 
Support Functions,” June 2019. Available at: https://www.phe.gov/preparedness/
support/esf8/Pages/default.aspx. 

44 U.S. Government Accountability Office, “COVID-19: Critical Vaccine Distribution, 
Supply Chain, Program Integrity, and Other Challenges Require Focused Attention,” 
January 2021. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265 - summary_
recommend.

45 Benjamin M. Althouse, Brendan Wallace, et al., “The Unintended Consequences 
of Inconsistent Pandemic Control Policies,” medRxiv, 2020. Available at:  https://
www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.08.21.20179473v1.external-links.
html?versioned=true.

46 World Health Organization Global Influenza Programme, “Non-pharmaceutical 
Public Health Measures for Mitigating the Risk and Impact of Epidemic and 
Pandemic Influenza,” 2019. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand
le/10665/329438/9789241516839-eng.pdf?ua=1.

47 Noreen Qualls, Alexandra Levitt, et al., “Community Mitigation Guidelines to Prevent 
Pandemic Influenza — United States, 2017,” Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 
Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 66(1): 1-34, 2017. Available at: https://www.cdc.
gov/mmwr/volumes/66/rr/rr6601a1.htm.

48 “About the National Biodefense Science Board,” PHE.Gov. December 2020. Available at: 
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/legal/boards/nbsb/Pages/about.aspx. 

http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e4
http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e4
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://biodefensecommission.org/reports/biodefense-in-crisis-immediate-action-needed-to-address-national-vulnerabilities/
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/hpp/Pages/emergency-prep-grant.aspx
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/planning/hpp/Pages/emergency-prep-grant.aspx
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fema_covid-19-initial-assessment-report_2021.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fema_covid-19-initial-assessment-report_2021.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/sites/default/files/documents/fema_covid-19-initial-assessment-report_2021.pdf
https://www.phe.gov/preparedness/support/esf8/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.phe.gov/preparedness/support/esf8/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265 - summary_recommend
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265 - summary_recommend
https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.08.21.20179473v1.external-links.html?versioned=true
https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.08.21.20179473v1.external-links.html?versioned=true
https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.08.21.20179473v1.external-links.html?versioned=true
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329438/9789241516839-eng.pdf?ua=1
https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329438/9789241516839-eng.pdf?ua=1
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/66/rr/rr6601a1.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/66/rr/rr6601a1.htm
https://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/legal/boards/nbsb/Pages/about.aspx


58

49 U.S. Government Accountability Office, “COVID-19: Sustained Federal Action Is Crucial 
as Pandemic Enters Its Second Year,” March 31, 2021. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/
products/gao-21-387.

50 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “HITECH Act Enforcement Interim 
Final Rule.” Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/special-topics/
hitech-act-enforcement-interim-final-rule/index.html. 

51 Celia N. Hagan, Emily J. Holubowich, et al., “Driving Public Health in the Fast Lane: 
The Urgent Need for a 21st Century Data Superhighway,” Council of State and Territorial 
Epidemiologists. Available at: https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/
pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf. 

52 Ibid.

53 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “Data Modernization Initiative,” April 2021. 
Available at:  https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/surveillance-data-strategies/data-IT-
transformation.html.

54 Ibid.

55 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “CDC Data Modernization Initiative 
– Notable Milestones: 2019-2020,” March 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/
surveillance/surveillance-data-strategies/milestones_2019-2020.html.

56 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “Healthcare Facilities in Production for 
COVID-19 Electronic Case Reporting,” May 2021. Available at:  https://www.cdc.gov/
coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/electronic-case-reporting/hcfacilities-map.html.

57 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “DMI Basics: The Why, What, and How of 
Data Modernization,” March 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/pdfs/
dmi_basics_external_audiences-March_2021.pdf.  

58  Ibid.

59 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “An Urgent Need To Modernize,” May 
2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/budget/documents/covid-19/COVID-19-Data-
Modernization-Initiative-Fact-Sheet.pdf.

60 Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, “Public Health 
Data Systems Task Force 2021,” April 30, 2021. Available at: https://www.healthit.gov/
hitac/committees/public-health-data-systems-task-force-2021.

61 U.S. Government Accountability Office, “Critical Vaccine Distribution, Supply Chain, 
Program Integrity, and Other Challenges Require Focused Federal Attention,” January 
2021. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265. 

62 U.S. Government Accountability Office, “COVID-19: Sustained Federal Action is Crucial 
as Pandemic enters Its second Year,” March 2021. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/
products/gao-21-387.

63 Thomas Armooh, Tyler Barton, et al., “COVID-19: Urgent Federal Actions to Accelerate 
America’s Response,” Bipartisan Policy Center, January 29, 2021. Available at: www.
bipartisanpolicy.org/report/future-of-health-covid19/.

https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-387
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-387
https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/special-topics/hitech-act-enforcement-interim-final-rule/index.html
https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/special-topics/hitech-act-enforcement-interim-final-rule/index.html
https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf
https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/surveillance-data-strategies/milestones_2019-2020.html
https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/surveillance-data-strategies/milestones_2019-2020.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/electronic-case-reporting/hcfacilities-map.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/electronic-case-reporting/hcfacilities-map.html
https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/pdfs/dmi_basics_external_audiences-March_2021.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/pdfs/dmi_basics_external_audiences-March_2021.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/budget/documents/covid-19/COVID-19-Data-Modernization-Initiative-Fact-Sheet.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/budget/documents/covid-19/COVID-19-Data-Modernization-Initiative-Fact-Sheet.pdf
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.healthit.gov/hitac/committees/public-health-data-systems-task-force-2021&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1620491489400000&usg=AOvVaw3oY97SHA13WbyVyqH88vwQ
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.healthit.gov/hitac/committees/public-health-data-systems-task-force-2021&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1620491489400000&usg=AOvVaw3oY97SHA13WbyVyqH88vwQ
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-387
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-387
http://www.bipartisanpolicy.org/report/future-of-health-covid19/
http://www.bipartisanpolicy.org/report/future-of-health-covid19/


 59

64 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “National Enteric Disease Surveillance: 
Salmonella Surveillance Overview, July 2011. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/
nationalsurveillance/pdfs/NationalSalmSurveillOverview_508.pdf.

65 Celia N. Hagan, Emily J. Holubowich, et al., “Driving Public Health in the Fast Lane,” 
Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, September 2019. Available at: https://
cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf.

66 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “Overview of Influenza Surveillance in 
the United States,” October 13, 2016. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/weekly/
overview-update.pdf?web=1&wdLOR=c0A936521-C6D2-7D4B-A310-1740978F68F4.

67 Joseph R. Biden, “National Strategy for the COVID-19 Response and Pandemic 
Preparedness,” January 2021. Available at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/
uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-
Preparedness.pdf.

68 The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, “About 
ONC’s Cures Act Final Rule.” Available at: https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/overview/
about-oncs-cures-act-final-rule.

69 Susan Miller, “Chicago Launches Health Analytics Platform for COVID-19,” January 7, 
2021. Available at: https://gcn.com/articles/2021/01/07/chicago-covid-analytics.aspx.

70 Geoffrey A. Fowler, “Help Desk: Can your medical records become marketing? We 
investigate a reader’s suspicious ‘patient portal,’” The Washington Post, October 22, 
2019. Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/10/22/help-desk-
can-your-medical-records-become-marketing-we-investigate-readers-suspicious-patient-
portal/.

71 Sarah Clark, “Logging In: Using Patient Portals to Access Health Information,” 
University of Michigan National Poll on Healthy Aging, May 30, 2018. Available at: 
https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-
information.

72 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights, “HIPAA, Health 
Information Exchanges, and Disclosures of Protected Health Information for Public 
Health Purposes,” December 18, 2020. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/
files/hie-faqs.pdf.

73  Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “What Is eCR?,” January 2021. Available at: 
https://www.cdc.gov/ecr/what-is-ecr.html.  

74 Ibid.

75 Practice Fusion, “What Is Meaningful Use?,” May 2021. Available at: https://www.
practicefusion.com/what-is-meaningful-use/.

76 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, “2019 Medicare Promoting Interoperability 
Program for Eligible Hospitals and Critical Access Hospitals: Public Health and 
Clinical Data Exchange Objective Fact Sheet.” Available at: https://www.cms.
gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/
FactSheet_2019PublicHealth.pdf.

https://www.cdc.gov/nationalsurveillance/pdfs/NationalSalmSurveillOverview_508.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nationalsurveillance/pdfs/NationalSalmSurveillOverview_508.pdf
https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf
https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_Print.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/weekly/overview-update.pdf?web=1&wdLOR=c0A936521-C6D2-7D4B-A310-1740978F68F4
https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/weekly/overview-update.pdf?web=1&wdLOR=c0A936521-C6D2-7D4B-A310-1740978F68F4
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/overview/about-oncs-cures-act-final-rule
https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/overview/about-oncs-cures-act-final-rule
https://gcn.com/articles/2021/01/07/chicago-covid-analytics.aspx
https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/10/22/help-desk-can-your-medical-records-become-marketing-we-investigate-readers-suspicious-patient-portal/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/10/22/help-desk-can-your-medical-records-become-marketing-we-investigate-readers-suspicious-patient-portal/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2019/10/22/help-desk-can-your-medical-records-become-marketing-we-investigate-readers-suspicious-patient-portal/
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-information&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1620491489403000&usg=AOvVaw2dkQv9QNy5EYxgUN8aiZzs
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.healthyagingpoll.org/report/logging-using-patient-portals-access-health-information&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1620491489403000&usg=AOvVaw2dkQv9QNy5EYxgUN8aiZzs
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/hie-faqs.pdf
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/hie-faqs.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/ecr/what-is-ecr.html
https://www.practicefusion.com/what-is-meaningful-use/
https://www.practicefusion.com/what-is-meaningful-use/
https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/FactSheet_2019PublicHealth.pdf
https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/FactSheet_2019PublicHealth.pdf
https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/FactSheet_2019PublicHealth.pdf


60

77 Molly Murray, Janet Hamilton, et al., “Pew Urges HHS to Prioritize Electronic Case 
Reporting to Public Health Agencies,” Pew Charitable Trusts, March 26, 2021. 
Available at: https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/speeches-and-
testimony/2021/03/26/pew-urges-hhs-to-prioritize-electronic-case-reporting-to-public-
health-agencies.

78 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “When You’ve Been Fully Vaccinated,” 
May 16, 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-
vaccinated.html.

79 New York State, “Excelsior Pass: Frequently Asked Questions.” Available at: https://
covid19vaccine.health.ny.gov/excelsior-pass-frequently-asked-questions.

80 Anna Rouw, Jennifer Kates, et al., “Key Questions About COVID-19 Vaccine Passports 
and the U.S.,” Kaiser Family Foundation, April 15, 2021. Available at: https://www.kff.
org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/key-questions-about-covid-19-vaccine-passports-
and-the-u-s/.

81  Philip Blenkinsop, “EU Agrees to Open Doors to Vaccinated Foreigners,” Reuters, May 
19, 2021. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/eu-countries-agree-ease-
travel-restictions-non-eu-visitors-2021-05-19/. 

82  Aleszu Bajak and Janet Loehrke, “Where’s the COVID-19 Vaccine? Who’s Been 
Vaccinated? Here’s How We’ll Know,” USA Today, December 16, 2020. Available at: 
https://www.usatoday.com/in-depth/news/2020/12/16/covid-19-vaccine-data-supply-
chain-software-immunization-registry-tiberius/3879655001/.

83 Cat Ferguson, “What Went Wrong with America’s $44 Million Vaccine Data System?,” 
MIT Technology Review, January 30, 2021. Available at: https://www.technologyreview.
com/2021/01/30/1017086/cdc-44-million-vaccine-data-vams-problems/?utm_
source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=a94a277bf9-MR_COPY_14&utm_
medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-a94a277bf9-152708089.

84 Rachana Pradhan and Fred Schulte, “Huge Gaps in Vaccine Data Make It Next to 
Impossible to Know Who Got the Shots,” Kaiser Health News, January 28, 2021. 
Available at: https://khn.org/news/article/huge-gaps-in-vaccine-data-make-it-next-to-
impossible-to-know-who-got-the-shots/.

85 Sandra C. Melvin, Corey Wiggins, et al,, “The Role of Public Health in COVID-19 
Emergency Response Efforts From a Rural Health Perspective,” Preventing Chronic 
Disease, Available at:  https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0256.htm.

86 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “Health Equity Considerations and Racial 
and Ethnic Minority Groups,” Updated April 19, 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/
coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html.

87 Anne B. Martin, Micah Hartman, et al., “National Health Care Spending in 2019: 
Steady Growth for the Fourth Consecutive Year,” Health Affairs, 40(1), 2020. Available at:  
https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02022 .

88 Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, National Health Expenditure Data 
(Historical), December 2020. Available at: https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-
Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/
NationalHealthAccountsHistorical. 

https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/speeches-and-testimony/2021/03/26/pew-urges-hhs-to-prioritize-electronic-case-reporting-to-public-health-agencies
https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/speeches-and-testimony/2021/03/26/pew-urges-hhs-to-prioritize-electronic-case-reporting-to-public-health-agencies
https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/speeches-and-testimony/2021/03/26/pew-urges-hhs-to-prioritize-electronic-case-reporting-to-public-health-agencies
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/fully-vaccinated.html
https://covid19vaccine.health.ny.gov/excelsior-pass-frequently-asked-questions
https://covid19vaccine.health.ny.gov/excelsior-pass-frequently-asked-questions
https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/key-questions-about-covid-19-vaccine-passports-and-the-u-s/
https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/key-questions-about-covid-19-vaccine-passports-and-the-u-s/
https://www.kff.org/coronavirus-covid-19/issue-brief/key-questions-about-covid-19-vaccine-passports-and-the-u-s/
https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/eu-countries-agree-ease-travel-restictions-non-eu-visitors-2021-05-19/
https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/eu-countries-agree-ease-travel-restictions-non-eu-visitors-2021-05-19/
https://www.usatoday.com/in-depth/news/2020/12/16/covid-19-vaccine-data-supply-chain-software-immunization-registry-tiberius/3879655001/
https://www.usatoday.com/in-depth/news/2020/12/16/covid-19-vaccine-data-supply-chain-software-immunization-registry-tiberius/3879655001/
https://www.technologyreview.com/2021/01/30/1017086/cdc-44-million-vaccine-data-vams-problems/?utm_source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=a94a277bf9-MR_COPY_14&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-a94a277bf9-152708089
https://www.technologyreview.com/2021/01/30/1017086/cdc-44-million-vaccine-data-vams-problems/?utm_source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=a94a277bf9-MR_COPY_14&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-a94a277bf9-152708089
https://www.technologyreview.com/2021/01/30/1017086/cdc-44-million-vaccine-data-vams-problems/?utm_source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=a94a277bf9-MR_COPY_14&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-a94a277bf9-152708089
https://www.technologyreview.com/2021/01/30/1017086/cdc-44-million-vaccine-data-vams-problems/?utm_source=STAT+Newsletters&utm_campaign=a94a277bf9-MR_COPY_14&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_8cab1d7961-a94a277bf9-152708089
https://khn.org/news/article/huge-gaps-in-vaccine-data-make-it-next-to-impossible-to-know-who-got-the-shots/
https://khn.org/news/article/huge-gaps-in-vaccine-data-make-it-next-to-impossible-to-know-who-got-the-shots/
https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2020/20_0256.htm
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html
https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html
https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.02022
https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsHistorical
https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsHistorical
https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/NationalHealthAccountsHistorical


 61

89 Y. Natalia Alfonso, Jonathon P. Leider, et al., “US Public Health Neglected: Flat 
or Declining Spending Left States Ill Equipped to Respond to COVID-19,” Health 
Affairs, 40(4), 2021. Available at:  https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/
hlthaff.2020.01084.

90 Jonathon P. Leider, Beth Resnick, et al., “Inaccuracy of Official Estimates of Public 
Health Spending in the United States, 2000-2018,” American Journal of Public 
Health, 110(S2):S194-S196, 2020. Available at: https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/
full/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305709. 

91 Arthur Sensenig, Beth Resnick, et al., “The Who, What, How, and Why of Estimating 
Public Health Activity Spending,” Journal of Public Health Management & Practice, 23:556-
559, 2017. doi: 10.1097/PHH.0000000000000568.

92 Matt McKillop and Dara Alpert Lieberman, “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding 
on America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2021,” 
Trust for America’s Health, May 2021. Available at: https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2021/05/2021_PHFunding_Fnl.pdf.

93 Rhea K. Farberman, Matt McKillop, et al., “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on 
America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020,” Trust 
for America’s Health, April 2020. Available at:  https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf.

94 Trust for America’s Health, “The Prevention and Public Health Fund: Preventing 
Disease and Reducing Long-Term Health Costs.” Available at: https://www.tfah.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/11/PPHF-Backgrounder-4.pdf.  

95 Lauren Weber, Laura Ungar, et al., “Hollowed-Out Public Health System Faces More 
Cuts Amid Virus,” Kaiser Health News and the Associated Press, July 10, 2002, 
Updated August 24, 2020. Available at: https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-
underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/. 

96 Caroline Au Young and Robert Hest, “Exploring Public Health Indicators with State 
Health Compare: State Public Health Funding,” State Health Access Data Assistance 
Center, May 2020. Available at: https://www.shadac.org/sites/default/files/State Public 
Health Funding_May 2020.pdf.    

97 Y. Natalia Alfonso, Jonathon P. Leider, et al., “US Public Health Neglected: Flat 
or Declining Spending Left States Ill Equipped to Respond to COVID-19,” Health 
Affairs, 40(4), 2021. Available at:  https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/
hlthaff.2020.01084.

98  Rebecca Katz, Aurelia Attal-Juncqua, et al., “Funding Public Health Emergency 
Preparedness in the United States,” American Journal of Public Health, September 2017. 
Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5594396/. 

99 Julie Steenhuysen, “U.S. Announces More Coronavirus Cases, Details Quarantine Plans 
for Returning Travelers,” Reuters, February 3, 2020. Available at: https://www.reuters.
com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-
quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6.

100 Congressional Research Service, Overview of U.S. Domestic Response to Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID-19), CRS R46219, Updated March 2, 2020. Available at: https://
crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46219.

https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01084
https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01084
https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305709
https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305709
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/PPHF-Backgrounder-4.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/PPHF-Backgrounder-4.pdf
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
https://khn.org/news/us-public-health-system-underfunded-under-threat-faces-more-cuts-amid-covid-pandemic/
https://www.shadac.org/sites/default/files/State Public Health Funding_May 2020.pdf
https://www.shadac.org/sites/default/files/State Public Health Funding_May 2020.pdf
https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01084
https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01084
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5594396/
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46219
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46219


62

101 Senator Richard Burr, Pandemic and All-Hazards Preparedness and Advancing Innovation 
Act of 2019 Section-by-Section, June 24, 2019. Available at: https://www.burr.senate.gov/
imo/media/doc/PAHPAI%20Section%20by%20Section.pdf.

102 Julie Steenhuysen, “U.S. Announces More Coronavirus Cases, Details Quarantine Plans 
for Returning Travelers,” Reuters, February 3, 2020. Available at: https://www.reuters.
com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-
quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6.

103 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, “CDC COVID-19 State, Tribal, Local, and 
Territorial Funding,” May 19, 2021. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/budget/fact-sheets/
covid-19/funding/index.html. 

104 Dan Diamond, “The Health 202: Feds supercharged public health. Now the challenge 
is wisely spending it,” The Washington Post, May 25, 2021. Available at: https://www.
washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/05/25/health-202-feds-supercharged-public-health-
now-challenge-is-wisely-spending-it/. 

105 Sylvia Mathews Burwell, Frances Fragos Townsend, et al., “Improving Pandemic 
Preparedness: Lessons from COVID-19,” Council on Foreign Relations, October 2020. 
Available at: https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/
TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf.

106 Melissa Quinn, “What you need to know about the Strategic National Stockpile,” CBS 
News, April 7, 2020. Available at: https://www.cbsnews.com/news/q-a-with-greg-burel-
former-director-of-the-strategic-national-stockpile/. 

107 Dan Diamond, “Inside America’s 2-Decade Failure to Prepare for Coronavirus,” 
Politico Magazine, April 11, 2020. Available at: https://www.politico.com/news/
magazine/2020/04/11/america-two-decade-failure-prepare-coronavirus-179574. 

108 Sylvia Mathews Burwell, Frances Fragos Townsend, et al., “Improving Pandemic 
Preparedness: Lessons from COVID-19,” Council on Foreign Relations, October 2020. 
Available at: https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/
TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf. 

109 Ibid.

110 Rhea K. Farberman, Matt McKillop, et al., “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on 
America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020” Trust 
for America’s Health, Footnote 147, April 2020. Available at:  https://www.tfah.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf.

111 Committee on Public Health Strategies to Improve Health; Board on Population Health 
and Public Health Practices; Institute of Medicine, For the Public’s Health: Investing in a 
Healthier Future, 2012. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/
pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf.   

112 Ibid.    

113 National Academy of Medicine, “Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons 
Learned and Compelling Needs,” April 2021. Available at: https://nam.edu/public-
health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-learned-and-compelling-needs/. 

https://www.burr.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/PAHPAI Section by Section.pdf
https://www.burr.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/PAHPAI Section by Section.pdf
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-health-usa-cdc/us-announces-more-coronavirus-cases-details-quarantine-plans-for-returning-travelers-idUSKBN1ZX2F6
https://www.cdc.gov/budget/fact-sheets/covid-19/funding/index.html
https://www.cdc.gov/budget/fact-sheets/covid-19/funding/index.html
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/05/25/health-202-feds-supercharged-public-health-now-challenge-is-wisely-spending-it/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/05/25/health-202-feds-supercharged-public-health-now-challenge-is-wisely-spending-it/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/05/25/health-202-feds-supercharged-public-health-now-challenge-is-wisely-spending-it/
https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf
https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/q-a-with-greg-burel-former-director-of-the-strategic-national-stockpile/
https://www.cbsnews.com/news/q-a-with-greg-burel-former-director-of-the-strategic-national-stockpile/
https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2020/04/11/america-two-decade-failure-prepare-coronavirus-179574
https://www.politico.com/news/magazine/2020/04/11/america-two-decade-failure-prepare-coronavirus-179574
https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf
https://www.cfr.org/report/pandemic-preparedness-lessons-COVID-19/pdf/TFR_Pandemic_Preparedness.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf.   
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf.   
https://nam.edu/public-health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-learned-and-compelling-needs/
https://nam.edu/public-health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-learned-and-compelling-needs/


 63

114 Cezar Brian C. Mamaril, Glen P. Mays, et al., “Estimating the Cost of Providing 
Foundational Public Health Services.” Health Services Research vol. 53 Suppl 1 (2018): 
2803-2820. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12816. 

115 Committee on Public Health Strategies to Improve Health; Board on Population Health 
and Public Health Practices; Institute of Medicine, For the Public’s Health: Investing in a 
Healthier Future, 2012. Available at:  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/
pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf.   

116 Public Health Activities & Services Tracking, University of Washington, “Uniform Chart 
of Accounts.” Available at:  https://phastdata.org/research/chart-of-accounts. 

117 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, 
The Public’s Perspective on the United States Public Health System, May 2021. Available at: 
https://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/surveys_and_polls/2021/rwjf465067. 

118 U.S. Government Accountability Office, “Critical Vaccine Distribution, Supply Chain, 
Program Integrity, and Other Challenges Require Focused Federal Attention,” January 
2021. Available at: https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265.

119 Bipartisan Commission on Biodefense, “Biodefense in Crisis: Immediate Action 
Needed to Address National Vulnerabilities,” March 2021. Available at: https://
biodefensecommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biodefense-In-Crisis-1.pdf. 

120 Daniel M. Gerstein, The Strategic National Stockpile and COVID-19: Rethinking the Stockpile, 
Testimony to Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, 
June 24, 2020. Available at: https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/testimonies/
CTA500/CTA530-1/RAND_CTA530-1.pdf. 

121 Rebecca Katz, Aurelia Attal-Juncqua, et al., “Funding Public Health Emergency 
Preparedness in the United States.” American Journal of Public Health vol. 107, S2 (2017): 
S148-S152. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.303956. 

122 Matt McKillop and Dara Alpert Lieberman, “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding 
on America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2021,” 
Trust for America’s Health, May 2021. Available at: https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2021/05/2021_PHFunding_Fnl.pdf.

123 Joseph R. Biden, “National Strategy for the COVID-19 Response and Pandemic 
Preparedness,” January 2021. Available at: https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/
uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-
Preparedness.pdf. 

124 Caitlin Rivers, Dylan George, “How to Forecast Outbreaks and Pandemics,” Foreign 
Affairs, June 29, 2020. Available at: https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-
states/2020-06-29/how-forecast-outbreaks-and-pandemics. 

125 Bipartisan Commission on Biodefense, “Biodefense in Crisis: Immediate Action 
Needed to Address National Vulnerabilities,” March 2021. Available at: https://
biodefensecommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biodefense-In-Crisis-1.pdf. 

126 Daniel Joseph Finkenstadt, Robert Handfield, et al., “Why the U.S. Still Has a Severe 
Shortage of Medical Supplies,” Harvard Business Review, September 17, 2020. Available at: 
https://hbr.org/2020/09/why-the-u-s-still-has-a-severe-shortage-of-medical-supplies. 

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK201023/pdf/Bookshelf_NBK201023.pdf
https://phastdata.org/research/chart-of-accounts
https://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/surveys_and_polls/2021/rwjf465067
https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-21-265
https://biodefensecommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biodefense-In-Crisis-1.pdf
https://biodefensecommission.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biodefense-In-Crisis-1.pdf
https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/testimonies/CTA500/CTA530-1/RAND_CTA530-1.pdf
https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/testimonies/CTA500/CTA530-1/RAND_CTA530-1.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/2021_PHFunding_Fnl.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/2021_PHFunding_Fnl.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/National-Strategy-for-the-COVID-19-Response-and-Pandemic-Preparedness.pdf
https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-06-29/how-forecast-outbreaks-and-pandemics
https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/united-states/2020-06-29/how-forecast-outbreaks-and-pandemics
https://hbr.org/2020/09/why-the-u-s-still-has-a-severe-shortage-of-medical-supplies


64

127 “Testimony of Dr. Tom Frieden, President and Chief Executive Officer of Resolve to Save 
Lives, an initiative of Vital Strategies.” Available at: https://www.cfr.org/sites/default/
files/report_pdf/tomfriedentestimony.pdf.

128 Jennifer B. Alton and Ellen P. Carlin, “Now is the time to resource the Public Health 
Emergency Fund,” The Hill, February 28, 2020. Available at: https://thehill.com/blogs/
congress-blog/healthcare/485163-now-is-the-time-to-resource-the-public-health-
emergency-fund.

129 Association of Public Health Laboratories, “Racing to Respond: The Case for a Public 
Health Emergency Fund,” Winter 2017. Available at: https://www.aphl.org/aboutAPHL/
publications/lab-matters/Pages/racing-to-respond.aspx. 

130 Ibid.  

131 United States Representative Rosa DeLauro, “Why We Need a Public Health Emergency 
Fund.” Available at: https://delauro.house.gov/public-health-emergency-fund.

132 Public Health National Center for Innovations, “Aligning Accreditation and the 
Foundational Public Health Capabilities,” November 2018. Available at: https://phnci.
org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-
Capabilities-November-2018.pdf.

133 Anthony McCann, , “An Additional Form of Appropriation: A Note,” Public Budgeting & 
Finance, November 19, 2019, 40: 91-98. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/pbaf.12243.

134 Senator Chris Van Hollen, “Van Hollen, Murray Re-Introduce Public Health 
Infrastructure Save Lives Act As New Report Looks At Gaps In Preparedness,” March 10, 
2021. Available at:  https://www.vanhollen.senate.gov/news/press-releases/van-hollen-
murray-re-introduce-public-health-infrastructure-save-lives-act-as-new-report-looks-
at-gaps-in-preparedness. House Committee on Energy & Commerce, “E&C Democrats 
Introduce LIFT America Act that Invests in Clean Energy, Broadband & Public Health 
Infrastructure,” March 11, 2021. Available at: https://energycommerce.house.gov/
newsroom/press-releases/ec-democrats-introduce-lift-america-act-that-invests-in-clean-
energy.

135 1,000 Days, 317 Coalition, et al., to Mitch McConnell, Nancy Pelosi, Charles Schumer, 
and Kevin McCarthy, July 2, 2020. Available at: https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/07/PH-Infrastructure-sign-on-7-2-2020.pdf.

136 National Association of Counties, “2015 Policy Brief: Protect Funding for Prevention 
and Public Health,” 2015. Available at: https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/
Prevention%20and%20Public%20Health%20Fund%20Policy%20Brief.pdf.

137 William Brody et. al., “10 Years Later – The Impact of the Affordable Care Act on 
Prevention and Public Health in North Carolina,” N C Med J. 2020;81(6):377-38. 
Available at:  https://www.ncmedicaljournal.com/content/ncm/81/6/377.full.pdf. 

138 Michael Fraser, “Five Things to Know About the Prevention and Public Health 
Fund,” ASHTO Experts Blog, June 29, 2017. Available at: https://www.astho.org/
StatePublicHealth/Five-Things-to-Know-About-the-Prevention-and-Public-Health-
Fund/6-29-17/.

https://www.cfr.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/tomfriedentestimony.pdf
https://www.cfr.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/tomfriedentestimony.pdf
https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/healthcare/485163-now-is-the-time-to-resource-the-public-health-emergency-fund
https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/healthcare/485163-now-is-the-time-to-resource-the-public-health-emergency-fund
https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/healthcare/485163-now-is-the-time-to-resource-the-public-health-emergency-fund
https://www.aphl.org/aboutAPHL/publications/lab-matters/Pages/racing-to-respond.aspx
https://www.aphl.org/aboutAPHL/publications/lab-matters/Pages/racing-to-respond.aspx
https://delauro.house.gov/public-health-emergency-fund
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-files/Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-Public-Health-Capabilities-November-2018.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1111/pbaf.12243
https://www.vanhollen.senate.gov/news/press-releases/van-hollen-murray-re-introduce-public-health-infrastructure-save-lives-act-as-new-report-looks-at-gaps-in-preparedness
https://www.vanhollen.senate.gov/news/press-releases/van-hollen-murray-re-introduce-public-health-infrastructure-save-lives-act-as-new-report-looks-at-gaps-in-preparedness
https://www.vanhollen.senate.gov/news/press-releases/van-hollen-murray-re-introduce-public-health-infrastructure-save-lives-act-as-new-report-looks-at-gaps-in-preparedness
https://energycommerce.house.gov/newsroom/press-releases/ec-democrats-introduce-lift-america-act-that-invests-in-clean-energy
https://energycommerce.house.gov/newsroom/press-releases/ec-democrats-introduce-lift-america-act-that-invests-in-clean-energy
https://energycommerce.house.gov/newsroom/press-releases/ec-democrats-introduce-lift-america-act-that-invests-in-clean-energy
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/PH-Infrastructure-sign-on-7-2-2020.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/PH-Infrastructure-sign-on-7-2-2020.pdf
https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/Prevention and Public Health Fund Policy Brief.pdf
https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/Prevention and Public Health Fund Policy Brief.pdf
https://www.ncmedicaljournal.com/content/ncm/81/6/377.full.pdf
https://www.astho.org/StatePublicHealth/Five-Things-to-Know-About-the-Prevention-and-Public-Health-Fund/6-29-17/
https://www.astho.org/StatePublicHealth/Five-Things-to-Know-About-the-Prevention-and-Public-Health-Fund/6-29-17/
https://www.astho.org/StatePublicHealth/Five-Things-to-Know-About-the-Prevention-and-Public-Health-Fund/6-29-17/


 65

139 Michael R. Fraser, “A Brief History of the Prevention and Public Health Fund: 
Implications for Public Health Advocates,” American Journal of Public Health, 109(4): 572-
577, 2019. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304926. 

140 Michael R. Fraser, “A Brief History of the Prevention and Public Health Fund: 
Implications for Public Health Advocates,” American Journal of Public Health, 109(4): 572-
577, 2019. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304926. 

141 Katherine Linzer, Jaana Remes, et al, “How prioritizing health is a prescription 
for US prosperity,” McKinsey Global Institute, October 5, 2020. Available at: https://
www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/how-
prioritizing-health-is-a-prescription-for-us-prosperity#.

142 Karen DeSalvo, Bob Hughes, et al., National Academy of Medicine, “Public Health 
COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs,” April 7, 2021 
Available at: https://nam.edu/public-health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-
learned-and-compelling-needs/.

143 Aswita Tan-McGrory, “Driving equity in health care: Lessons from COVID-19,” Harvard 
Health Blog, November 23, 2020. Available at: https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/
driving-equity-in-health-care-lessons-from-covid-19-2020112321473 . 

144 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, “Prevention and Public Health Fund,” 
January 9, 2020. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/open/prevention/index.html.

145 Meghan O’Hearn, Junxiu Liu, et al., “Coronavirus Disease 2019 Hospitalizations 
Attributable to Cardiometabolic Conditions in the United States: A Comparative Risk 
Assessment Analysis,” Journal of the American Heart Association, 10(5):e019259, 2021. 
Available at: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/JAHA.120.019259.

146 Nicole Rura, “Close to half of U.S. population projected to have obesity by 2030,” Harvard 
T.H. Chan School of Public Health, December 28, 2019. Available at: https://www.hsph.
harvard.edu/news/press-releases/half-of-us-to-have-obesity-by-2030/.

147 Liz Szabo, “Old diseases, other public health threats reemerge in the U.S.,” The 
Washington Post, February 24, 2020. Available at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/
health/old-diseases-other-public-health-threats-reemerge-in-the-us/2020/02/21/
efa65daa-4f6c-11ea-9b5c-eac5b16dafaa_story.html.

148 Rhea K. Farberman, Matt McKillop, , “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on America’s 
Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020,” Trust for America’s 
Health, April 2020. Available at:  https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/
TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf.

149 Boston University School of Public Health, “20th Century Public Health 
Achievements,” 2015. Available at: https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-modules/ph/
publichealthhistory/publichealthhistory9.html.

150 Rhea K. Farberman, Matt McKillop, et al., “The Impact of Chronic Underfunding on 
America’s Public Health System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020” Trust 
for America’s Health, April 2020. Available at:  https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/
uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf.

https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/how-prioritizing-health-is-a-prescription-for-us-prosperity
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/how-prioritizing-health-is-a-prescription-for-us-prosperity
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/how-prioritizing-health-is-a-prescription-for-us-prosperity
https://nam.edu/public-health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-learned-and-compelling-needs/
https://nam.edu/public-health-covid-19-impact-assessment-lessons-learned-and-compelling-needs/
https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/driving-equity-in-health-care-lessons-from-covid-19-2020112321473
https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/driving-equity-in-health-care-lessons-from-covid-19-2020112321473
https://www.hhs.gov/open/prevention/index.html
https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/JAHA.120.019259
https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/press-releases/half-of-us-to-have-obesity-by-2030/
https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/press-releases/half-of-us-to-have-obesity-by-2030/
https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/old-diseases-other-public-health-threats-reemerge-in-the-us/2020/02/21/efa65daa-4f6c-11ea-9b5c-eac5b16dafaa_story.html
https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/old-diseases-other-public-health-threats-reemerge-in-the-us/2020/02/21/efa65daa-4f6c-11ea-9b5c-eac5b16dafaa_story.html
https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/old-diseases-other-public-health-threats-reemerge-in-the-us/2020/02/21/efa65daa-4f6c-11ea-9b5c-eac5b16dafaa_story.html
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-modules/ph/publichealthhistory/publichealthhistory9.html
https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-modules/ph/publichealthhistory/publichealthhistory9.html
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf
https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf


66

151  Tax Policy Center, “What are the major federal excise taxes, and how much money do 
they raise?” The Tax Policy Center’s Briefing Book: Key Elements of the U.S. Tax System. 
Available at: https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/what-are-major-federal-
excise-taxes-and-how-much-money-do-they-raise. 

152 Congressional Budget Office, Options for Reducing the Deficit: 2021 to 2030, December 
2020. Available at: https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2020-12/56783-budget-options.pdf. 

153 Congressional Budget Office, Cost Estimate: H.R. 4742, Protecting American Lungs Acts of 
2019, October 31, 2019. Available at: https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2019-10/hr4742.
pdf. 

154 R. Alexander Bentley, Damian J. Ruck, et al., “U.S. Obesity as Delayed Effect of Excess 
Sugar,” Economics & Human Biology, 36: 100818, 2020.  Available at: https://www.
sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1570677X19301364?via%3Dihub.

155 Michael W. Long, Steven L. Gortmaker, et al., “Cost Effectiveness of a Sugar-Sweetened 
Beverage Excise Tax in the U.S.,” American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 49(1): 112-123, 
2015. Available at: https://www.ajpmonline.org/article/S0749-3797(15)00096-3/fulltext.

156 Yujin Lee, Dariush Mozaffarian, et. al, “Health Impact and Cost-Effectiveness of Volume, 
Tiered, and Absolute Sugar Content Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Tax Policies in the 
United States,” Circulation, 142(6): 523-534, June 22, 2020. Available at: https://www.
ahajournals.org/doi/epub/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.042956. 

https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/what-are-major-federal-excise-taxes-and-how-much-money-do-they-raise
https://www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/what-are-major-federal-excise-taxes-and-how-much-money-do-they-raise
https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2020-12/56783-budget-options.pdf
https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2019-10/hr4742.pdf
https://www.cbo.gov/system/files/2019-10/hr4742.pdf
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1570677X19301364?via%3Dihub
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1570677X19301364?via%3Dihub
https://www.ajpmonline.org/article/S0749-3797(15)00096-3/fulltext
https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/epub/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.042956
https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/epub/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.042956


1225 Eye St NW, Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20005

bipartisanpolicy.org

202 - 204 - 2400

The Bipartisan Policy Center (BPC) is a Washington, D.C.-based think tank 
that actively fosters bipartisanship by combining the best ideas from both 
parties to promote health, security, and opportunity for all Americans. 
Our policy solutions are the product of informed deliberations by former 
elected and appointed officials, business and labor leaders, and academics 
and advocates who represent both ends of the political spectrum.

BPC prioritizes one thing above all else: getting things done.

@BPC_Bipartisan

facebook.com/BipartisanPolicyCenter

instagram.com/BPC_Bipartisan

Policy Areas

Campus Free Expression

Economy

Education

Energy

Governance

Health

Immigration

Infrastructure

http://www.facebook.com/BipartisanPolicyCenter
http://www.instagram.com/BPC_Bipartisan


I D E A S .  AC T I O N .  R E S U LT S .

1225 Eye Street NW, Suite 1000 
Washington, D.C. 20005



Karen DeSalvo, MD, MPH, MSc, Dell Medical School at The University of Texas 
at Austin; Bob Hughes, PhD, Missouri Foundation for Health; Mary Bassett, 
MD, MPH, Harvard University; Georges Benjamin, MD, American Public Health 
Association; Michael Fraser, PhD, CAE, Association of State and Territorial 
Health Offi  cials; Sandro Galea, MD, MPH, DrPH, Boston University School of 
Public Health;  J. Nadine Gracia, MD, MSCE, Trust for America’s Health; and              
Jeff rey Howard, MD, MBA, MPH, former Public Health Commissioner, Kentucky 

April 7, 2021

DISCUSSION PAPER

Perspectives | Expert Voices in Health & Health Care

Public Health COVID-19 Impact 
Assessment: Lessons Learned 
and Compelling Needs

About the NAM series on Emerging Stronger After 
COVID-19: Priorities for Health System Transformation
This discussion paper is part of the National Academy of 
Medicine’s Emerging Stronger After COVID-19: Priorities 
for Health System Transformation initiative, which 
commissioned papers from experts on how 9 key sectors 
of the health, health care, and biomedical science fi elds 
responded to and can be transformed in the wake of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The views presented in this discussion 
paper and others in the series are those of the authors 
and do not represent formal consensus positions of the 
NAM, the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and 
Medicine, or the authors’ organizations. 
Learn more: nam.edu/TransformingHealth

Introduction

Gains in life expectancy and quality of life over the 
course of American history can be attributed to for-
ward-looking investments in public health infrastruc-
ture [1]. For example, the creation of municipal public 
health authorities in the 19th century supported im-
provements in sanitation and reduced the mortality 
burden from infectious diseases such as typhoid and 
cholera. Likewise, strategies to promote healthier envi-
ronments and improve access to clinical services have 
improved the prevention and management of chronic 
diseases such as cardiovascular disease and cancer. 
In addressing each population health challenge, the 

public health sector has played a multifaceted role, 
from surveilling the causes and consequences of dis-
ease (e.g., the National Notifi able Diseases Surveil-
lance System), to convening stakeholders across sec-
tors to develop coordinated solutions (e.g., historical 
collaborations with housing authorities), to informing 
policymakers and the public about best practices (e.g., 
resources to promote tobacco cessation) [2,3,4].

These interdisciplinary functions are more impor-
tant than ever due to the complexity and scope of pop-
ulation health challenges in the modern era. For the 
fi rst time in generations, life expectancy in the United 
States (U.S.) has begun to decline, with primary driv-



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 2                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

ers including increasing rates of drug overdoses and 
the growing burden of chronic diseases [5]. In parallel, 
evidence continues to accumulate about the dispari-
ties in health outcomes across racial groups and socio-
economic strata, emphasizing the need for health in-
terventions that address both the medical (e.g., health 
behaviors, environmental infl uences) and non-medical 
(e.g., housing, transportation) drivers of poorer health 
[6,7].

Yet as the need for robust public health infrastruc-
ture has grown, federal investment in public health 
capabilities has declined, with health departments 
operating for decades under persistent and widening 
resource gaps. Chronically inadequate funding, work-
force shortages, and outdated infrastructure limit the 
sector’s capacity to address existing population health 
needs and its fl exibility to respond to emergency situ-
ations [8]. COVID-19 has newly exposed and further 
exacerbated these long-standing challenges, while also 
illuminating the pervasive racial and socioeconomic in-
equities in health care access, quality, and outcomes in 
the U.S. While health departments have been founda-
tional to the nation’s response to the pandemic (e.g., 
guidance development, testing and tracing) the sector 
has experienced numerous challenges with causes 
both old (e.g., gaps in information technology) and new 
(e.g., politicization and mistrust of public health leaders 
and guidance). From the subversion of public health’s 
mandate to the malignment of public health offi  cials to 
the neglect of public health capabilities, the pandemic 
has illustrated the need for structural reforms to re-
store the public health sector’s foundational role in 
American communities.

This discussion paper seeks to examine the public 
health sector’s experience during COVID-19, exploring 
how legacy systems and policies shaped the sector’s 
capacity to respond, highlighting health departments’ 
key contributions and challenges during the pandemic, 
and identifying priority areas and policy considerations 
to enable the sector to be better prepared to meet 
population health needs in the 21st century.

The Pre-Pandemic State of Public Health

In America, the functions of public health are inex-
tricably tied to the varied forms of health department 
governance and operations. While health departments 
have faced numerous challenges during COVID-19, the 
roots of these problems—institutional siloes, rigid fund-
ing streams, ambiguities over authority, and neglected 
infrastructure and workforce development—long pre-
date the pandemic. Consequently, understanding the 

barriers to and lessons from the pandemic’s response 
requires fi rst establishing the public health ecosystem 
leading into the pandemic. This section outlines the 
structural and political context for the sector, with a fo-
cus on public health’s (1) mandate and governance and 
(2) functions and funding.

Mandate and Governance
The Institute of Medicine’s (IOM) 1988 report on The 
Future of Public Health defi ned the mission of public 
health in the U.S. to be “the fulfi llment of society’s in-
terest in assuring the conditions in which people can 
be healthy” [9]. To convert this aspiration into action, 
the nation has developed a complex system of gover-
nance comprised of a diverse set of local, state, terri-
torial, tribal, and federal agencies and authorities, all 
of whom collaborate to advance the public’s health 
[10,11]. While a comprehensive and inclusive approach 
to public health governance is needed for the post-pan-
demic era, the authors represented in this paper will 
primarily focus on the experiences and perspectives of 
local and state health departments during COVID-19.

The governance of public health in America is local 
in origin, with municipal health boards pioneering ad-
vances in sanitation and cities and states developing 
laboratory capacity to support outbreak control. Na-
tional initiatives for specifi c public health needs (e.g., 
tuberculosis control, HIV/AIDS) and the emerging in-
terdependencies between the public sector’s health, 
medical, and social service programs (e.g., partner-
ships between health departments and state Medicaid 
programs) increased the federal government’s involve-
ment in public health. However, while federal fi nancing 
mechanisms (e.g., block grants) generally emphasize 
state responsibility, a national policy environment that 
prioritizes cost containment limits state health depart-
ments’ capacity to respond to emerging public health 
needs [9].

Today, the organization of functions, delivery of ser-
vices, and availability of resources for public health in 
the U.S. varies tremendously due to the country’s size 
and the heterogeneity of community needs and de-
mographics. The day-to-day governance and admin-
istration of public health is distributed across the 59 
recognized state and territorial health departments 
and an estimated 2,500 local health agencies nation-
wide [12,13]. While this decentralized model can off er 
advantages by emphasizing local context, health de-
partments are hindered by the uneven distribution of 
purviews and foundational public health capabilities. 
From an operational perspective, state-local gover-



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 3

nance structures for public health can generally be de-
scribed by four models: centralized, decentralized (or 
home rule), mixed, and shared (see Figure 1) [14]. For 
example, Rhode Island can be considered a “central-
ized” model as it operates as a unifi ed local and state 
health agency, while Massachusetts can be described 
as a “decentralized” model, with decision-making au-
thority largely retained by 351 local health agencies 
across the state [14,15]. From a resource perspective, 
funding for public health varies widely across the coun-
try. For example, state per capita spending on public 
health ranged from $7 in Missouri to $140 in New Mex-
ico in 2019 [157].

In parallel with local public health eff orts are the na-
tional initiatives led by the federal government. These 
include support for baseline public health functions, 
facilitation of pre-decisional and deliberative plan-
ning processes (including local and state health agen-
cies) to prepare for public health threats, creation of 
countrywide health priorities (e.g., the Healthy People 
2030 goals), support for cross-state collaborations, and 
resource allocation for public health and health care 
programs.

While there are many models of governance in pub-
lic health, it is clear that the system as currently con-
fi gured—with its origins from a diff erent time with dif-
ferent population health challenges—is not optimally 
designed to meet the needs of America’s communi-
ties in the 21st century. Health departments should of 
course be tailored to the needs of their local constitu-
ents. However, while agencies may vary in their form, 
they should not vary in their basic functions. Signifi cant 
variation in how health departments make decisions 
(described above) and what resources are available 
to them to deliver services to their communities (de-
scribed below) have contributed to heterogeneous 
outcomes prior to and during the pandemic.

Policymakers and public health leaders have devel-
oped various tools to achieve alignment on the public 
health mandate and public health governance, from 
accreditation programs to frameworks outlining the 
minimum services and capabilities for all health de-
partments [16]. Yet these eff orts have struggled to 
achieve scale; for example, nearly one-third of state 
health departments and the majority of local health 
departments have opted out of a national, voluntary 
accreditation program, in part due to the cost and 
staffi  ng needs required to complete the accreditation 
process [17,18]. Consequently, initiatives to promote 
unifi ed standards without commensurate attention to 
the chronic funding gaps responsible for variation in 
foundational public health capabilities run the risk of 
adding to health departments’ reporting burden with-
out resolving their underlying needs. The next section 
on “Functions and Funding” outlines how such sys-
temic resource shortages for American public health, 
in tandem with the governance challenges described in 
this section, created the preconditions for pandemic-
era challenges.

Functions and Funding
The functions of public health in America are described 
by the frameworks for “Essential” and “Foundational” 
public health services. The “Essential” public health 
services, which were developed in 1994 and updated 
in 2020, outline the key domains and areas of focus 
for the public health mission (e.g., investigating health 
hazards and their root causes), with a focus on equity 
centering the design and delivery of each service. In 
2012, the IOM recommended that experts character-
ize the skills, capabilities, and services that health de-
partments need to operationalize the goals of the “Es-
sential” public health services framework [20]. To this 
end, the Public Health Leadership Forum developed 

FIGURE 1 | Models of Public Health Governance
SOURCE: Adapted from https://astho.org/Research/Data-and-Analysis/State-and-Local-Governance-
Classifi cation-Tree/, with permission.



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 4                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

the framework of the “Foundational” public health ser-
vices, which details the capabilities (e.g., emergency 
preparedness and response) and program areas (e.g., 
chronic disease and injury prevention) which all health 
departments should possess in addition to services tai-
lored to the unique needs of the community which they 
serve [10,11].  Figure 2 presents these two frameworks, 
which together provide health departments with a 
guide for what their responsibilities are (“Essential” ser-
vices) and how they can operationalize those responsi-
bilities for their communities (“Foundational” services).

However, local execution of these programs and 
functions is often limited by constraints imposed by 
both federal agencies and state and local jurisdictions. 
First, funding levels have historically been inadequate 
to support the delivery of the Essential public health 
services, let alone prepare for emergency situations. 
Second, many funding streams for public health are 
“categorical”, or restricted to specifi c priority areas 
(e.g., HIV, tobacco control), which leaves little fl exibility 
for spending to support core foundational capabilities 
or to support surge needs in times of crisis [19]. Other 
funding streams are operated as block grants, but as 
noted in the IOM’s 2012 report, For the Public’s Health, 
such models in practice have been vulnerable to fund-
ing cuts (e.g., funding for the Preventive Health and 
Health Services block grant decreased by 35% from 
1995 to 2012 ) [20].

Overall funding for foundational capabilities has 
run dry in the face of long-standing neglect and de-
prioritization by both local and national leaders, with 
the expenditures of public health agencies decreasing 
by approximately 10% (between 2010 and 2018) and 
the share of health care spending attributable to pub-
lic health declining by nearly 17% (between 2002 and 
2014) [8,21]. Indeed, rather than valuing prevention, 
the American system has become increasingly biased 
in favor of reaction, with per capita spending on public 
health services equivalent to 1-3% of per capita expen-
ditures on medical care [21]. Chronically deprived of 
resources, the capabilities of health departments have 
begun to atrophy over several key domains (see Figure 
3).

First, the public health workforce is understaff ed and 
unequipped to meet the needs of local communities. 
Over the past decade, local health departments have 
eliminated over 56,000 jobs, while state health agen-
cies have lost over 10,000 jobs—a distressing trend 
considering how population health challenges have 
grown and multiple public health emergencies (e.g., 
the opioid epidemic, the Ebola and Zika outbreaks) 
have occurred over the same time period [8,22]. The 
workforce that remains does not adequately refl ect the 
population served and lacks formal public health train-
ing, with a signifi cant proportion of health department 
staff  on the cusp of either leaving the profession or re-

FIGURE 2 | Frameworks for Essential Services and Foundational Capabilities in Public Health
SOURCE: https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/publichealthservices/essentialhealthservices.
html (left) and Public Health National Center for Innovations. Foundational public health services in 
action. PHNCI. https://phnci.org/national-frameworks/fphs. Published November 2018. (right) 
(reprinted with permission).



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 5

tiring [23,24,25]. These dire trends may not refl ect the 
full scope of workforce needs, as there is no centralized 
monitoring system for public health, with the sector 
relying on periodic point estimates conducted by third 
party organizations to gauge capacity. Local and state 
department leaders consequently have limited ability to 
appropriately benchmark their capacity and articulate 
community-specifi c needs. Furthermore, challenges 
with recruitment and retention—attributed primarily to 
low pay and the paucity of opportunities for career ad-
vancement, with a particular dearth of diversity in lead-
ership positions—raise pressing concerns about the 
sector’s future workforce capacity [26,27]. Yet the work-
force challenges are not simply a pipeline problem. Pre-
paring the public health sector for tomorrow requires 
a workforce that is meaningfully diff erent from years 
past, both in terms of the diversity of skills that health 
offi  cials possess (e.g., need for new data science skills, 
digital capabilities, cultural and linguistic competen-
cies) and the relationships health offi  cials foster with 
other sectors (e.g., the health care system, the lay pub-
lic). While regional Public Health Training Centers have 
helped fi ll gaps in health department capacity, and the 
development of new undergraduate and graduate edu-
cation programs for public health have expanded the 
cohort of new public health professionals and trainees, 
additional resources and a national mandate for inter-
disciplinary training programs are necessary to address 
21st century public health challenges.

Second is the increasingly outdated nature of depart-
ment capabilities, particularly for information technol-
ogy (IT) infrastructure. Data exchange between public 
health and health systems remains fragmented, with 
few departments participating in the CDC’s program 
to develop digital bridges due to lack of funding and 

capacity within health departments [28,29]. While the 
Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists has de-
veloped a roadmap for creating a “data superhighway” 
for public health, such initiatives to date have lacked 
the necessary funding and policy support to become 
reality [30].

Third is support for baseline preventive activities. 
Many core public health programs have been consis-
tently underfunded (e.g., providing immunizations, 
diabetes prevention, lead control), with past funding 
cuts creating the preconditions for present-day popula-
tion health challenges. For example, infl ation-adjusted 
funding for the prevention of sexually transmitted dis-
eases declined by 40% between 2003 and 2018 even 
as disease prevalence increased over the same time 
period (e.g., rates of syphilis and gonorrhea approach-
ing 30-year highs) [31,32]. These gaps in foundational 
capabilities are magnifi ed during times of crisis, which 
often require staff  to perform “double duty” without a 
commensurate increase in resources. In many cases, 
insuffi  cient resources have also hindered health de-
partments’ capacity to maintain necessary cross-sector 
partnerships and linkages (e.g., with the social care 
sector, with private industry) which are needed to aug-
ment health department capacity and support locally 
tailored solutions.

Fourth is emergency preparedness. The turn of the 
millennium has witnessed the emergence of multiple 
pathogens with pandemic potential, including H1N1, 
SARS, Ebola, and Zika. Yet rather than renewing a com-
mitment to real-time surveillance and surge capacity, 
funding for the Public Health Emergency Preparedness 
program declined by $265 million between 2002 and 
2020 [33,34]. While states and territories, as well as a 
few large local jurisdictions, received increased fed-

FIGURE 3 | Pre-Pandemic Challenge Areas for the Public Health Sector



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 6                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

eral support during previous emergencies, such fund-
ing was time-limited and expired at the conclusion of 
the crisis. This “boom and bust” cycle of public health 
funding hinders preparedness for future emergencies, 
as the capacity developed in response to outbreaks is 
quickly eroded unless sustainable support structures 
are established. For example, emergency funding dur-
ing the Zika outbreak equipped health departments to 
address long-neglected issues such as mosquito con-
trol and laboratory testing [35]. The CDC also bolstered 
local health department capacity by assigning fi eld 
staff ers to outbreak hotspots [36]. However, funding 
expired after 2017, leading many outbreak control ef-
forts to be rolled back or discontinued [37].

Together, these challenges help to frame the envi-
ronment in which the public health sector was operat-
ing prior to the pandemic. The next section describes 
how health departments navigated these existing chal-
lenges during their response to COVID-19.

State and Local Public Health Response to 
COVID-19

While health departments provided key functions (e.g., 
data reporting, testing clinics, contact tracing) during 
the pandemic, the challenges they encountered (e.g., 
barriers to exchanging information, operational siloes, 
lack of disaggregated data, and insuffi  cient capacity 
and training) are indicative of fundamental design fl aws 
and a lack of investment in America’s public health 
system. Additionally, the sector’s overall response to 
COVID-19 has been uneven due to inconsistencies in 
national guidance, the staggered spread of the virus 
across the country, and diff erences in state and local 
health department capacity and authority. This sec-
tion characterizes health department functions and 
challenges during the pandemic using the lens of the 
“Foundational” public health capabilities.

Health Department Functions
“Foundational” capabilities supporting the public health 
response to COVID-19 included the following domains:

1. Emergency preparedness and response (e.g., 
data collection and reporting);

2. Assessment and surveillance (e.g., testing and 
tracing capacity);

3. Communications (e.g., educating policymakers 
and the public);

4. Policy development and support (e.g., imple-
mentation and enforcement); and 

5. Community partnership development (e.g., to 
address non-medical needs) (see Table 1). 

Emergency Preparedness and Response
Health departments were the fi rst line of response 
when the outbreak began, working to control the 
spread in communities across the country and put-
ting into action their own emergency operations and 
response plans. These activities included, among other 
things, developing mechanisms to track and report 
data on the virus and leveraging their capabilities as 
Laboratory Response Network reference laboratories 
to support the development of COVID-19 diagnostics. 
As the outbreak expanded, the emergency response 
shifted, with public health playing a key role in the 
whole-of-government approach.

First, health departments began coordinating with 
local, state, and federal offi  cials to support emergency 
planning across a given area. For example, the North-
west Healthcare Response Network was activated in 
Washington after the fi rst cases were reported in Se-
attle [38]. Likewise, in Louisiana, the Department of 
Health and the State Health Offi  cer led briefi ngs with 
lawmakers and consulted with local emergency man-
agers, enabling the Governor to issue an emergency 
declaration to activate necessary resources [39].

Second, with the outbreak rapidly evolving, many 
health departments worked to set up dashboards on 
their websites to display the latest data on cases, hos-
pitalizations, and deaths. Given the outdated technical 
infrastructure of many health departments—where 
the use of fax machines continues to be common—
many offi  cials sought to partner with the private sec-
tor [40]. For example, Louisiana’s health department 
collaborated with Blue Cross Blue Shield to develop a 
COVID-19 Outbreak Tracker, while in Washington, the 
state health department partnered with Microsoft to 
develop a data dashboard [41,42]. Similarly, the health 
department and state offi  cials in Michigan forged part-
nerships with academia to develop data dashboards 
and to make model-based projections to aid decision-
making [43].

Third, health departments supported diagnostic de-
velopment and the expansion of testing capacity. State 
and local public health laboratories played a key role 
in identifying fl aws with the CDC’s diagnostic test dur-
ing February 2020 [44]. As the number of COVID-19 
cases began to rapidly grow, the federal government 
provided new fl exibilities to state public health labora-
tories and commercial laboratories to expand the na-
tion’s testing capacity [45]. In response, health depart-
ments (e.g., Wadsworth Center at the New York State 
Department of Health) supported the development of 
new tests, coordinated testing infrastructure (e.g., 16 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 7

Foundational 
Capability

Key Challenges Response Example

Emergency 
Preparedness and 
Response

Health departments activated 
emergency protocols, 
developed public-facing 
reporting mechanisms, and 
supported advancements in 
testing technology and capacity

• Louisiana collaborated with health 
insurers to develop the state’s 
“COVID-19 Outbreak Tracker”

• Seattle and King County 
(Washington) developed the Seattle 
Coronavirus Assessment Network

Assessment and 
Surveillance

Health departments had to 
organize testing and tracing 
capacity, requiring substantial 
coordination and workforce 
development

• Hamilton County (Tennessee) 
partnered with faith organizations 
to increase access to testing, while 
California funded the development 
of sites in communities of color

• Massachusetts created a dedicated 
caller ID for its contact tracing team 
to increase response rates

Communications Health departments had to 
both combat misinformation 
while updating the community 
on evolving trends and 
disseminating the latest data

• Multiple states, including Colorado, 
Florida, and Ohio created a 
dedicated COVID-19 call center with 
24/7 operations

• North Carolina launched the “3 Ws” 
campaign to communicate public 
health best practices

Policy Development 
and Support

Health departments had to 
clarify the scope of their man-
date and authority and develop 
strategies for implementing 
and enforcing infection control 
policies

• Many cities, including Charlotte, 
Kansas City, and San Francisco 
used civil or criminal penalties for 
enforcement

• Many cities and states confl icted 
over mask policies, school closures, 
and social distancing requirements 
for retail establishments such as 
restaurants

Community Partnership 
Development

Health departments had to 
coordinate across sectors and 
often perform out-of-scope 
functions (e.g. procurement)

• Washington established a Regional 
COVID Coordinating Center to 
organize medical care

• Fairfax (Virginia) developed a 
Medical Isolation Program

TABLE 1 | Role of Foundational Capabilities for Public Health During the COVID-19 Response

sites led by the Georgia Department of Health), and 
formed public-private partnerships to support disease 
surveillance (e.g., the Seattle Coronavirus Assessment 
Network) [46,47,48].

Assessment and Surveillance
Testing and tracing is a core public health capability 
maintained by departments for both common infec-
tious diseases (e.g., sexually transmitted infections) and 
epidemics (e.g., Middle East Respiratory Syndrome). 
However, COVID-19 has carried signifi cant challenges 
(e.g., the potential for asymptomatic transmission and 

“super-spreader” events), and the scale and speed of 
the outbreak rapidly outpaced the resources of health 
departments, leading experts to call for a substantial 
expansion in assessment and surveillance capabilities 
[49].

For testing, many innovations were not equally ac-
cessible to all populations, even though people of color 
were both more likely to test positive for COVID-19 and 
to experience severe outcomes from the disease [50]. 
For example, many of the retail testing sites established 
by the federal government were not accessible to com-
munities of color [51]. Public health offi  cials attempted 



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 8                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

to address inequities in access where possible, despite 
often lacking authority and resources. In California, the 
state funded nearly 100 community testing sites locat-
ed in communities of color [52]. Other health depart-
ments sought to meet communities where they were 
to increase access to testing. For example, Hamilton 
County in Tennessee partnered with the faith com-
munity in Chattanooga to set up free COVID-19 testing 
sites at predominantly Black churches [53]. Yet despite 
these eff orts, barriers persisted throughout the pan-
demic due to resource inequities and gaps in federal 
support for local health departments.

For tracing, health departments hired tens of thou-
sands of new contact tracers during the summer of 
2020 [54]. Yet contact tracing eff orts struggled, with 
rates of contact identifi cation and interviews by health 
departments in the U.S. falling well below those of 
other countries [55]. Health departments have taken 
diff erent strategies to improve response rates. For ex-
ample, with many contact tracing calls either blocked 
or left unanswered due to the lack of caller identifi ca-
tion, the Massachusetts Health Department worked 
with telecommunications providers to set up a stan-
dard “MA COVID Team” tag for each phone number 
[56]. Contact tracing eff orts focused on specifi c, vul-
nerable populations have also been promising, such 
as Boston’s biweekly screening program at homeless 
shelters [57, 58]. 

However, eff orts continued to fall short of expecta-
tions due to several challenges. First, state and local 
health departments lacked the resources they needed 
to hire and train contact tracers, with funding delayed 
by legislative gridlock over COVID-19 relief bills. Second, 
in the rush to scale, many departments relied on “quick 
fi x” solutions for scaling disease investigation capacity 
(e.g., reliance on call centers) at the expense of recruit-
ing local individuals who possessed tacit knowledge of 
their communities, limiting the eff ectiveness of tracing 
[59]. Third, high rates of infection and prolonged delays 
in testing in many regions of the country outpaced the 
rate at which tracing could be performed [60]. Fourth, 
contact tracing in communities of color—which have 
been disproportionately aff ected by COVID-19—was 
particularly challenging due to low levels of trust gen-
erated from historical legacies of injustice.

Communications
To “inform, educate, and empower” is one of the ten 
essential services of public health departments in the 
U.S. [10]. This function has been of paramount impor-
tance during the COVID-19 pandemic, which has been 

accompanied by a “pandemic of misinformation” [61]. 
Competing policy narratives, the undermining of public 
health leaders by elected offi  cials, and the dissemina-
tion of pseudoscience and conspiracy theories through 
social media have left Americans understandably con-
fused and ill-informed [62]. Patterns of misinformation 
and disinformation have distressingly emerged along 
partisan lines, contributing to the politicization of pub-
lic health [63,64]. Furthermore, distrust of the health 
care system has grown among communities of color—
who have historically experienced systemic injustices 
in American health care—due to gaps in the federal re-
sponse to COVID-19 [65,66].

Local and state health departments have taken a 
number of steps to keep their local communities in-
formed during the pandemic. For example, numerous 
state health departments such as those in Colorado, 
Florida, Minnesota, Ohio, Oklahoma, and many more 
established dedicated COVID-19 Call Centers to triage 
incoming questions [67]. In North Carolina, the state’s 
Department of Health and Human Services launched a 
“Know Your 3 W’s” campaign—wear a mask, wait 6 feet 
apart, and wash your hands—early in the pandemic, 
and has used consistent messaging on the part of pub-
lic offi  cials during daily news conferences to encourage 
uptake [68]. In Seattle and King County, the Depart-
ment of Health expanded its social media team to in-
crease its digital operations and translated COVID-19 
materials into over 30 languages to improve their ac-
cessibility [69,70]. Health departments also sought to 
tailor communications campaigns around the goals 
of health equity. For example, the Black Arizona CO-
VID-19 Task Force organized frequent virtual sessions 
and electronic communications with organizations and 
health care providers serving Black communities [71]. 

Policy Development and Support
The federal government’s delayed response, mislead-
ing statements about the virus’s severity, and abandon-
ment of the established pandemic playbook fragment-
ed the emergency response across the U.S. [72,73]. 
Lacking a unifi ed national strategy and facing confl ict-
ing guidance about infection control (e.g., travel restric-
tions, mask policies), local and state health depart-
ments were left to develop and enforce public health 
guidance on their own. This in turn led to fragmented 
responses and raised questions about the scope of 
health department mandates and authorities.

For example, lacking federal guidance, local and 
state offi  cials led the way in implementing shelter-in-
place policies, beginning with counties in California’s 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 9

Bay Area [74,75]. As the outbreak progressed, counties 
and cities began to take diff erent strategies for enforc-
ing public health restrictions. For example, some cities 
such as Kansas City indicated that violations of stay-at-
home orders would be subject to civil penalties (e.g., 
suspension of business operations), while other areas 
such as Mecklenburg County in North Carolina levied 
criminal penalties (e.g., misdemeanor) [76,77].

However, public health and law enforcement of-
ten collaborated to emphasize that penalties were 
intended as a last resort. For example, in San Fran-
cisco—where noncompliant individuals could be fi ned 
or incarcerated—offi  cials emphasized that they were 
“not interested in using a criminal justice approach for 
a public health challenge” [78]. Yet when policies were 
enforced, communities of color were often penalized at 
a disproportionate rate. For example, 61% of violations 
of shelter-in-place orders in Hamilton County in Ohio 
were attributed to Black individuals, even though only 
27% of the county’s population is Black [79]. The racial-
ly skewed application of enforcement policies, coupled 
with the broader conversations on police brutality fol-
lowing the deaths of George Floyd and Breonna Tay-
lor that occurred in the midst of the pandemic, may 
deepen historical distrust of the health system within 
communities of color.

The development and implementation of public 
health guidance also raised important questions about 
the scope of health department mandates and federal 
authorities. An illustrative example is the use of face 
coverings, which evidence from natural experiments 
of mask mandates in the U.S. indicate helped avert a 
substantial number of COVID-19 cases and deaths [81]. 
The CDC initially recommended against the use of face 
coverings for COVID-19 before reversing its stance in 
April 2020; even following that recommendation, the 
federal government did not provide consistent guid-
ance to promote mask use [82,83,84]. State preemp-
tion also created challenges for local implementation; 
for example, in Texas, the Governor issued a ban on 
penalties for face coverings after Harris County imple-
mented a mask mandate, while in Nebraska, the Doug-
las County Health Department withdrew its policy af-
ter the state’s Attorney General challenged the city’s 
authority for enforcement [85,86,87]. Additionally, 
the delegation of authority from federal to state to lo-
cal government also cascaded tension and distrust of 
health departments, taking a toll on public health of-
fi cials and politicizing the policy development process.

Community Partnership Development
The pandemic not only cast a spotlight on America’s un-
derinvestment in public health infrastructure at the lo-
cal, state, and national level, it also highlighted the sys-
temic gaps in population health [88,89]. Consequently, 
many health departments went beyond their routine 
responsibilities to meet their community’s health and 
social needs during the pandemic.

For some health departments, this included col-
laborating with actors across the health care system 
to coordinate health services and care planning (e.g., 
isolation procedures, surgery cancellations). For exam-
ple, the health department of Seattle and King County 
helped create the Western Washington Regional CO-
VID Coordination Center, which monitored outbreaks 
in long-term care facilities and coordinated referrals 
according to hospital capacity [38]. With shortages of 
medical supplies hindering the pandemic response in 
many areas, and federal coordination for procurement 
and distribution lacking, local and state health depart-
ments played an active role in coordinating with health 
systems and the Strategic National Stockpile for mate-
rials such as personal protective equipment, medica-
tions, and test kits.

Another key challenge for health departments was 
supporting the ability of vulnerable patients who test-
ed positive to safely self-isolate. Compared to white 
Americans, people of color are more likely to work jobs 
that cannot be performed remotely, live in households 
that are multigenerational, and live in densely popu-
lated areas [90,91,92]. In response, the Fairfax County 
Department of Health in Virginia collaborated with the 
county’s Offi  ce to Prevent and End Homelessness and 
used stimulus funding from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, 
and Economic Security (CARES) Act to develop a Medi-
cal Isolation Program that repurposed hotel rooms for 
non-congregate sheltering [93].

Beyond direct infection control, health departments 
have also adapted to meet other health and social 
needs of their population. In many counties, local 
health departments act as both a service coordinator 
(e.g., for social services) and provider (e.g., for primary 
and preventive care services), and due to shelter-in-
place restrictions, had to adapt their operations to vir-
tual modalities. For example, one regional health de-
partment in Kentucky transitioned to virtual visits for 
its Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Wom-
en, Infants, and Children (WIC) clinics, and was able to 
increase participation rates by 14% [94].



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 10                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

Health Department Challenges
Although health departments were critical to the pan-
demic response, their eff orts were too often limited by 
factors ranging from ambiguity about decision-making 
authorities to operational fragmentation and outdated 
technical infrastructure (see Figure 4).

Clarifying Roles and Lines of Authority
Eff ective local public health governance in the U.S has 
always benefi ted from strong federal leadership. How-
ever, during the COVID-19 pandemic, the federal gov-
ernment largely delegated its responsibilities to gover-
nors, with signifi cant consequences for local and state 
health departments. This created several challenges.

First, the deviation from established federal pro-
tocols for public health emergencies and confl icting 
messages from senior leaders contributed to an at-
mosphere of confusion and fragmented the response 
across states. For example, states, and in some cases 
local jurisdictions, were left to make individual deci-
sions about shelter-in-place orders during March 2020 
without federal guidance. Given the variation in local 
and state health department governance models (see 
Figure 1), the lack of unifi ed decision-making—which 
has persisted throughout the pandemic—has contrib-
uted to variation in the public health sector responses.

Second, local and state health departments strug-
gled to procure supplies and navigate regulations. The 
federal government changed the rules for the Strategic 
National Stockpile—originally intended to “supplement 
state and local supplies during public health emergen-

cies”—in the middle of the pandemic without advance 
notice, shifting the onus for procurement to states 
[95]. The “bidding war” that resulted between states 
for personal protective equipment and ventilators cre-
ated uncertainty for health systems and expanded the 
scope of health department responsibilities at a time 
when public health offi  cials were already overbur-
dened [96]. Additionally, some health departments 
were unfamiliar with many federal regulatory pro-
cesses, such as emergency use authorizations for CO-
VID-19 diagnostics, and the fragmented approach to 
test development and reagent procurement generated 
tremendous pressure on local and state departments.

Third, mixed messaging and shifting public health 
guidance—particularly around mechanisms of trans-
mission (e.g., aerosols) and protocols for school re-
openings—often became a barrier to eff ective local 
decision-making due to the presence of contradictory 
risk messages and misinformation campaigns. These 
challenges also manifested diff erently for local and 
state health departments. For example, nursing homes 
are regulated across multiple levels of government, 
occasionally leading to confl ict and confusion, as was 
the case in Indiana where the state and county issued 
diff erent orders on policies for patient transfers [97]. 
Likewise, oversight of school reopenings varied signifi -
cantly. In California, the variability of local responses 
to school reopenings has led some district leaders to 
advocate for the state to implement more uniform 
standards [98]. Future emergency responses would 
be substantially improved by clarifying lines of author-

FIGURE 4 | Key Challenges for Local and State Health Departments During COVID-19



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 11

ity in an emergency and improving the consistency of 
messaging.

Funding Gaps for Foundational Needs
It is well-known and consistently documented that al-
though the scope of public health responsibility has 
increased in recent years, the broadened purview has 
not been accompanied by a commensurate increase 
in resources, with health departments consistently re-
maining underfunded [8,12,99]. Previous committees 
convened by the IOM have repeatedly called for a para-
digm shift in public funding [9,20,100]. To help guide 
the identifi cation and allocation of resources for popu-
lation health, the Public Health Leadership Forum de-
veloped the Foundational Public Health Services frame-
work, which aligns with Public Health Accreditation 
Board’s (PHAB) Standards & Measures [101,102,103]. 
The severity of existing resource gaps will substantially 
increase due to the pandemic’s potentially long-lasting 
eff ects on population health (e.g., mental health) and 
the damage it has made to progress on other public 
health priorities (e.g., the opioid crisis) [104,105]. While 
infectious disease outbreaks—including COVID-19—
typically prompt the allocation of supplemental fund-
ing, such funds are time-limited, restricted to the out-
break at hand, and generally have not been followed 
with the long-term commitments needed to strengthen 
the foundational capabilities of public health depart-
ments [34,106].

Addressing Systemic Health Inequities
COVID-19 magnifi ed America’s underlying racial and 
socioeconomic inequities in population health [88,89]. 
The disparities are especially stark for Blacks, Latinx, 
American Indian/Alaska Natives, and Native Hawai-
ians and Pacifi c Islanders who have experienced sub-
stantially higher rates of COVID-19 infection, hospital-
ization, and mortality compared to white Americans 
[50,107,108,109,110]. In addition, the Asian American 
population—for which COVID-19 data are frequently 
underreported and often not disaggregated—has ex-
perienced an alarming rise in discrimination and xeno-
phobia [111,112].

To address these disparities, many health depart-
ments developed cross-cutting functions to address 
non-medical needs, and states such as Illinois, Loui-
siana, and Michigan created COVID-19 Health Equity 
Task Forces to explicitly address the pandemic’s dispa-
rate impact [113,114,115]. With committed leadership, 
authentic partnership with communities, dedicated 
funding, accountability, and multi-sector engagement, 

these task forces’ recommendations and actions have 
demonstrated progress on addressing disparities in 
COVID-19. For example, Chicago’s Racial Equity Rapid 
Response team implemented an informational cam-
paign that increased COVID-19 testing rates by 13%, 
performed preventative outreach calls to 68,000 pa-
tients, and secured $3.1 million in COVID-19 relief fund-
ing, which was used to address community needs such 
as rental assistance [116]. Likewise, the city health de-
partment and regional health commission in St. Louis 
partnered to launch PrepareSTL, which coordinated the 
distribution of personal protective equipment to under-
served communities (e.g., at public housing complexes) 
and supported the expansion of testing capacity at Fed-
erally Qualifi ed Health Centers [117]. However, despite 
these promising examples, the paucity of resources 
dedicated to addressing health inequities and the so-
cial determinants of health limited the sector’s overall 
capacity for response.

A notable challenge from the outset of the pandemic 
was the delay in capturing the magnitude of disparities 
[118]. While the challenges of collecting and exchang-
ing demographic data precede COVID-19, the lack of 
data on race and ethnicity during the pandemic was 
especially problematic as it delayed the prioritization 
and allocation of resources to hard-hit communities. 
As data accumulated, it became evident that COVID-19 
disproportionately aff ected populations who were the 
least likely to have access to basic public health re-
sources. For example, the incidence of COVID-19 was 
3.5 times higher among American Indian/Alaska Native 
populations—likely an underestimate given the lack of 
specifi city in demographic data—yet American Indian/
Alaska Native populations were often the least likely 
to access COVID-19 diagnostics or necessary inpatient 
care, in addition to basic public health resources such 
as running water [119,120,121,122,123]. It was also 
well-documented that vulnerable populations who live 
in congregate settings (e.g., individuals in homeless 
shelters, justice-involved populations) were particularly 
susceptible to COVID-19 outbreaks, yet health depart-
ments were largely unequipped to perform the neces-
sary surveillance testing and provide resources for re-
housing and self-isolation [124,125].

The inequities exposed by COVID-19 are not new. 
The question is whether the pandemic will provide a 
suffi  cient impetus for elected offi  cials to reverse the 
ongoing decay of public health infrastructure through 
meaningful, long-term investments in system capacity 
with dedicated resources and attention for addressing 



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 12                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

health inequities and the social determinants of health 
[126].

There are multiple avenues for change, such as im-
proving public health’s analytic capacity to elucidate 
the root causes of disparities. Furthermore, the Chief 
Health Strategist model of Public Health 3.0—in which 
public health leaders “work with all relevant partners 
so that they can drive initiatives including those that 
explicitly address ‘upstream’ social determinants of 
health”—represents a promising approach to breaking 
down historical siloes between public health and social 
care to foster meaningful change [127]. For such in-
terdisciplinary models to succeed, policymakers must 
address funding and resource gaps to restore health 
departments’ foundational capabilities and make such 
cross-sector partnerships viable and sustainable.

Leadership and Workforce
Eff ective crisis management for public health requires 
clear communication from designated leaders who are 
empowered to make decisions. Many local and state 
public health offi  cials have been celebrated during the 
pandemic for their poise and focus on the facts and 
evidence. However, as COVID-19 has continued, public 
health guidance and directives—which are designed 
using the latest evidence and contextualized to local 
communities—have become increasingly politicized. 
Public health offi  cials have become a casualty of the 
polarized climate, with nearly 200 confi rmed fi rings, 
resignations, or retirements as of December 2020 
[128]. Social media has played a prominent role in the 
harassment of public health offi  cials, who have re-
ceived death threats and been subjected to organized 
protests at their personal residences [129]. Distress-
ingly, some elected offi  cials themselves have encour-
aged and even participated in these attacks, which not 
only undermine the pandemic response, but also build 
on growing public distrust of non-partisan, scientifi c in-
stitutions [130].

The challenges extend to the public health workforce 
as well, which has expanded substantially during the 
pandemic. The majority of hires have been for tempo-
rary contact tracing positions, requiring departments 
to dedicate resources to short-term training without 
fi lling the long-term need for a workforce with dedi-
cated public health training and the requisite technical, 
cultural, and linguistic competencies. Contact tracers 
hired for COVID-19 have also experienced challenges, 
with reports of harassment on social media [131]. In-
dependently, several departments have had to cross-
train existing staff  to meet demand for contact tracing, 

which can leave little spare capacity to address other 
core public health duties [132]. Elected leaders need 
to affi  rm their support for data-driven decision-making 
and the non-partisan nature of health departments to 
ensure their credibility, and must provide suffi  cient re-
sources to ensure that public health functions are sus-
tainable.

Data Sharing and Technology Platforms
A signifi cant limiting factor for public health depart-
ments during COVID-19 has been the use of obsolete 
technology platforms. Additionally, there continues 
to be resistance on the part of hospitals to sharing 
key data that could be relevant during infectious dis-
ease outbreaks (e.g., admission, discharge, and trans-
fer data) [133]. Furthermore, even when hospitals or 
laboratories have been amenable to sharing data for 
COVID-19, they have only been required to report to 
the federal Department of Health and Human Services 
(HHS), and not to local health departments, potentially 
delaying local decision-making [134].

Technological limitations also mask the disparate im-
pact of the COVID-19 pandemic on people of color, as 
noted in the preceding subsection on “Addressing Sys-
temic Health Inequities” [135]. Analyses of state and lo-
cal health departments suggest that more than a third 
of cases lacked race and ethnicity data due to both in-
complete forms from clinical labs and health care sites 
and outdated digital infrastructure for health depart-
ments. Several states continued to report no ethnicity 
data at all as of September 2020 [136]. While individual 
health departments have sought to close the informa-
tion gap, such as the New York City Department of 
Health and Mental Hygiene’s publication of neighbor-
hood-level COVID-19 maps as early as April 2020, the 
consistent gaps in public health surveillance and lack 
of technical uniformity have exacerbated the inequities 
of the pandemic [136,137].

The use of outdated infrastructure, coupled with the 
lack of integration of new diagnostic technologies (e.g., 
point of care, home-based) with health departments or 
the health care system, has also slowed the pandemic 
response and aff ected the credibility of health offi  cials. 
For example, a backlog of over 300,000 test results oc-
curred in California in part due to data glitches [138]. 
Likewise, in Texas, more than 1 million test results 
were lost over the summer of 2020 [139]. These data 
integrity challenges aff ected the ability of local offi  cials 
to make decisions about reopenings, demonstrating 
the need for interoperable platforms for public health 
and reaffi  rming the urgency of ongoing collaborations 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 13

to create a “data superhighway” for public health [140]. 
Importantly, these defi ciencies are not due to a lack of 
will among local and state health departments, but to a 
dearth of resources to support building such systems.

Partnerships and Community Engagement
With the COVID-19 pandemic disrupting aspects of 
everyday life ranging from education to business op-
erations to health care delivery, eff ective emergency 
response requires a broad set of community partner-
ships. Eff ective engagement strategies require health 
departments to convene diverse stakeholder groups, 
coordinate across historical siloes, and overcome cul-
tural diff erences and the limited availability of funds.

For example, research indicates that the public 
health sector has long faced challenges with communi-
cating across sectors [141]. While nearly all local health 
departments engage in cross-sector partnerships (e.g., 
with K-12 schools), most engagement is surface level 
(e.g., information exchange), with notable gaps in col-
laboration with the media [12]. Additionally, formal col-
laborations with other health care, community-based, 
and government partners have declined since 2008, 
and had not recovered to pre-recession levels prior 
to the pandemic. Gaps in communication posed chal-
lenges for combating misinformation and achieving 
compliance with COVID-19 restrictions. Partnerships 
provided a vehicle to support community engagement 
and secure buy-in. For example, “Challenge Seattle” 
brought together the Seattle and King County Health 
Department and business leaders from local compa-
nies (e.g., Amazon, Microsoft, and Starbucks) to cre-
ate a forum for the co-development of best practices 
(e.g., workplace safety guidelines) and shared decision-
making about data reporting and reopening timelines 
[142]. However, the depth of engagement and coopera-
tion varied across the country and was often hindered 
when elected offi  cials contradicted public health guid-
ance. For example, states such as Florida and Texas 
proceeded with lifting restrictions despite failing to 
meet both local and national criteria for reopening. 
The experience illustrates the value of tools such as the 
Public Health Reaching Across Sectors (PHRASES) proj-
ect to help proactively develop relationships and part-
nerships for public health [143].

Moving forward, the challenge for health depart-
ments will be developing avenues to sustain these 
partnerships outside of crisis settings, while also deter-
mining which infrastructure and programmatic needs 
would be best met through internal capacity develop-
ment as opposed to external collaboration.

Priority Actions and Policy Considerations

Generations of reports from the IOM have stressed the 
critical importance of public health infrastructure to 
population health and the need to address longstand-
ing issues ranging from funding shortages to institu-
tional siloes [9,20,100]. COVID-19 has reaffi  rmed this 
call to action, demonstrating the centrality of robust 
public health systems to the health and wellbeing of so-
ciety. As the U.S. prepares for the post-pandemic era, it 
will be imperative for policymakers to not only develop 
mechanisms to improve preparedness for future public 
health emergencies, but also to address the chronic ne-
glect of foundational public health capabilities in com-
munities across the country. This section outlines the 
priority actions and policy considerations for the public 
health sector, with a focus on:

1. Transforming public health funding;
2. Affi  rming the mandate for public health;
3. Promoting structural alignment across the public 

health sector;
4. Investing in leadership and workforce develop-

ment;
5. Modernizing data and IT capabilities; and 
6. Supporting partnerships and community en-

gagement. 

Transforming Public Health Funding
While public health has faced many challenges dur-
ing COVID-19—including outdated infrastructure, a 
beleaguered workforce, and inequities in access and 
outcomes—the lasting lesson for policymakers must 
be a recognition that these structural shortcomings 
were not caused by the pandemic, but rather already 
endemic for the sector after decades of chronic neglect 
and underinvestment in public health. Each of the pol-
icy considerations in this section highlights an existing 
pressure point in the system and a series of priority ac-
tions for relieving strain on the sector and preparing 
public health to meet future challenges. Yet meaningful 
change within each domain will only be possible if poli-
cymakers address the generational gaps in resources 
for public health, and guide future investments with an 
explicit focus on health equity.

The funding problem has two dimensions. First, 
the scale of public health funding has long been inad-
equate to address the full scope of population health 
needs, with a particular dearth of targeted resources to 
address health inequities and the social determinants 
of health. Second, the organization of public health 
funding is far too restrictive and lacks the ability to rap-



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 14                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

idly reallocate funds to address emerging needs and 
crisis situations. These issues predate the pandemic 
and are pervasive at each level of the public health sys-
tem, with COVID-19 providing a stark reminder of the 
human cost of disinvestments in public health.

Moving forward, policymakers should consider tak-
ing several steps to close the funding gaps in public 
health. For one, leaders at all levels of government—
local, state, federal, tribal, and territorial—could con-
sider implementing the recommendations from the 
IOM’s 2012 report to provide funding for a minimum 
package of public health services (e.g., maternal and 
child health promotion, mental health and substance 
abuse), and construct a system for monitoring spend-
ing and outcomes to optimize future resource alloca-
tions [20]. The Public Health Infrastructure Fund rep-
resents a model for how policymakers can organize 
investments in the foundational capabilities of health 
departments [144]. Additionally, to better equip health 
departments to meet their local community needs and 
have the capacity to adapt during emergency situa-
tions, policymakers should consider implementing the 
recommendations from Public Health 3.0 to develop 
funding sources that are fl exible in nature, as opposed 
to the current paradigm which emphasizes categorical 
funding [127].

Most importantly, funding must be dedicated to the 
explicit purpose of addressing racial and socioeco-
nomic inequities in health. While so-called “braiding 
and budgeting” strategies have been promising (e.g., 
“Children’s Cabinet” in Maryland), and new popula-
tion-based payment models can help orient fi nancing 
towards the social determinants of health (e.g., the 

California Accountable Communities for Health), truly 
moving the needle for disparities will require dedicated 
funding to sustain the many pandemic-era health equi-
ty initiatives beyond COVID-19 [127,145]. Priority areas 
to transform public health funding are summarized in 
Box 1.

Affi  rming the Mandate for Public Health
Closing the funding gap for public health must be ac-
companied by a focused eff ort to resolve ambiguities 
in the scope of jurisdictional authority, which contrib-
ute to the uneven nature of public health protection 
across the nation. In the aftermath of COVID-19, it will 
be imperative for state and local public health agen-
cies to take the steps needed to achieve accountability 
to performance standards advanced by established 
national public health accreditation entities or equiva-
lent state and local quality improvement bodies. Rec-
ognizing that public health in the 21st century requires 
the capacity to manage chronic diseases, address the 
social determinants of health, advance health equity, 
and maintain preparedness for global health threats, 
it will be imperative that the mandate for public health 
agencies include “Foundational” capabilities such as 
risk communication and laboratory services for rapid 
disease detection [11]. To promote accountability, 
policymakers will need to ensure that any mandate for 
performance is suffi  ciently resourced and that health 
departments receive the necessary support and fund-
ing to perform reviews, conduct reporting, and achieve 
compliance—a key limiting factor for existing accredi-
tation processes.

BOX 1 | Considerations for Transforming Public Health Funding

• Allow for more fl exibility in routine and emergency program funding streams to enable 
jurisdictions at all levels to directly meet the needs for public health surge capacity 
during times of crisis, in response to evolving epidemiological challenges, or to address 
the specifi c needs of vulnerable populations

• Establish adequate, reliable, fl exible and sustainable funding mechanisms to support 
the foundational capabilities of public health via federal, state, and local mechanisms 
benchmarked to the populations and communities which a given department serves

• Invest in the upstream drivers of health, including the social determinants of health, 
to create more resilient communities with systems to support the full scope of health 
needs

• Create adequate, reliable, and sustainable funding sources to support jurisdictions 
at all levels to participate in established public health accreditation and/or quality 
improvement processes 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 15

To enable state and local health departments to ex-
ecute their public health mandate, policymakers will 
need to address inconsistencies in statutory authori-
ties and responsibilities across jurisdictional boundar-
ies. For example, the CDC’s Public Health Law Program 
could consider leading a concerted eff ort to identify 
model statutory language that could be implemented 
to foster consistency in authorities [146]. Such steps 
would improve the public’s understanding of expected 
protections and provide clarity for funding, commu-
nications, and resource allocation, particularly during 
emergency situations. For example, if preparedness is 
the purview of all local health departments, then fund-
ing for such essential services should be directed to 
local public health agencies rather than to other local 
authorities. Proactively clarifying the scope of authori-
ties will help to foster shared accountability with core 
governmental partners while also supporting stronger, 
clearer linkages across sectors.

Finally, any policy actions to affi  rm the mandate for 
public health must be inclusive of all types of agencies, 
including tribal and territorial health departments, 
which continue to be inadequately resourced and lack 
the necessary technical support and political standing 
needed to promote the health of their communities. 
While the unique challenges and specifi c consider-
ations for these departments are beyond the scope of 
this paper, which is focused on local and state health 
agencies, it is necessary to acknowledge the historical 
legacies of systemic neglect and call for improved co-
ordination with and dedicated attention to the needs 
of these entities.

Priority actions to affi  rm and clarify the mandate for 
the public health sector following COVID-19 are sum-
marized in Box 2.

Promoting Structural Alignment Across the Public 
Health Sector
To operationalize their public health mandate, local 
and state departments need to be capable of deliver-
ing a standard set of evidence-based services to their 
communities. This remit is captured in the existing 
framework for “Essential” public health services that 
was updated in 2020 [10]. But as COVID-19 has shown, 
translating rhetoric into reality requires defi ned com-
petencies and dedicated resources. The Public Health 
National Center for Innovations’ framework for “Foun-
dational” public health services outlines the capa-
bilities which health departments need to develop to 
deliver on their mission [11]. Additionally, the PHAB 
accreditation process can help to objectively assess a 
given department’s capacity to deliver the 10 essential 
services [17].

The challenge will be how to promote structural 
alignment to ensure that every local, state, tribal, and 
territorial public health department is equipped with 
the same basic tools. To be clear, promoting a conver-
gence towards common functionality and standard-
ized competencies does not mean that all departments 
must look and act exactly alike. The demographic and 
geographic diversity of America’s communities inher-
ently requires health departments to tailor their work 
to the unique needs of their local population. Rather, a 
standard set of guiding principles allows departments 
to collectively streamline their work from the outset, 
and also promotes excellence as a norm to improve 
quality and foster accountability across the nation. 
These steps would enhance the ability of health de-
partments to meet the needs of their local communi-
ties and pursue innovation through cross-sector part-
nerships.

Health departments possess multiple avenues to 
promote structural alignment to advance the health 
of their communities. One approach is to develop for-

BOX 2 | Considerations for Affi  rming the Mandate for Public Health

• Harmonize statutory authorities across jurisdictions
• Allocate resources to fund a mandate for accountability across all jurisdictions for 

performance via established national public health accreditation entities or equivalent 
state and local quality improvement bodies within fi ve years

• Require better coordination with and support for tribal governments and territorial 
health departments



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 16                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

mal collaboratives in which departments work to co-
ordinate services across jurisdictions and sectors. For 
example, Allegheny Health Department in Pennsylva-
nia launched “Live Well Allegheny”, which aims to co-
ordinate activities for chronic disease prevention (e.g., 
increasing access to healthy food, promoting partner-
ships for physical activity) across the 130 municipalities 
within the county [147]. Likewise, a number of health 
departments in Massachusetts have engaged in cross-
jurisdictional sharing of public health services (e.g., the 
Central Massachusetts Regional Public Health Alliance, 
Berkshire Public Health Alliance), with the state’s Offi  ce 
of Local and Regional Health providing technical as-
sistance to local offi  cials interested in developing new 
partnerships [148].

Another model is to pursue functional regionaliza-
tion, in which health departments collaborate on se-
lect initiatives to maximize effi  ciency. This model can 
help health departments achieve economies of scale 
for targeted public health campaigns. For example, 
Health Kansas City—a public-private partnership to 
create a culture of health—launched the Tobacco 21 
| KC initiative, a regionally coordinated eff ort for a 
specifi c public health goal (promoting smoking cessa-
tion) in over a dozen municipalities [127]. Another use 
case of functional regionalization is enhancing the pur-
chasing power and service sharing across health de-
partments to support emergency preparedness.  For 
example, the Western Washington Regional COVID-19 
Coordination Center helped triage patients according 
to facility capacity and monitor inventory for personal 
protective equipment [38]. Likewise, in West Virginia, 
health departments worked together to coordinate be-
tween local pharmacies and long-term care facilities, 
enabling the state to be an early leader for COVID-19 
vaccinations [149].

While the optimal model for a given health depart-
ment will likely depend on the specifi c context and 
needs of the local community which they serve, these 
examples illustrate how strategic partnerships—cou-
pled with sustainable funding—can better position 
health departments to deliver on their fundamental 
mission and address the increasingly complex health 
problems of the 21st century.

Opportunities to promote structural alignment are 
summarized in Box 3. 

Investing in Leadership and Workforce Develop-
ment
Public health workers and leaders have operated un-
der unprecedented strain during the COVID-19 pan-
demic. The burden on staff  was not only due to the 
scale and scope of the crisis, but also because of nega-
tive public sentiment and active interference from 
elected offi  cials. Given the existing challenges for the 
public health workforce, which range from the lack of 
diversity to gaps in recruitment, persistence of uncom-
petitive salaries, and limited opportunities for profes-
sional growth and advancement, systemic reforms to 
leadership and workforce development are needed 
to equip health departments with the human capital 
needed to deliver the public health mission in the 21st 
century [150,151].

The kind of leadership called for during the pandem-
ic—interdisciplinary expertise, capacity to collaborate 
across sectors, ability to communicate with policymak-
ers and the public—is characteristic of the model of the 
Chief Health Strategist proposed in the Public Health 
3.0 report [152]. The Chief Health Strategist role, as 
envisioned, would draw from cross-cutting and diverse 
partnerships to build collective impact, leverage new 
sources of data to extract novel insights, and bolster 
the pipeline for the public health workforce through 

BOX 3 | Considerations for Promoting Structural Alignment Across the 
Public Health Sector

• Align the structure and function of health departments to ensure all residents are 
protected by agencies possessing the foundational capabilities needed to perform the 
10 Essential Public Health Services

• Defi ne the ideal size and structure for health departments at the local level to have 
optimal performance, and reduce redundancy by addressing overlapping jurisdictions

• Transition towards models of shared services across jurisdictions and/or regionalization 
to improve eff ectiveness and effi  ciency



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 17

connections with non-governmental sectors like pri-
vate business and academia. Chief Health Strategists 
will also need to possess the necessary savvy and 
policy relationships to support robust collaboration 
with local and state government and clear communica-
tion with the lay public to dispel myths and perceived 
tradeoff s associated with public health actions during 
public health emergencies. These are vital skillsets for 
navigating crisis situations.

Several pioneering communities across the country 
had already begun to experiment with this evolving 
model of enhanced leadership prior to the pandemic. 
For example, the Baltimore health department’s work 
to address challenges ranging from the opioid crisis to 
racial inequities illustrated the value of having public 
health offi  cials who possess the capacity to mobilize 
community action to address upstream social determi-
nants that have traditionally been beyond the reach of 
public health agencies [153]. Likewise, the Boston Pub-
lic Health Commission has used the Chief Health Strat-
egist model to form collaborations with community or-
ganizations, government agencies, and private sector 
entities across the city. For instance, with the city facing 
rising income inequality, the department’s Chief Health 
Strategists have led initiatives to form new strategic 
partnerships related to housing and anti-displacement 
and inclusive economic growth [154].

Fostering these collaborations is not just an at-
tempt to energize current employees—it is critical to 
the sustainability of public health as a fi eld. The public 
health workforce must be signifi cantly expanded and 
transformed simply to meet its daily needs, let alone 
build reserves for the next public health crisis. Given 
that low pay is a leading factor undermining reten-
tion, the process of workforce development should 
begin with providing reasonable salaries to recruit and 
retain public health talent [155]. Diversifying public 
health skillsets will require broadening departmental 

recruitment. For example, partnerships with academic 
institutions can help to hone education programs and 
skillsets for future employment through service learn-
ing and internships. Likewise, engaging the business 
community through business schools, short-term fel-
lowships, and career exchange programs can provide 
avenues to support leadership development and fos-
ter expertise in fi nance and operations. Furthermore, 
as the COVID-19 experience has demonstrated, eff ec-
tive public health requires a workforce with capabilities 
in IT and data, to enable departments to appropriately 
respond to emerging health concerns and develop the 
capacity for online engagement with the public. Lastly, 
with the pandemic highlighting America’s longstanding 
health disparities and the importance of tailoring solu-
tions to the local context, recruitment eff orts should 
prioritize drawing from the communities which health 
departments serve, with a special emphasis on devel-
oping pathways to the profession for individuals from 
all backgrounds and axes of representation.

Priority actions and policy considerations to support 
workforce development for public health are summa-
rized in Box 4.

Modernizing Data and IT Capabilities
As outlined in the earlier section on the “State and Lo-
cal Public Health Response to COVID-19”, outdated 
technological infrastructure slowed the public health 
response on many occasions, from exchanging labo-
ratory results with health systems to maintaining 
real-time dashboards for public information. While 
public-private partnerships enabled departments to 
fi ll technical gaps, the COVID-19 experience illustrated 
the overdue need to invest in health departments’ data 
and IT capabilities.

In its ideal form, a 21st century health department 
should not only possess the capacity to provide base-
line data that is timely and locally relevant, but also 

BOX 4 | Considerations for Investing in Leadership and Workforce Development

• Adopt the Chief Health Strategist model for health department leadership
• Support the retention and recruitment of diverse public health professionals and 

leaders who are representative of the community they serve, with updated mechanisms 
to ensure appropriate compensation and recognition

• Develop programs and resources to support the ongoing professional development 
of the incumbent and pipeline workforce to meet the population health needs of the 
21st century



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 18                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

be able to scale such eff orts in times of crisis. This will 
require internal expertise as well as ongoing collabo-
rations with academia and the private sector to en-
able real-time and geographically granular data (e.g., 
sub-county, neighborhood) to be shared, linked, and 
synthesized quickly to inform action. For example, the 
maps developed by the Coronavirus Resource Center 
at Johns Hopkins University are used globally as a ref-
erence point for tracking infection trends. A key area 
of focus will be ensuring the interoperability of data 
systems within the public health sector and across the 
health care system writ large to improve the effi  ciency 
of communication and execution. Investments in tech-
nical capabilities can also support health departments 
in their eff orts to better identify disparities in health 
and address the upstream drivers of these disparities. 
In particular, developing and collecting standardized 
data elements for race, ethnicity, income, and other 
key demographic factors (e.g., ZIP Code) is critical to 
both diagnose and address inequities, as modeled by 
California’s “vulnerability index” for COVID-19 [156].

Box 5 highlights the policy considerations that would 
help to enhance the data and IT capabilities of public 
health agencies moving forward.

Supporting Partnerships and Community Engage-
ment
The breadth of functions covered by public health re-
quires partnerships with those outside the sector in 
the best of times, let alone emergency situations. In the 
aftermath of COVID-19, local and state public health of-
fi cials need to build on the cross-sector relationships 
they have developed during the pandemic and develop 
sustainable avenues for coordination to address long-
term health inequities and population health needs.

Partnership opportunities may manifest diff erently 
across each level of public health. For example, local 

health departments may benefi t from partnerships 
with multiple sectors, particularly with community-
based organizations. Collaborating on community 
needs assessments provides an opportunity for lo-
cal health departments to partner with other entities 
to identify shared challenges and goals for a specifi c 
population and geography. Importantly, local collabo-
rations can create a foundation of trust to promote 
coordination both in foundational areas and during cri-
sis situations. Likewise, state health departments may 
benefi t from forging strategic partnerships at a slightly 
larger scale, such as coordinating preparedness eff orts 
with local and national governments, academic medi-
cal centers, regional hospital associations, and private 
industry.

This focus on strategic coalition building across all 
dimensions of public health will not only reinforce the 
Chief Health Strategist model for public health lead-
ership, but also address long-standing capacity gaps 
within the sector. For example, health departments 
should build on the PHRASES project from the de 
Beaumont Foundation to improve public health com-
munication, as research shows that eff ective public 
health communication requires tailoring language to 
the unique context of diff erent stakeholders (e.g., in 
business, in education) [141]. Likewise, building on col-
laborations with academia—which has exponentially 
increased off erings for public health training programs 
and provided pandemic support functions including 
technology development, testing and tracing centers, 
and vaccine distribution models—can off er added ca-
pacity for addressing complex population health chal-
lenges. The Academic Health Department model may 
provide a framework for future collaboration [26]. Ad-
ditionally, developing mechanisms for outreach, mu-
tual trust, and respect across community sectors can 

BOX 5 | Considerations for Modernizing Data and IT Capabilities

• Build a 21st century digital infrastructure for public health at the local, state, and 
federal levels

• Establish national standards to enhance public health IT system interoperability
• Modernize surveillance approaches to include novel signals from data sources such as 

social media, electronic health records, and crowdsourcing
• Set national standards to ensure that health data is routinely disaggregated by race, 

ethnicity, and other key sociodemographic characteristics to the community level (as 
appropriate to ensure anonymity) to identify disproportionate health impacts and 
outcomes



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 19

help streamline communication during emergency sit-
uations, when the real-time evolution of data can cre-
ate an environment of misinformation and aff ect the 
credibility of health offi  cials.

Beyond supporting communication and outreach, 
partnerships can also help augment the capacity of 
health departments to deliver on their public health 
mission. This requires establishing coordinating struc-
tures and identifying leadership organizations. In some 
cases, public health agencies may take the lead as 
backbone organizations, while in others, health depart-
ments may serve as a convener, with other partners 
leading the way for ground-level implementation. Un-
der such models, established community entities can 
play crucial roles as sources of trusted information, 
helping to disseminate credible guidance and informa-
tion for the population. Health systems and other care 
delivery organizations are natural partners in this re-
gard given their role as community pillars and the shift 
to population health mandates and fi nancing arrange-
ments, as evidenced by the ongoing demonstrations 
for Accountable Health Communities. Such partner-
ships will be vital as the public health sector collabo-
rates across government, health systems, and commu-
nity organizations to scale initiatives to address health 
inequities.

Policy considerations for supporting partnership de-
velopment and community engagement are presented 
in Box 6.

Conclusion

COVID-19 provides a stark reminder of the tremendous 
social value of robust public health systems and the 
harrowing consequences for populations when those 
capabilities are allowed to atrophy through neglect and 
underinvestment. The public health sector has been 
critical to America’s pandemic response, from leading 

testing and tracing eff orts to monitoring infection rates 
to coordinating vaccination campaigns to support out-
break control. Through the crisis,  health departments 
have led in spite of the obstacles posed by insuffi  cient 
resources, inadequate infrastructure, and institutional 
siloes—challenges which long predate the pandemic. 
Consequently, enhancing the sector’s preparedness for 
future public health emergencies will require fi rst ad-
dressing the structural inadequacies in how American 
public health is funded and governed, with a dedicated 
focus on remediating the pervasive and preexisting 
health inequities which have caused disproportionate 
outcomes during COVID-19.

In this discussion paper, leaders from the public 
health sector have sought to share their experiences 
to date from the pandemic response and propose a 
series of priority actions for policymakers to consider 
as the nation charts a roadmap for the post-pandemic 
era. These include closing funding gaps for foundation-
al capabilities, affi  rming the mandate for public health, 
promoting structural alignment, investing in workforce 
development, modernizing data capabilities, and sup-
porting cross-sector partnerships. Such actions are 
necessary to ensure that the tragedies of the present 
become a turning point for the future—a future where 
the United States is capable of protecting and promot-
ing the health of all people in all communities against 
the population health challenges of the 21st century.

References

1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 1999. 
Ten Great Public Health Achievements—United 
States, 1900-1999. MMWR, 48;12:241-242. Available 
at: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/PDF/wk/mm4812.
pdf (accessed February 19, 2021). 

2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019. 
National Notifi able Diseases Surveillance System. 

BOX 6 | Considerations for Supporting Partnerships and Community Engagement

• Establish and maintain regional and/or state-level backbone entities that can be 
leveraged during crises for shared action 

• Cultivate relationships with non-traditional partners including employers, the business 
sector, and technology

• Identify a new backbone national entity that can support collaboration to achieve 
unifi ed policy recommendations from all the core components of the public health 
sector

• Enhance trust and credibility through improved risk communication with public health 
authorities



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 20                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

Available at: https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nndss/ (ac-
cessed October 28, 2020).

3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
Tobacco Control Programs. Available at: https://
www.cdc.gov/tobacco/stateandcommunity/to-
bacco_control_programs/index.htm?CDC_AA_
refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Ftobac
co%2Fstateandcommunity%2Ftobacco_control_
programs%2Fntcp%2Findex.htm (accessed Octo-
ber 28, 2020).

4. Krieger, J., and D. L. Higgins. 2002. Housing and 
Health: Time Again for Public Health Action. Ameri-
can Journal of Public Health, 92;5:758-768. https://
doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.5.758.

5. Woolf, S. H., and H. Schoomaker. 2019. Life Ex-
pectancy and Mortality Rates in the United States, 
1959-2017. JAMA 322;20:1996-2016. https://doi.
org/10.1001/jama.2019.16932.

6. Chetty, R., M. Stepner, S. Abraham, S. Lin, B. Scud-
eri, N. Turner, A. Bergeron, and D. Cutler. 2016. The 
Association Between Income and Life Expectancy 
in the United States, 2001-2014. JAMA 315;16:1750-
1766. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.4226.

7. Zimmerman, F. J., and N. W. Anderson. 2019. Trends 
in Health Equity in the United States by Race/Eth-
nicity, Sex, and Income, 1993-2017. JAMA Network 
Open 2;6:e196386. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama-
networkopen.2019.6386.

8. ASTHO. 2020. New Data on State Health Agencies 
Shows Shrinking Workforce and Decreased Funding 
Leading up to the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available at: 
https://www.astho.org/Press-Room/New-Data-
on-State-Health-Agencies-Shows-Shrinking-Work-
force-and-Decreased-Funding-Leading-up-to-the-
COVID-19-Pandemic/09-24-20/ (accessed October 
28, 2020).

9. Institute of Medicine (IOM). 1988. The Future of 
Public Health. Washington, DC: The National Acad-
emies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/1091.

10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
10 Essential Public Health Services. Available at: 
https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/publi-
chealthservices/essentialhealthservices.html (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

11. PHNIC. 2018. Foundational Public Health Services. 
Available at: https://phnci.org/uploads/resource-
fi les/FPHS-Factsheet-November-2018.pdf (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

12. NACCHO. 2019. National Profi le of Local Health De-
partments. Available at: https://www.naccho.org/
uploads/downloadable-resources/Programs/Pub-

lic-Health-Infrastructure/NACCHO_2019_Profi le_fi -
nal.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

13. ASTHO. 2016. Profi le of State and Territorial Health 
Volume 4. Available at: https://www.astho.org/
Profi le/Volume-Four/2016-ASTHO-Profi le-of-State-
and-Territorial-Public-Health/ (accessed October 
29, 2020).

14. ASTHO. 2012. State and Local Health Department 
Governance Classifi cation System. Available at: 
https://www.astho.org/Research/Data-and-Anal-
ysis/State-and-Local-Governance-Classification-
Tree/ (accessed October 29, 2020).

15. Offi  ce of Local and Regional Health. 2020. Overview 
of Local Public Health in Massachusetts. Available at: 
https://www.mass.gov/service-details/overview-
of-local-public-health-in-massachusetts (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

16. PHAB. 2020. Accreditation Background. Available at: 
https://phaboard.org/accreditation-background/ 
(accessed on November 4, 2020).

17. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
National Voluntary Accreditation for Public Health De-
partments. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/pub-
lichealthgateway/accreditation/departments.html 
(accessed October 29, 2020).

18. Yeager, V. A., J. Ye, J. Kronstadt, N. Robin, C. J. Leep, 
and L. M. Beitsch. 2016. National Voluntary Public 
Health Accreditation: Are More Local Health De-
partments Intending to Take Part? Journal of Public 
Health Management Practice 22;2:149-156. https://
doi.org/10.1097/PHH.0000000000000242.

19. Leider, J. P., B. Resnick, D. Bishal, and F. D. Scutch-
fi eld. 2018. How Much Do We Spend? Creating 
Historical Estimates of Public Health Expendi-
tures in the United States at the Federal, State, 
and Local Levels. Annual Review of Public Health 
39:471-487. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publ-
health-040617-013455.

20. Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2012. For the Public’s 
Health: Investing in a Healthier Future. Washington, 
DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.
org/10.17226/13268.

21. Himmelstein, D. U., and S. Woolhandler. 2016. 
Public Health’s Falling Share of US Health Spend-
ing. American Journal of Public Health 106;1:56-57. 
https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302908.

22. NACCHO. 2018. The 2018 Forces of Change in Ameri-
ca’s Local Public Health System. Available at: https://
www.naccho.org/blog/articles/the-2018-forces-
of-change-in-americas-local-public-health-system 
(accessed October 29, 2020).



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 21

23. Bogaert, K., B. C. Castrucci, E. Gould, K. Sellers, J. P. 
Leider, C. Whang, and V. Whitten. 2019. The Public 
Health Workforce Interests and Needs Survey (PH 
WINS 2017): An Expanded Perspective on the State 
Health Agency Workforce. Journal of Public Health 
Management 25:S16-S25. https://doi.org/10.1097/
PHH.0000000000000932.

24. Bogaert, K., B. C. Castrucci, E. Gould, K. Sellers, and 
J. P. Leider. 2019. Changes in the State Governmen-
tal Public Health Workforce: Demographics and 
Perceptions, 2014-2017. Journal of Public Health 
Management and Practice 25:S58-S66. https://doi.
org/10.1097/PHH.0000000000000933.

25. NACCHO. 2020. Keep Communities Healthy by 
Investing in the Public Health Workforce. Avail-
able at: https://www.naccho.org/uploads/
downloadable-resources/Workforce-COALI-
TION-2020-4-14-20201.pdf (accessed October 29, 
2020).

26. Erwin, P. C., A. J. Beck, V. A. Yeager, and J. P. 
Leider. 2019. Public Health Undergraduates in 
the Workforce: A Trickle, Soon a Wave? American 
Journal of Public Health 109: 685-687. https://doi.
org/10.2105/AJPH.2019.305004.

27. Leider, J. P., C. M. Plepys, B. C. Castrucci, E. M. Burke, 
and C. H. Blakely. 2018. Trends in the Conferral of 
Graduate Public Health Degrees: A Triangulated 
Approach. Public Health Reports 133(6): 729-737. 
https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354918791542.

28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
Bridging Public Health and Health Care. Available 
at: https://www.cdc.gov/surveillance/projects/
bridging-public-health-and-health-care-better-
exchange-better-data.html (accessed October 29, 
2020).

29. Miri, A., and D. P. O’Neill. 2020. Accelerating 
Data Infrastructure for COVID-19 Surveillance 
and Management. Health Aff airs Blog. https://doi.
org/10.1377/hblog20200413.644614.

30. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. 
2019. Driving Public Health in the Fast Lane: The 
Urgent Need for a 21st Century Data Superhighway. 
Available at: https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.cste.
org/resource/resmgr/pdfs/pdfs2/Driving_PH_
Print.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

31. National Coalition of STD Directors. 2018. Annual 
CDC STD Prevention Budget FY2003—FY2018. Avail-
able at: https://www.ncsddc.org/wp-content/up-
loads/2018/08/Syphilis-over-time-vs-Federal-fund-
ing_NCSD.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

32. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 

2019. New CDC Report: STDs Continue to Rise in the 
U.S. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchhstp/
newsroom/2019/2018-STD-surveillance-report-
press-release.html (accessed March 1, 2021).

33. Trust for America’s Health. 2020. The Impact of 
Chronic Underfunding on America’s Public Health 
System: Trends, Risks, and Recommendations, 2020. 
Available at: https://www.tfah.org/wp-content/up-
loads/2020/04/TFAH2020PublicHealthFunding.pdf  
(accessed November 19, 2020).

34. Murthy, B. P., N. A. M. Molinari, T. T. LeBlanc, S. 
J. Vagi, and R. N. Avchen. 2017. Progress in Pub-
lic Health Emergency Preparedness—United 
States, 2001–2016. American Journal of Public 
Health 107;S2:S180-S185. https://doi.org/10.2105/
AJPH.2017.304038.

35. Tavernise, S. 2016. U.S. Funding for Fighting Zika 
Virus is Nearly Spent, CDC Says. August 30, New 
York Times. Available at: https://www.nytimes.
com/2016/08/31/health/us-funding-for-fighting-
zika-virus-is-nearly-spent-cdc-says.html (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

36. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
Zika Local Health Department Initiative. Available 
at: https://www.cdc.gov/pregnancy/zika/research/
lhdi.html (accessed February 19, 2021). 

37. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
PHPR Funding for Zika Preparedness and Response 
Activities. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/cpr/
readiness/funding-zika.htm (accessed October 29, 
2020).

38. Mitchell, S. H., E. M. Bulger, H. C. Duber, A. L. Gren-
inger, T. D. Ong, S. C. Morris, L. D. Chew, T. M. 
Haff ner, V. L. Sakata, and J. B. Lynch. 2020. West-
ern Washington State COVID-19 Experience: Keys 
to Flattening the Curve and Eff ective Health Sys-
tem Response. Journal of the American College of 
Surgeons 231;3:316-324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
jamcollsurg.2020.06.006.

39. State of Louisiana. 2020. Proclamation Number 25 
JBE 2020. Available at: https://gov.louisiana.gov/as-
sets/ExecutiveOrders/25-JBE-2020-COVID-19.pdf 
(accessed November 5, 2020).

40. Kliff , S., and M. Sanger-Katz. 2020. Bottleneck for 
U.S. Coronavirus Response: The Fax Machine. July 
13, New York Times. Available at: https://www.ny-
times.com/2020/07/13/upshot/coronavirus-re-
sponse-fax-machines.html (accessed October 29, 
2020).

41. Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Louisiana. 2020. Blue 
Cross Platform Powers COVID-19 Louisiana Outbreak 



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 22                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

Tracker in Collaboration with State Health Depart-
ment. Available at: https://news.bcbsla.com/press-
releases/2020/covid-la-outbreak-tracker (accessed 
October 29, 2020).  

42. Washington State Department of Health. 2020. 
New Dashboards Make COVID-19 Data Visual. Avail-
able at: https://www.doh.wa.gov/Newsroom/
Articles/ID/1133/New-dashboards-make-COVID-
19-data-visual (accessed October 29, 2020).

43. Offi  ce of Governor Gretchen Whitmer. 2020. 
New Online Dashboard Provides COVID-19 Risk 
and Trend Data, Helps Inform MI Safe Start Plan. 
Available at: https://www.michigan.gov/whit-
mer/0,9309,7-387-90499_90640-530119--,00.html 
(accessed January 19, 2021).

44. Boburg, S., R. O’Harrow, N. Satija, and A. Goldstein. 
2020. Inside the Coronavirus Testing Failure: Alarm 
and Dismay Among the Scientists Who Sought 
to Help. April 3, The Washington Post. Available 
at: https://www.washingtonpost.com/investiga-
tions/2020/04/03/coronavirus-cdc-test-kits-public-
health-labs/?arc404=true (accessed October 29, 
2020).

45. U. S. Food and Drug Administration. 2020. Coro-
navirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Issues New Policy to 
Help Expedite Availability of Diagnostics. Available 
at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-an-
nouncements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-
issues-new-policy-help-expedite-availability-diag-
nostics (accessed October 29, 2020).

46. Seattle Coronavirus Assessment Network. 2020. 
SCAN Technical Report. Available at: https://publi-
chealthinsider.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/
SCAN-Technical-Report-v1-17-APR-2020.pdf (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

47. Miller, T. 2020. Georgia National Guard Assists 
COVID-19 Testing Facilities. Available at: https://
www.defense.gov/Explore/Features/Story/Arti-
cle/2193183/georgia-national-guard-assists-covid-
19-testing-facilities/ (accessed October 29, 2020).

48. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2020. New York 
SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR Diagnostic Panel (Wadsworth). 
Available at: https://www.fda.gov/media/135661/
download (accessed October 29, 2020).

49. Watson, C., A. Cicero, J. Blumenstock, and M. 
Fraser. 2020. A National Plan to Enable Compre-
hensive COVID-19 Case Finding and Contact Trac-
ing in the US. Available at: https://www.center-
forhealthsecurity.org/our-work/pubs_archive/
pubs-pdfs/2020/200410-national-plan-to-contact-
tracing.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

50. Rubin-Miller, L., C. Alba, S. Artiga, and S. Sullivan. 
2020. COVID-19 Racial Disparities in Testing, Infec-
tion, Hospitalization, and Death: Analysis of Epic 
Patient Data. Available at: https://www.kff .org/re-
port-section/covid-19-racial-disparities-in-testing-
infection-hospitalization-and-death-analysis-of-
epic-patient-data-issue-brief/ (accessed October 
29, 2020).

51. Coleman, A. R. 2020. Retail Covid-19 Test-
ing is a Massive Failure for Black Communi-
ties. April 28, Vox. Available at: https://www.vox.
com/2020/4/28/21238423/covid-19-test-cvs-wal-
greens-black-communities (accessed October 29, 
2020).

52. Kim, S. R., M. Vann, L. Bronner, and G. Manthey. 
2020. Which Cities Have The Biggest Racial Gaps In CO-
VID-19 Testing Access? Available at: https://fi vethir-
tyeight.com/features/white-neighborhoods-have-
more-access-to-covid-19-testing-sites/ (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

53. WTCV. 2020. Hamilton Co. Health Dept. to Test for 
Virus at Predominantly Black Churches This Weekend. 
Available at: https://newschannel9.com/news/lo-
cal/hamilton-co-health-dept-to-test-for-virus-at-
predominantly-black-churches-this-weekend (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

54. Simmons-Duffi  n, S. 2020. As States Reopen, Do They 
Have The Workforce They Need To Stop Coronavi-
rus Outbreaks? Available at: https://www.npr.org/
sections/health-shots/2020/06/18/879787448/as-
states-reopen-do-they-have-the-workforce-they-
need-to-stop-coronavirus-outbre (accessed Octo-
ber 29, 2020).

55. Dalton, M. 2020. Contact Tracing, the West’s Big 
Hope for Suppressing Covid-19, Is in Disarray. 
September 17, The Wall Street Journal. Available at: 
https://www.wsj.com/articles/contact-tracing-the-
wests-big-hope-for-suppressing-covid-19-is-in-dis-
array-11600337670 (accessed October 29, 2020).

56. Bebinger, M. 2020. COVID-19 Contact Tracing Has 
Launched In Mass. Here’s How The Eff ort Is Going So 
Far. Available at: https://www.wbur.org/common-
health/2020/04/18/contact-tracing-massachu-
setts-covid19-coronavirus (accessed October 29, 
2020).

57. O’Connell, J. 2020. COVID-19 and Homelessness in 
Boston: Thoughts from the Initial Surge. Available 
from: http://info.primarycare.hms.harvard.edu/
blog/covid-homelessness-boston (accessed Octo-
ber 29, 2020).

58. Baggett, T. P., H. Keyes, N. Sporn, and J. M. Gae-



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 23

ta. 2020. Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 Infection in 
Residents of a Large Homeless Shelter in Boston. 
JAMA 323;21:2191-2192. https://doi.org/10.1001/
jama.2020.6887.

59. Esmonde, K. 2020. For Contact Tracing to Work, Pub-
lic Health Authorities Must Regain the Trust of Black 
Communities. June 23, Vox. Available at: https://
www.vox.com/fi rst-person/2020/6/23/21299241/
contact-tracing-covid-distrust-black-americans 
(accessed October 29, 2020).

60. Steinhauer, J., and A. Goodnough. 2020. Contact 
Tracing Is Failing in Many States. Here’s Why. July 
31, New York Times. Available at: https://www.ny-
times.com/2020/07/31/health/covid-contact-trac-
ing-tests.html (accessed October 29, 2020).

61. UN News. 2020. Press Freedom Critical to Coun-
tering COVID-19 ‘Pandemic of Misinformation’: UN 
Chief. Available at: https://news.un.org/en/sto-
ry/2020/05/1063152 (accessed October 29, 2020).

62. Rogers, K. 2020. How Bad Is The COVID-19 Misin-
formation Epidemic? Available at: https://fi vethir-
tyeight.com/features/how-bad-is-the-covid-
19-misinformation-epidemic/ (accessed October 
29, 2020).

63. Tyson, A. 2020. Republicans Remain Far Less Likely 
Than Democrats to View COVID-19 as a Major Threat 
to Public Health. Available at: https://www.pewre-
search.org/fact-tank/2020/07/22/republicans-re-
main-far-less-likely-than-democrats-to-view-covid-
19-as-a-major-threat-to-public-health/ (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

64. Hamel, L., A. Kearney, A. Kirzinger, L. Lopes, C. 
Muñana, and M. Brodie. 2020. KFF Health Tracking 
Poll - September 2020: Top Issues in 2020 Election, 
The Role of Misinformation, and Views on A Potential 
Coronavirus Vaccine. Available at: https://www.kff .
org/coronavirus-covid-19/report/kff -health-track-
ing-poll-september-2020/ (accessed October 29, 
2020).

65. Gramlich, J., and C. Funk. 2020. Black Ameri-
cans Face Higher COVID-19 Risks, Are More Hesi-
tant to Trust Medical Scientists, Get Vaccinated. 
Available at: https://www.pewresearch.org/
fact-tank/2020/06/04/black-americans-face-high-
er-covid-19-risks-are-more-hesitant-to-trust-med-
ical-scientists-get-vaccinated/ (accessed October 
29, 2020).

66. Washington, J. 2020. New Poll Shows Black Ameri-
cans Put Far Less Trust in Doctors and Hospitals than 
White People. Available at: https://theundefeated.
com/features/new-poll-shows-black-americans-

put-far-less-trust-in-doctors-and-hospitals-than-
white-people/ (accessed on October 29, 2020).

67. Sullivan, T. 2020. 50 State Health Department 
COVID-19 Resources for Patients and Healthcare 
Providers. Policy and Medicine, March 19. Avail-
able at: https://www.policymed.com/2020/03/u-
s-state-health-department-covid-19-resourc-
es-for-patients-and-healthcare-providers.html 
(accessed February 19, 2021). 

68. NCDHHS COVID-19 Response. 2020. Know Your 
Ws: Wear, Wait, Wash. Available at: https://covid19.
ncdhhs.gov/materials-resources/know-your-ws-
wear-wait-wash#:~:text=The%20NC%20Depart-
ment%20of%20Health,the%20spread%20of%20
COVID%2D19.&text=Wear%20a%20cloth%20
mask%20over,Wait%206%20feet%20apart. (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

69. ELGL. 2020. Digital Communications & COVID-19 Re-
sponse in King County, WA. Available at: https://elgl.
org/podcast-digital-communications-covid-19-re-
sponse-in-king-county-wa/ (accessed October 29, 
2020).

70. King County. 2020. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (CO-
VID-19). Available at: https://www.kingcounty.gov/
depts/health/covid-19.aspx (accessed October 29, 
2020).

71. American Medical Association. 2020. COVID-19 
Health Equity Initiatives: Black Arizona COVID-19 Task 
Force. Available at: https://www.ama-assn.org/
delivering-care/population-care/covid-19-health-
equity-initiatives-black-arizona-covid-19-task (ac-
cessed November 19, 2020).

72. Haff ajee, R. L., and M. M. Mello. 2020. Thinking 
Globally, Acting Locally — The U.S. Response to 
Covid-19. New England Journal of Medicine 382:e75. 
https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2006740.

73. Karlawish, J. 2020. A Pandemic Plan Was in Place. 
Trump Abandoned It — And Science — In the 
Face of COVID-19. May 17, STAT News. Available at: 
https://www.statnews.com/2020/05/17/the-art-
of-the-pandemic-how-donald-trump-walked-the-
u-s-into-the-covid-19-era/ (accessed October 29, 
2020).

74. County of Santa Clara Public Health Department. 
2020. Health Offi  cer Order to Shelter in Place. Avail-
able at: https://www.sccgov.org/sites/covid19/
Documents/03-16-20-Health-Officer-Order-to-
Shelter-in-Place.pdf (accessed November 5, 2020).

75. Aragón, T. J., S. H. Cody, C. Farnitano, L. B. Hernan-
dez, S. A. Morrow, E. S. Pan, O. Tzvieli, and M. Willis. 
2021. Crisis Decision-Making at the Speed of CO-



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 24                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

VID-19: Field Report on Issuing the First Regional 
Shelter-in-Place Orders in the United States. Journal 
of Public Health Management & Practice 27:S19-S28. 
https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.0000000000001292.

76. Lucas, Q. D. 2020. Second Amended Order 20-
01. Available at: https://www.kcmo.gov/home/
showdocument?id=4065 (accessed October 29, 
2020).

77. Mecklenburg County. 2020. COVID-19 Stay at 
Home Ordinance 2020. Available at: https://www.
mecknc.gov/news/Documents/Mecklenburg%20
County%20Stay%20at%20Home%20Orders.pdf 
(accessed October 29, 2020).

78. Dineen, J. K., and M. Cassidy. 2020. Coronavi-
rus Creates New Challenges for Bay Area Police, 
Firefi ghters. March 18, San Francisco Chronicle. 
Available at: https://www.sfchronicle.com/crime/
article/Coronavirus-creates-new-challenges-for-
Bay-Area-15141570.php (accessed October 29, 
2020).

79. Kaplan, J., and B. Hardy. 2020. Early Data Shows 
Black People Are Being Disproportionally Arrested 
for Social Distancing Violations. Available at: https://
www.propublica.org/article/in-some-of-ohios-
most-populous-areas-black-people-were-at-least-
4-times-as-likely-to-be-charged-with-stay-at-
home-violations-as-whites (accessed October 29, 
2020).

80. Hsiang, S., D. Allen, S. Annan-Phan, K. Bell, I. Bol-
liger, T. Chong, H. Druckenmiller, L. Y. Huang, 
A. Hultgren, E. Krasovich, P. Lau, J. Lee, E. Rolf, J. 
Tseng, and T. Wu. 2020. The Eff ect of Large-Scale 
Anti-Contagion Policies on the COVID-19 Pandem-
ic. Nature 584:262-267. https://doi.org/10.1038/
s41586-020-2404-8.

81. Lyu, W., and G. L. Wehby. 2020. Community Use Of 
Face Masks And COVID-19: Evidence From A Natu-
ral Experiment Of State Mandates In The US. Health 
Aff airs 39;8:1419-1425. https://doi.org/10.1377/
hlthaff .2020.00818.

82. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
Transcript for CDC Telebriefi ng: CDC Update on Novel 
Coronavirus. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/
media/releases/2020/t0212-cdc-telebriefi ng-tran-
script.html (accessed October 29, 2020).

83. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 
2020. Considerations for Wearing Masks. Available 
at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/
prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.
html?CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.

gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fprevent-
getting-sick%2Fcloth-face-cover.html (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

84. Haslett, C., and A. Flaherty. 2020. Amid Pandemic, 
Confi dence in CDC Erodes with Questions of Po-
litical Interference. Available at: https://abcnews.
go.com/Politics/amid-pandemic-confidence-
cdc-erodes-questions-political-interference/
story?id=73239582 (accessed October 29, 2020).

85. Kaplan, S. 2020. White House Blocked C.D.C. From 
Requiring Masks on Public Transportation. Octo-
ber 9, New York Times. Available at: https://www.ny-
times.com/2020/10/09/health/coronavirus-covid-
masks-cdc.html (accessed October 29, 2020).  

86. Beauvis, S., L. Churchill, K. Collier, V. Davila, and R. 
Larson. 2020. Gov. Greg Abbott is Limiting Enforce-
ment of COVID-19 Orders, But Many Cities Already 
Took a Lax Approach. May 14, Texas Tribune. Avail-
able at: https://www.texastribune.org/2020/05/14/
texas-coronavirus-enforcement/ (accessed Octo-
ber 29, 2020).

87. Williams, J. 2020. No Mask Mandate For Omaha Af-
ter Douglas County And AG’s Offi  ce Disagree On 
Authority. July 31, NET News. Available at: http://
netnebraska.org/article/news/1229386/no-mask-
mandate-omaha-after-douglas-county-and-ags-
offi  ce-disagree-authority (accessed October 29, 
2020).

88. Maani, N., and S. Galea. 2020. COVID-19 and Un-
derinvestment in the Public Health Infrastructure 
of the United States. The Milbank Quarterly, 98. 
https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12463.

89. Maani, N., S. Galea. 2020. COVID-19 and Underin-
vestment in the Health of the US Population. The 
Milbank Quarterly 98. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-
0009.12462.

90. U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2020. Workers Who 
Could Work at Home, Did Work at Home, and Were 
Paid for Work at Home, by Selected Characteristics, 
Averages for the Period 2017-2018. Available at: 
https://www.bls.gov/news.release/flex2.t01.htm 
(accessed October 29, 2020).

91. Cohn, D., and J. S. Passel. 2020. A Record 64 Mil-
lion Americans Live in Multigenerational Households. 
Available: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-
tank/2018/04/05/a-record-64-million-americans-
live-in-multigenerational-households/ (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

92. Oppel, R. A., R. Gebeloff , K. K. R. Lai, W. Wright, and 
M. Smith. 2020. The Fullest Look Yet at the Racial 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 25

Inequity of Coronavirus. July 5, New York Times. 
Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/interac-
tive/2020/07/05/us/coronavirus-latinos-african-
americans-cdc-data.html (accessed October 29, 
2020).

93. County of Fairfax, Virginia. 2020. CARES Act Stimu-
lus Funding Update—September 2020. Available at: 
https://www.fairfaxcounty.gov/budget/sites/bud-
get/fi les/assets/documents/cares/cares-act-stimu-
lus-funding-update-2020-09-11.pdf (accessed Oc-
tober 29, 2020).

94. Dearinger, A. T. 2020. COVID-19 Reveals Emerging 
Opportunities for Rural Public Health. American 
Journal of Public Health 110;9:1277-1278. https://
doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305864.

95. Forgey, Q. 2020. Strategic National Stockpile Descrip-
tion Altered Online After Kushner’s Remarks. Available 
at: https://www.politico.com/news/2020/04/03/
strategic-national-stockpile-description-altered-af-
ter-kushners-remarks-163181 (accessed October 
29, 2020).

96. Subramanian, C. 2020. Coronavirus Creates a 
Bidding War for States Like Illinois. April 18, USA 
Today. Available at: https://eu.usatoday.com/
story/news/politics/2020/04/18/coronavirus-
creates-ppe-bidding-war-states-like-illinois-new-
york/5144652002/ (accessed October 29, 2020).

97. Flynn, M. 2020. Multi-State Nursing Home Opera-
tors Navigate Confl icting COVID-19 Rules. Available 
at: https://skillednursingnews.com/2020/04/multi-
state-nursing-home-operators-navigate-conflict-
ing-covid-19-rules/ (accessed November 5, 2020).

98. Fensterwald, J. 2020. Leading School Superinten-
dents Ask Gov. Newsom to Impose a ‘Common Stan-
dard’ for Reopening Schools in California. Available 
at: https://edsource.org/2020/leading-school-su-
perintendents-ask-gov-newsom-to-impose-a-com-
mon-standard-for-reopening-schools-in-califor-
nia/642847 (accessed November 5, 2020).

99. NACCHO. 2020a. NACCHO’s 2019 Profi le Study: 
Changes in Local Health Department Workforce 
and Finance Capacity Since 2008. Available at: 
https://www.naccho.org/uploads/downloadable-
resources/2019-Profile-Workforce-and-Finance-
Capacity.pdf (accessed January 19, 2021).

100. Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2003. The Future of 
the Public’s Health in the 21st Century. Washington, 
DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.
org/10.17226/10548.

101. Resnick, B. A., J. S. Fisher, I. P. Colrick, and J. P. Leide. 

2017. The Foundational Public Health Services 
as a Framework for Estimating Spending. Ameri-
can Journal of Preventive Medicine, 53;5:646-651. 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.04.015.

102. PHNCI. 2016. Aligning Accreditation and the Foun-
dational Public Health Capabilities. Available at: 
https://www.phaboard.org/wp-content/uploads/
Aligning-Accreditation-and-the-Foundational-
Public-Health-Capabilities-Summer-2016.pdf (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

103. PHNCI. 2020. Building a Strong Foundation of Pub-
lic Health Infrastructure. Available at: https://phnci.
org/national-frameworks/fphs (accessed October 
29, 2020).

104. Galea, S., R. M. Merchant, and N. Lurie. 2020. 
The Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 
and Physical Distancing. JAMA Internal Medicine 
180;6:817-818. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamain-
ternmed.2020.1562.

105. Haley, D. F., and R. Saitz. 2020. The Opioid Epidemic 
During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA 324;16:1615-
1617. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.18543.

106. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. 
2020. HHS Announces CARES Act Funding Distribution 
to States and Localities in Support of COVID-19 Re-
sponse. Available at: https://www.hhs.gov/about/
news/2020/04/23/hhs-announces-cares-act-fund-
ing-distribution-to-states-and-localities-in-sup-
port-of-covid-19-response.html (accessed October 
29, 2020).

107. Torralba, E. 2020. COVID-19 Exposes How Native Ha-
waiians and Pacifi c Islanders Face Stark Health Care 
Disparities. Available at: https://newsroom.ucla.
edu/stories/covid-19-stark-diff erences-NHPI  (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

108. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 
2020. COVID-19 Hospitalization and Death by 
Race/Ethnicity. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/
coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-
discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.
html (accessed on October 29, 2020).

109. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020. 
Health Disparities: Race and Hispanic Origin. Avail-
able at: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/co-
vid19/health_disparities.htm  (accessed October 
29, 2020).

110. Chang, R. C., C. Penaia, and K. Thomas. 2020. 
Count Native Hawaiian And Pacifi c Islanders In 
COVID-19 Data—It’s An OMB Mandate. Health Af-
fairs Blog. Available at: https://www.healthaff airs.



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 26                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

org/do/10.1377/hblog20200825.671245/full/ (ac-
cessed March 1, 2021).

111. Hong, C. P. 2020. The Slur I Never Expected to 
Hear in 2020. April 12, New York Times. Available at: 
https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/12/magazine/
asian-american-discrimination-coronavirus.html 
(accessed October 29, 2020).

112. Yan, B. W., F. Ng, J. Chu, J. Tsoh, and T. Nguyen. 
2020. Asian Americans Facing High COVID-19 Case 
Fatality. Health Aff airs Blog. https://doi.org/10.1377/
hblog20200708.894552.

113. GovDelivery. 2020. Michigan Closing the CO-
VID-19 Racial Disparities Gap. Available at: 
https://content.govdelivery.com/attachments/
MIEOG/2020/09/28/file_attachments/1556754/
MI%20Closing%20COVID-19%20Racial%20Dispari-
ties%20Gap.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

114. Illinois Department of Health. 2020. COVID-19 
Health Equity Task Force. Available at: http://dph.
illinois.gov/health-equity-task-force/covid-19 (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

115. Offi  ce of the Governor. 2020. Gov. Edwards An-
nounces Co-Chairs, Members of COVID-19 Health 
Equity Task Force and Subcommittees. Available at: 
https://gov.louisiana.gov/index.cfm/newsroom/
detail/2469 (accessed October 29, 2020).

116. American Medical Association. 2020. COVID-19 
Health Equity Initiatives: Chicago Racial Equity Rapid 
Response Team. Available at: https://www.ama-
assn.org/delivering-care/health-equity/covid-
19-health-equity-initiatives-chicago-racial-equity-
rapid (accessed October 29, 2020).

117. PrepareSTL. 2020. Home. Available at: https://www.
preparestl.com/ (accessed November 5, 2020).

118. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. 
2020. HHS Announces New Laboratory Data Report-
ing Guidance for COVID-19 Testing. Available at: 
https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/06/04/
hhs-announces-new-laboratory-data-reporting-
guidance-for-covid-19-testing.html  (accessed Oc-
tober 29, 2020).

119. National Indian Health Board. 2020. Summa-
ry of COVID-19 Survey Responses. Available at: 
https://www.nihb.org/docs/03172020/NIHB%20
COVID%20data%20summary_3.17.2020.pdf  (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

120. Hatcher, S. M., C. Agnew-Brune, M. Anderson, L. D. 
Zambrano, C. E. Rose, M. A. Jim, A. Baugher, G. S. 
Liu, S. V. Patel, M. E. Evans, T. Pindyck, C. L. Du-
bray, J. J. Rainey, J. Chen, C. Sadowski, K. Winglee, 

A. Penman-Aguilar, A. Dixit,  E. Claw, C. Parshall, 
E. Provost, A. Ayala, G. Gonzalez, J. Ritchey, J. Da-
vis, V. Warren-Mears, S. Joshi, T. Weiser, A. Echo-
Hawk, A. Dominguez, A. Poel, C. Duke, I. Ransby, 
A. Apostolou, and J. McCollum. 2020. COVID-19 
Among American Indian and Alaska Native Per-
sons — 23 States, January 31–July 3, 2020. MMWR 
69;34:1169-1169. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/
mmwr.mm6934e1.

121. Wade, L. 2020. COVID-19 Data on Native Americans 
is ‘a National Disgrace.’ This Scientist is Fighting to be 
Counted. Available at: https://www.sciencemag.
org/news/2020/09/covid-19-data-native-ameri-
cans-national-disgrace-scientist-fi ghting-be-count-
ed  (accessed October 29, 2020).

122. Close the Water Gap. 2020. Closing the Water Ac-
cess Gap in the United States: A National Action 
Plan. Available at: http://closethewatergap.org/
wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Dig-Deep_Closing-
the-Water-Access-Gap-in-the-United-States_DIGI-
TAL_compressed.pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

123. Schulz, H. A. 2020. Native American Communi-
ties and COVID-19: How Foundations Can Help. 
Health Aff airs Blog. https://doi.org/10.1377/
hblog20200331.659944.

124. Kuehn, B. M. 2020. Homeless Shelters Face High 
COVID-19 Risks. JAMA 323;22:2240. https://doi.
org/10.1001/jama.2020.8854.

125. Saloner, B., K. Parish, J. A. Ward, G. DiLaura, and 
S. Dolovich. 2020. COVID-19 Cases and Deaths in 
Federal and State Prisons. JAMA 324;6:602-603. 
https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.12528.

126. Galea, S., and S. M. Abdalla. 2020. COVID-19 
Pandemic, Unemployment, and Civil Unrest. 
JAMA 324;3:227-228. https://doi.org/10.1001/
jama.2020.11132.

127. Offi  ce of the Assistant Secretary for Health. 2016. 
Public Health 3.0: A Call to Action to Create a 21st 
Century Public Health Infrastructure. Available at: 
https://www.healthypeople.gov/sites/default/
fi les/Public-Health-3.0-White-Paper.pdf  (accessed 
October 29, 2020).

128. Barry-Jester, A. M., H. Recht, M. R. Smith, and L. 
Weber. 2020. Pandemic Backlash Jeopardizes 
Public Health Powers, Leaders. December 11, AP 
News. Available at: https://apnews.com/article/
pandemics-public-health-michael-brown-kansas-
coronavirus-pandemic-5aa548a2e5b46f38fb-
1b884554acf590 (accessed January 19, 2021).

129. Munz, M. 2020. Health Department Directors 



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 27

Across Missouri have Left Jobs, Face Threats and 
Harassment. October 30, St. Louis Post-Dispatch. 
Available at: https://www.stltoday.com/lifestyles/
health-med-fit/coronavirus/health-department-
directors-across-missouri-have-left-jobs-face-
threats-and-harassment/article_fa61a8fb-80dc-
55f0-90fa-5a226c054667.html  (accessed 
November 5, 2020).

130. Mello, M. M., J. A. Greene, and J. M. Sharfstein. 
2020. Attacks on Public Health Offi  cials Dur-
ing COVID-19. JAMA 324;8:741-742. https://doi.
org/10.1001/jama.2020.14423.

131. Stone, W. 2020. Local Public Health Workers Report 
Hostile Threats and Fears About Contact Tracing. 
Available at: https://www.npr.org/sections/health-
shots/2020/06/03/868566600/local-public-health-
workers-report-hostile-threats-and-fears-about-
contact-traci (accessed October 29, 2020).

132. Infectious Disease Society of America. 2020. Con-
tact Tracing Program In New Jersey City Off ers Cost-
Eff ective Model For COVID-19. Available at: https://
www.idsociety.org/news--publications-new/arti-
cles/2020/contact-tracing-program-in-new-jersey-
city-off ers-cost-eff ective-model-for-covid-19/ (ac-
cessed November 5, 2020).

133. Monica, K. 2020. AHA Opposes Key Information 
Blocking Regulation in CMS Proposed Rule. Available 
at: https://ehrintelligence.com/news/aha-oppos-
es-key-information-blocking-regulation-in-cms-
proposed-rule (accessed October 29, 2020).

134. Maxmen, A. 2020. Why the United States is Having a 
Coronavirus Data Crisis. Available at: https://www.
nature.com/articles/d41586-020-02478-z (ac-
cessed October 29, 2020).

135. Bassett, M. T., J. T. Chen, and N. Krieger. 2020. Vari-
ation in Racial/Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Mor-
tality by Age in the United States: A Cross-Sectional 
Study. PLOS Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1371/jour-
nal.pmed.1003402.

136. Krieger, N., G. Gonsalves, M. T. Bassett, W. Han-
age and H. M. Krumholz. 2020. The Fierce Urgency 
Of Now: Closing Glaring Gaps In US Surveillance 
Data On COVID-19. Health Aff airs Blog. https://doi.
org/10.1377/hblog20200414.238084.

137. New York City. 2020. Percent of Patients Testing Posi-
tive for COVID-19 by ZIP Code in New York City. Avail-
able at: https://www1.nyc.gov/assets/doh/down-
loads/pdf/imm/covid-19-data-map-04132020-1.
pdf (accessed October 29, 2020).

138. Shafer, S. 2020. California Coronavirus Test-

ing Problem Prompts Resignation Of Public 
Health Offi  cial. Available at: https://www.npr.
org/2020/08/10/901064484/california-coronavi-
rus-testing-problem-prompts-resignation-of-pub-
lic-health-offi   (accessed October 30, 2020).

139. Goldberg, D. 2020. Testing Mess Leaves Texas in the 
Dark as Cases Spike. Available at: https://www.po-
litico.com/news/2020/08/13/texas-coronavirus-
testing-mess-cases-spike-395079 (accessed Octo-
ber 30, 2020).

140. CSTE. 2019. Driving Public Health in the Fast Lane: 
The Urgent Need for a 21st Century Data Superhigh-
way. Available at: https://resources.cste.org/data-
superhighway/mobile/index.html (accessed Octo-
ber 30, 2020).

141. Castrucci, B. C., R. J. Katz, and N. Kendall-Taylor. 
2020. Misunderstood: How Public Health’s Inability 
To Communicate Keeps Communities Unhealthy. 
Health Aff airs Blog. https://doi.org/10.1377/
hblog20201006.514216.

142. Challenge Seattle. 2020. Our Work: COVID-19. Avail-
able at: https://www.challengeseattle.com/cov-
id-19 (accessed October 30, 2020).

143. Public Health Reaching Across Sectors. 2020. 
PHRASES: Changing the Terms of Engagement. Avail-
able at: https://www.phrases.org/ (accessed No-
vember 5, 2020).

144. DeSalvo, K., A. Parekh, G. W. Hoagland, A. Dilley, 
S. Kaiman, M. Hines, and J. Levi. 2019. Develop-
ing a Financing System to Support Public Health 
Infrastructure. American Journal of Public Health 
109;10:1358-1361. https://doi.org/10.2105/
AJPH.2019.305214.

145. Butler, S. M., T. Higashi, and M. Cabello. 2020. Bud-
geting to Promote Social Objectives—A Primer on 
Braiding and Blending. Available at: https://www.
brookings.edu/research/budgeting-to-promote-
social-objectives-a-primer-on-braiding-and-blend-
ing/ (accessed October 30, 2020).

146. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018. 
Public Health Law. Available at: https://www.cdc.
gov/phlp/index.html  (accessed October 30, 2020).

147. Allegheny County Health Department. 2019. Live 
Well Allegheny. Available at: http://www.livewel-
lallegheny.com/about-us/ (accessed January 28, 
2021).

148. Offi  ce of Local and Regional Health. 2021. Public 
Health Shared Services. Available at: https://www.
mass.gov/service-details/public-health-shared-
services (accessed January 28, 2021).



DISCUSSION PAPER

Page 28                                                                 Published April 7, 2021

149. Mervosh, S. 2021. How West Virginia Became 
a U.S. Leader in Vaccine Rollout. January 24, The 
New York Times. Available at: https://www.nytimes.
com/2021/01/24/us/west-virginia-vaccine.html 
(accessed January 28, 2021).

150. De Beaumont Foundation. 2019. 2017 National 
Findings: Public Health Workforce Interests and Needs 
Survey. Available at: https://www.debeaumont.
org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/PH-WINS-2017.
pdf  (accessed October 30, 2020).

151. Sellers, K., and R. H. Bork. 2020. Seeing the Bigger 
Picture of Public Health Workforce Challenges. Avail-
able at: https://www.debeaumont.org/news/2020/
seeing-the-bigger-picture-of-public-health-work-
force-challenges/ (accessed October 30, 2020).

152. DeSalvo, K. B., Y. C. Wang, A. Harris, J. Auerbach, D. 
Koo, and P. O’Carroll. 2017. Public Health 3.0: A Call 
to Action for Public Health to Meet the Challenges 
of the 21st Century. Preventing Chronic Disease 
14:170017. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/
pcd14.170017.

153. DeSalvo, K. B. 2017. Prepare and Support Our Chief 
Health Strategists on the Frontlines. American Jour-
nal of Public Health 107;8:1205-1206. https://doi.
org/10.2105/AJPH.2017.303912.

154. Boston Public Health Commission. 2019. 2019-
2021 Strategic Plan. Available at: https://bphc.org/
onlinenewsroom/Documents/BPHC%20Strate-
gic%20Plan%202019-2022%20(Final%20for%20
Web).pdf (accessed February 19, 2021). 

155. Robin, N., B. C. Castrucci, M. D. McGinty, A. Edm-
iston, and K. Bogaert. 2019. The First Nationally 
Representative Benchmark of the Local Govern-
mental Public Health Workforce: Findings From 
the 2017 Public Health Workforce Interests and 
Needs Survey. Journal of Public Health Management 
& Practice 25;2:S26-S37. https://doi.org/10.1097/
PHH.0000000000000939.

156. Blue Shield of California. 2020. Blue Shield of Cali-
fornia and mySidewalk Unveil Innovative “Neighbor-
hood Health Dashboard” To Help Improve Communi-
ty Health Across the State. Available at: https://news.
blueshieldca.com/2020/09/02/blue-shield-of-cal-
ifornia-and-mysidewalk-unveil-innovative-neigh-
borhood-health-dashboard-to-help-improve-
community-health-across-the-state (accessed on 
October 30, 2020).

157. SHADAC. 2020. An Updated Brief Examines State 
Health Compare Estimates on State Funding for Pub-
lic Health. Available at: https://www.shadac.org/

news/updated-brief-examines-state-health-com-
pare-estimates-state-funding-public-health (ac-
cessed on October 29, 2020). 

DOI

https://doi.org/10.31478/202104c

Suggested Citation

DeSalvo, K., B. Hughes, M. Bassett, G. Benjamin, M. 
Fraser, S. Galea, N. Garcia, and J. Howard. 2021. Public 
Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned
and Compelling Needs. NAM Perspectives. Discussion 
Paper, National Academy of Medicine, Washington, DC.  
https://doi.org/10.31478/202104c

Author Information
Karen DeSalvo, MD, MPH, MSc is adjunct Professor of 
Medicine and Population Health at Dell Medical School, 
The University of Texas at Austin and former Acting As-
sistant Secretary for Health and National Coordinator 
for Health Information Technology. Bob Hughes, PhD 
is President and CEO at the Missouri Foundation for 
Health. Mary Bassett, MD, MPH is Director of the FXB 
Center for Health and Human Rights at Harvard Uni-
versity. Georges Benjamin, MD is Executive Director 
of the American Public Health Association. Michael 
Fraser, PhD, CAE is CEO of the Association of State 
and Territorial Health Offi  cials. Sandro Galea, MD, 
MPH, DrPH is Professor and Dean at Boston University 
School of Public Health. J. Nadine Gracia, MD, MSCE is 
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Offi  cer at 
Trust for America’s Health. Jeff rey Howard, MD, MBA, 
MPH is a former White House fellow and former Public 
Health Commissioner for Kentucky.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Lori Freeman, National 
Association of County and City Health Offi  cials; Nirav 
Shah, Stanford University; Chrissie Juliano, Big Cities 
Health Coalition; José Montero, Center for State, Tribal, 
Local, and Territorial Support, Centers for Disease 
Control and Prevention; and F. DuBois Bowman, 
University of Michigan School of Public Health for their 
valuable contributions to this paper. 

The authors would also like to thank Jennifer Lee 
and Kushal Kadakia from the National Academy 
of Medicine and Katherine Fritz from the Missouri 
Foundation for Health for their valuable support.



Public Health COVID-19 Impact Assessment: Lessons Learned and Compelling Needs

NAM.edu/Perspectives Page 29

Confl ict-of-Interest Disclosures

None to disclose.

Correspondence

Questions or comments about this paper should be di-
rected to namleadershipconsortium@nas.edu.

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this paper are those of 
the authors and not necessarily of the authors’ 
organizations, the National Academy of Medicine 
(NAM), or the National Academies of Sciences, 
Engineering, and Medicine (the National Academies). 
The paper is intended to help inform and stimulate 
discussion. It is not a report of the NAM or the National 
Academies. Copyright by the National Academy of 
Sciences. All rights reserved.



RESEARCH BRIEF  I  OCTOBER 2021

STAFFING UP
Workforce Levels Needed to Provide Basic 
Public Health Services for All Americans

Despite the critical role that state and local 
governmental public health departments 
play in ensuring the safety, security, and 
prosperity of local communities, they have 
been consistently underfunded. 
Budget and staffing cuts have weakened the nation’s collective 
health and increased its vulnerability to emerging infectious 
disease and unchecked chronic disease. In the past decade, state 
and local health departments lost 15 percent of their essential 
staff. These cuts have limited the ability of health departments 
to plan for and respond to emergencies like the COVID-19 
pandemic and to meet the daily needs of their communities.

Americans count on public health departments to prevent 
disease outbreaks and injury, monitor health status, provide 
scientific expertise, and respond to crises of increasing 
magnitude and frequency, and they deserve a public health 
system that is sufficiently resourced to protect and promote the 
health of all Americans. Even though funds have been allocated 
for the response to the pandemic, this short-term investment 
does not sufficiently address our weakened infrastructure. 
To advance a thoughtful reinvestment in public health, the de 
Beaumont Foundation and the Public Health National Center for 
Innovations conducted a first-of-its-kind analysis to estimate the 
number of state and local public health department staff needed 
to deliver basic, everyday services adequately and equitably. 

Based on this analysis, state and local health departments 
need to hire a minimum of 80,000 more full-time equivalent 
positions (FTEs) — an increase of nearly 80% — to provide 
adequate infrastructure and a minimum package of public 
health services. (See Figure 1.) This increase in staffing would 
provide the infrastructure needed upon which additional staff 
could be added to provide more comprehensive services to 
respond to emergencies.

Based on existing shortages, approximately 54,000 of 
these additional FTEs should be deployed to local health 
departments and 26,000 to state health departments.  
(See Figures 2 and 3.)  

State and local 

governmental public 

health departments  

need an 80% increase  

in their workforce  

to provide a minimum 

set of public health 

services to the nation. 



1         DE BEAUMONT FOUNDATION  I  PHNCI

While all state and local departments need additional FTEs, the most acute needs are in local health 
departments that serve fewer than 100,000 people.

Note: The estimates presented in this brief encompass only the minimum number of FTEs needed for the 
development of infrastructure and provision of minimum services. They do not account for additional FTEs that 
may be temporarily required to respond to the extensive needs of pandemics or other new challenges. 

Figure 1: New FTEs Needed by Population Served

Current FTEs for 
basic foundational 
public health services

Total FTEs 
needed for 
full implementation 

Additional FTEs 
needed for full 
implementation

Percentage 
change 
needed

<25,000 4,000  13,000  +9,000 230%

25,000-49,999 5,500  13,000  +7,500 140%

50,000-99,999 7,000  15,000  +8,000 110%

100,000-199,999 8,500  14,500  +6,000 70%

200,000-499,999 14,000  20,000  +6,000 40%

500,000+ 33,500  51,000  +17,500 50%

Local Health 
Departments

72,500  126,500  +54,000 70%

 
State Health 
Departments

31,000  57,000  +26,000 80%

Total 103,500  183,500  +80,000 80%

0

20,000

State Departments Local Departments

31,000

72,500

57,000

126,500

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

+80%

+70%

Current Needed

Figure 2: Current and Needed FTEs for State and 
Local Health Departments

Note: Estimates are rounded to the nearest 500 FTEs and the nearest 10% change.



2         DE BEAUMONT FOUNDATION  I  PHNCI

Figure 3: Number of Foundational FTEs (Current vs. Needed)

The 80,000 FTEs would need to represent differing levels and types of expertise. Of those positions dedicated 
to infrastructure, one quarter of the needed FTEs should be dedicated to assessment. Among foundational 
areas, chronic disease and injury prevention are in greatest need of additional FTEs. (See Figure 4.)

Figure 4: New FTEs Needed by Category

  Local State Total
Infrastructure
Assessment 4,500 4,500 9,000
All Hazards 3,000 2,000 5,000
Other Foundational Capabilities 17,500 8,000 25,500
Foundational Areas
Chronic Disease and Injury 8,000 5,000 13,000
Communicable Disease 4,500 1,500 6,000
Environmental Health 7,500 2,000 9,500
Maternal and Child Health 5,500 1,000 6,500
Access/Linkage to Care 3,500 1,000 4,500
Total 54,000 26,000 80,000

-10,000

0

<25,000

25,000-4
9,999

50,000-9
9,999

10
0,000-19

9,999

200,000-4
99,999

500,000+

4,000 5,500
7,000 8,500

14,000

33,500

13,000 13,000 15,000 14,500

20,000

51,000

10,000

30,000

20,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Current Needed



STAFFING UP RESEARCH BRIEF         3

PROCESS AND METHODS

The de Beaumont Foundation and the Public Health National 
Center for Innovations at the Public Health Accreditation 
Board conducted this analysis, guided by a team of experts 
in methodology and the public health workforce, a Research 
Advisory Committee of public health scholars and data 
experts, and a Steering Committee composed of national 
leaders in public health policy and practice.

The national estimates were generated from data collected 
from nearly 170 local health departments in four states 
(Colorado, Ohio, Oregon, and Washington) and three state 
health departments. These states underwent extensive 
exercises to cost out their current implementation of baseline 
services, understand what full implementation would cost, 
and identify the gap (i.e., the dollars and staff needed to move 
from current to full implementation). As a result, these states 
provided the best available data about what infrastructure 
health departments need to serve communities.

Researchers extrapolated findings from these  
173 health departments to the nation’s 2,450 local health 
departments by creating models for the key activities that 
all health departments should be able to implement, based 
primarily on population size. 

These estimates are calculated based on data from state and 
local health departments prior to COVID-19. They are also 
not representative of workforce needs for U.S. territories and 
freely associated states or Tribal Nations. To better ascertain 
workforce needs for these entities, collaboration with them 
should be undertaken, and data should be collected relevant to 
their needs and desires around public health service provision.

The estimates represent the minimum number of FTEs 
needed by state and local health departments to provide 
basic foundational public health services to all communities 
represented by the Foundational Public Health Services.  
As shown in Figure 5, the Foundational Public Health Services 
consist of:

• Seven “foundational capabilities,” which are the cross-
cutting skills and capacities needed to support basic public 
health protections and other programs; and

• Five “foundational areas,” which are topic-specific 
programs aimed at improving the health of the community 
affected by certain diseases or public health threats.

Figure 5: The Foundational Capabilities and Areas of Public Health

The full methodological report is available at www.staffingup.org

http://www.staffingup.org


4         DE BEAUMONT FOUNDATION  I  PHNCI

STEERING COMMITTEE ORGANIZATIONS

Members

American Public Health Association 

Association of Public Health Laboratories 

Association of Schools and Programs of Public Health 

Association of State and Territorial Health Officials 

Big Cities Health Coalition

Black Hawk County Public Health 

City of Longview Environmental Health Department 

Colorado School of Public Health, Anschutz Medical Campus  

Columbus Public Health 

Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists 

de Beaumont Foundation

Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians 

Los Angeles County Department of Public Health 

Louisiana Department of Health 

Minnesota Department of Health 

National Association of Community Health Workers 

National Association of County and City Health Officials

National Board of Public Health Examiners 

National Indian Health Board

Public Health Accreditation Board

Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health 

Society for Public Health Education 

Trust for America’s Health 

University of Washington, School of Medicine

Washington State Department of Health 

Ex-Officio Members

Center for State, Tribal, Local, and Territorial Support  
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Division of Scientific Education and Professional 
Development, Center for Surveillance, Epidemiology,  
and Laboratory Services, Centers for Disease Control  
and Prevention 

Liaison Member

Office of Strategy, Programs, and Partnerships,  
Bureau of Health Workforce Health Resources  
and Services Administration

RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Angela Beck, University of Michigan School of Public Health

Betty Bekemeier, University of Washington School of Nursing

Paul Erwin, University of Alabama at Birmingham School of 
Public Health

Bianca Frogner, University of Washington, School of Medicine

Glen Mays, Colorado School of Public Health, Anschutz 
Medical Campus 

Mike Meit, NORC at the University of Chicago

Jean Moore, State University of New York at Albany School  
of Public Health

Jessica Owens-Young, American University

Beth Resnick, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School  
of Public Health

Gulzar Shah, Georgia Southern University



debeaumont.org   |   phnci.org

https://debeaumont.org/
https://phnci.org/

	_Strategic Planning Meeting Agenda
	3. Introductions, Meeting Outcomes, Discussion Flow, Ground Rules, History of StrategicPlan Development, and Recap Core Purpose and Strategic Direction.
	4. Strategic Planning Priorities and Goals Presentation and Discussion
	WCHD Retreat
	Strategic Plan 
	WCHD Summary of Input
	Bipartisan Policy Center Report
	COVID19 Impact Assessment
	Staffing-Up

	5. Strategic Planning Financial Presentation and Discussion
	6. Board discussion and possible direction regarding Strategic Priorities, and Goals andFY23 Budget


